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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
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(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
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OR
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ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period from to
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ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.
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Delaware 27-1488943
(State of incorporation) (IRS Employer Identification No.)
6275 Nancy Ridge Drive, Suite 11
San Diego, CA 92121
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codeB58-224-1000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of Each Clas: Name of Each Exchange on which Register
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per shai NYSE MKT

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) t¢fie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405cdb#cturities Act.  Yed No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lsstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ab site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRiie 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedigrbnths (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post §ilet). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgeléfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 11l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @aocelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchangg. A

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel
Non-accelerated file O Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). YesO No

The aggregate market value of the voting commocksteld by noraffiliates based on the closing stock price on &apier 30, 2013, tf
last trading day of the registrant’s second fisgadrter, was $394,475,790. For purposes of thigpatation only, all executive officers,
directors and 10% or greater stockholders have Heemed affiliates.

The number of outstanding shares of the regi¢s common stock, as of June 6, 2014 was 78,276
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Important Information Regarding Forward-Looking Sta tements

Portions of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (indhglinformation incorporated by reference) incldttgward-looking statements” based on
our current beliefs, expectations and projecti@garding our technology, our product developmepbaoinities and timelines, our business
strategies, the market potential of our technolagg products, our future capital requirements foture financial performance and other
matters. This includes, in particular, “ltem 1 —dhess” and “ltem 7 — Management’s Discussion andlysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” of this Annual Report onrRdr0-K as well as other portions of this Annual B#pn Form 10-K. The words “believe,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “project,” “could,” “would, and similar expressions, among others, geneiddlgtify “forward-looking statements”,
which speak only as of the date the statements meacde. The matters discussed in these forward#dgaktiatements are subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors that could causectual results to differ materially from thosejected, anticipated or implied in the forward-
looking statements. As a result, you should notglandue reliance on any forward-looking statemdrie most significant of these risks,
uncertainties and other factors are describedténil1A — Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Rot0-K. Except to the limited extent
required by applicable law, we undertake no obiigato update or revise any forward-looking statetegwhether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
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PART |

Iltem 1. Business.
Overview

We are a development-stage company focused onafgrngland commercializing functional human tissiled can be employed in drug
discovery and development, biological research,amtherapeutic implants for the treatment of dadag degenerating tissues and organs.
We intend to introduce a paradigm shift in the apph to the generation of three-dimensional hunsanés, by utilizing our proprietary
platform technology to create human tissue con&trimc3D that mimic native human tissue compositiod architecture. We believe we will
improve the current industry standard cell-basqd@gches to drug discovery and development byioge8D tissues constructed solely of
human cells. We believe our foundational approadhé 3D printing of living tissues, as disclosegeer-reviewed scientific publications, and
the continuous evolution of our core bioengineetawhnology platform combine to provide us with dpgortunity to fill many critical gaps in
commercially available preclinical human tissue elod) and tissue transplantation.

Our foundational proprietary technology derivesrireesearch led by Dr. Gabor Forgacs, the Georgérteyard Professor of Biological
Physics at the University of Missouri-Columbia. Wave a broad portfolio of intellectual propertyhig covering the principles, enabling
instrumentation, applications, and methods of baled printing, including exclusive licenses tdaiarpatented and patent pending
technologies from the University of Missouri-Coluialand Clemson University, and outright ownersHipatents and pending patent
applications. We believe that our broad and exetisbmmercial rights to patented and patent-pen8ihgioprinting technology, 3D tissues
and applications provides us with a strong andragiide market position for the successful commémrzion of 3D bioprinted human tissues
serving a broad array of unmet preclinical andictihneeds.

We believe we have the potential to build and na&iné sustainable business by leveraging our emtenblogy platform across a variety of
applications. We have entered into multiple collaltioe research agreements with pharmaceuticabcatipns and academic medical centers.
We have also secured federal grants, including [SBuginess Innovation Research grants, to suppertievelopment of our technology. We
developed the NovoGen MMX Bioprinter™ (our firstrggation 3D bioprinter) less than two years afmnmencing operations. We were
selected by MIT’s Technology Review magazine amitiegMost Innovative Companies of 2012 and by Inagikine as one of the Most
Audacious Companies in 2013. We believe these catpachievements provide strong validation fordbkmercial potential of our 3D
bioprinting technology.

Our Platform Technology

Our platform technology is centered on multiple l8Dprinting technologies, which we have utilizeddevelop our proprietary instrument
platform, our NovoGen Bioprintefs. Our 3D bioprinting technologies enable a wideawf tissue compositions and architectures to be
created, using combinations of cellular ‘bio-inku{lding blocks comprised of cells), and hydrogekey distinguishing feature of our
bioprinting platform is the ability to generatedbrdimensional constructs that have all or sonteef components comprised entirely of cells.
Prior to the invention of the NovoGen bioprintiniggiorm, the most common fabrication method foethdimensional tissues was the use of
biomaterial scaffolding into which cells were inporated. While useful for some applications, sddffiased engineered tissues lack featur
native tissue that are critical to function suclidasse cellularity wherein cells have intimate achtvith neighboring cells, and an intricate
architecture created by the spatial arrangemesp@dific cellular compartments relative to eactent®rganovo’s 3D bioprinting platform can
deliver tissues that are truly three-dimensionghule cellularity and architecture of native tissMoreover, most tissues can be generated
using human cells as inputs, yielding functionabels of human tissue that can be uisedtro for drug discovery and development. In the
future, complex bioprinted human tissues may atkbyess unmet clinical needs by serving as tissafésgior the augmentation or replacement
of functional mass in tissues and organs that kastined significant damage by trauma or disease.

2



Table of Contents

We are focused on developing the following products

A suite of standardized, three-dimensional hutigsues for the preclinical assessment of driert, including applications in
predictive toxicology, absorption, distribution, talkolism, excretion (ADME), and drug metabolism ghadrmacokinetics
(DMPK).

Highly customized human tissues as living, dgitamodels of human biology or disease, for usdrirg discovery and
development

Three-dimensional human tissues for clinicadligations, such as blood vessels for bypass gmftierve grafts for nerve damage
repair and functional tissue patches for the repareplacement of damaged tissues and or¢

Our Market Opportunity

We believe that our proprietary 3D bioprinting fidamn enables us to deliver highly unique functionainan tissues to the drug discovery and
development market and to multiple clinical markets

1)

Standardized, Normal 3D Human Tissues for Predictig Toxicology and Preclinical TestingWe believe that our NovoGen
Bioprinter® delivers highly differentiated 3D tissues for usessays aimed at predicting human clinical outso@ar products in
this area may replace or complement traditionat2Dculture based cell assays, or cellular cowralsystems. Because our 3D
tissues are human and reproduce many aspeityivbtissue architecture and function, we believe thay provide advantages
over non-human animal models with respect to ptiestiof in vivohuman outcomes. Bioprinted 3D human tissue produeatsbe
provided to the market as kits that are sold bgrudistributed by a partner. Additionally, our tissproducts may be marketed as a
compound screening service, for customers who pteferovide their compounds to a testing labosatbat will conduct short- or
long-term tests involving the exposure of our biefad 3D human tissues to their compound(s) andigirey them with results and
samples. The compound screening service may beaictaalby us or may be offered by one or more pesfrseich as contract
research organizations (CRC

Our 3D tissue products are anticipated to be coimlpatith a broad range dafi vitro preclinical tests, including assessments of
absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion (MB), drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics (DMPK)Y #oxicology studies.
ADME testing is used to determine which factorsamde or inhibit how a potential drug compound readhe blood stream.
Distribution of a compound can be affected by higdio plasma proteins; age, genetics, and oth&sriacan influence metabolism
of a compound; and the presence of certain disggates can have effects on excretion of a compddady companies perform
ADME studies utilizing various cell-based assayswtomated bioanalytical techniques. DMPK testig subset of ADME.
Determining the DMPK properties of a drug helpsdhgg developer to better predict its safety arfidady. Toxicology testing is a
further requirement to determine the detrimentidat$ of a particular drug on specific tissuesdRuts in the ADME, DMPK, and
toxicology space may replace or complement tradti@ell based assays that typically employ prinfepatocytes, intestinal cell
lines, renal epithelial cells and cell lines groinrraditional two-dimensional formats. Becausel@Bprinted tissues share more
features with native tissue vivothan standard 2D cell cultures, and they persistftended time periods vitro (>40 days), we
believe they can provide highly differentiated aadliable outcomes and give clients “human prediniata” with greater depth
and accuracy than has previously been possible.

Additional opportunities in this area include tlesting of environmental toxins and cosmetic prosloct living human tissues. Due
to ethical concerns and regulatory consideratitirese is a growing market opportunity for the us8 human tissue models as
alternatives to non-human animal studies. For exanmpman skin models have substantial potentialevas a means to test the
effects of candidate cosmetic products prior to m@ntialization. We have established a collaboratgearch program in this field
with the intention of developing products and segsifor this type of testing. In
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addition, many of the standard tissue models d@eglavithin this aspect of our business may be is@dsess the potential human
health impacts and toxicological properties ofrgéanumber of chemical products, environmentalitexor biowarfare agents.

2) Specialized 3D Tissue Models for Drug Discovery andevelopment:The NovoGen bioprinting platform, comprised of
multicellular inputs (“bio-ink”) and a family of bprinters with unique capabilities, can producehhigpecialized human tissues
that model physiology or disease. We have usedioprinting platform to create a wide array of humtissues, including blood
vessels, liver tissues, lung tissues, and breasirttissues. 3D bioprinted tissues possess unipteares, including cell typspecific
compartments, prevalent intercellular tight junaipand microvascular structures. These featuodgdte the development of
complex, multicellular disease models for use mdevelopment of targeted therapeutics for cardiowar disease, lung disease,
liver disease, and kidney disease. Market oppdiagnivithin this aspect of our business may inclegternally-partnered or
internally-directed drug discovery and the clinidavelopment and commercialization of new molecefdities using highly
customized 3D tissue mode

3) Implantable 3D Tissues for Therapeutic UseCell- and tissue-based therapeutic products havaragd through research and
development via multiple strategic approaches, wittient clinical efforts in the field focused orstemic or localized delivery of
cell suspensions or surgical installation of corabion products that consist of a predominant biematcomponent and cellular
component(s). The architectural precision and filigiy of our bioprinting platform may facilitatde prototyping, optimization,
development, and clinical use of three-dimensidisalie constructs. Importantly, our platform enalalk or part of a three-
dimensional tissue to be generated without depareden scaffolding or biomaterial components, usinly living cells as raw
materials. The ultimate goal is to construct swalijamplantable tissues that restore significamtdtional mass to a damaged tissue
or organ after delivery. It is our belief that,nrost cases, whole organ replacement will not baired to achieve meaningful
clinical outcomes and address unmet medical ndédulee-dimensional tissues with tightly defined #mstture and composition can
create a new product category within cell and ggferapies. Tissue products may include biopritigsties (patches, tubes, etc.
hybrids comprised of bioprinted tissues and deg@m®ponent(s). We may develop specific tissue targéh partners through
technology licenses and royalty-bearing deals,raay self-fund the development of additional tisgrgets through preclinical and
clinical development

Background on Bioprinting

The formation of ‘bio-ink’, the cell-based builditdocks that can be dispensed by our suite of N@rBioprinters®, relies on the
demonstrated principle that groups of individudlsceill self-assemble to generate aggregatesutjindghe actions of cell surface proteins that
bind to each other and form junctions between cElisthermore, if two or more compatible self-askket aggregates are placed in close
proximity, under the proper conditions they will rge to generate larger, more complex structureplyaical properties analogous to those
that drive fusion of liquid droplets. The conceptissue liquidity originated in studies of devetopntal biology, where it was noted that
developing tissues have liquid-like properties #radble individual cellular components to patteacheother, migrate, organize, and
differentiate. As development progresses, tissaessition from a dynamic viscous liquid state tmare static semi-solid state, largely driven
by the compartmentalized organization of cellulamponents and production within the organized &ssfuextracellular matrix proteins that
provide the mature tissue with the biomechanicapprties required for tissue specific function.

Early publications describing scaffold-free biopirig demonstrate self-assembly and tissue liquidiiiyg cellular aggregates generated from
developing chicken heart tissue, showing that atjaaggregates will fuse over time and generadeget cellular structure. This basic beha
can be leveraged to form more complex structurerelly aggregates are arranged in a specific geypithetrcan recapitulate shapes and
architectures commonly found in tissues and orgackjding tubes and multi-layered structures.

4



Table of Contents

Additional published results demonstrated thatathserved fusion of aggregates in embryonic tissmebe extended to adult-derived cultured
mammalian cells, as demonstrated by the fusiorolt ’amster ovary epithelial cell aggregates tanftoroid (ring) structures when placed
into that geometry and held for about 120 hours.

The NovoGen Bioprinter® Platform

NovoGen Bioprinters are automated devices thatlertab fabrication of thre-dimensional (3D) living tissues comprised of martiamacells.

A custom graphic user interface (GUI) facilitatbe 8D design and execution of scripts that direetigion movement of multiple dispensing
heads to deposit defined cellular building blocalez! bio-ink. Bio-ink can be formulated as a 1068iular composition or as a mixture of
cells and other matter (hydrogels, particles, e@ur NovoGen Bioprinters can also dispense pudedgel formulations provided the physical
properties of the hydrogel are compatible withdiepensing parameters. Most typically, hydrogedsdeployed to create void spaces within
specific locations in a 3D tissue or to aid in tposition of specific cell types. We employ a wideiety of proprietary cell- and hydrogel-
based bio-inks in the fabrication of tissues. OawdiGen Bioprinters also serve as important compisnaiour tissue prototyping and
manufacturing platform, as they are able to rapidig precisely fabricate intricate small-scaleutissrodels fom vitro use as well as larger-
scale tissues suitable fior vivo use.

The first-generation NovoGen MMX Bioprinter™ wenbin in-licensing and initial design to commerciabguction in less than two years.
Our efforts in systems engineering are focusednsiréng the continuous improvement and evolutioawfNovoGen Bioprinters to meet the
needs of internally driven and externally partndiesiie programs. To date, several generation®wb8en Bioprinters have been designed,
developed, and released for tissue production.

Generation of bio-ink building blocks is the fistep in bioprinting. A wide variety of cells cam&e as the raw materials for bio-ink, including
cell lines, primary cells, stromal cells, epithktialls, endothelial cells, and progenitor celleeTmajority of tissue designs employ at least two
distinct varieties of bio-ink, usually comprisedaals that represent distinct compartments withtarget tissue. For example, a 3D tumor
might consist of both stromal and epithelial bisna vascular tube may consist of both fibrobdest smooth muscle bio-inks, and a liver
tissue may consist of two bio-inks made from ditiiver cell types. Our NovoGen Bioprinte?slispense two or more bio-inks layer by layer
in the geometry specified by the user, with bioAitgdrogels serving as an optional physical supfoorthe bioprinted tissue as well as
occupying any negative space included in the design

The NovoGen MMX BioprintefM is a powerful enabling tool for the design, optiatian, and fabrication of viable functional humastes,
based on our internal product discovery and devedoy efforts as well as the experience of our categpartners and customers. Continuous
use of NovoGen Bioprintefin the pursuit of multiplén vitro andin vivo applications provides key insights that drive ded&ptures and
specifications for nexggeneration instrumentation. We believe that weuaiquely positioned to deliver commercially vial3le tissue product
for drug development and clinical uses.

The NovoGen MMX BioprintefM has won the following awards and accolades:
e 2010 International Society for Biofabrication Megt— Special Awarc
e 2010 TIME Magazin¢50 Best Inventions of 20”
* 2011 Australian Engineering Innovation Award, spoesd by the Australian governme
In 2011 to 2014, we provided access to NovoGentitgrs for use by the following institutions, fiasearch purposes: Harvard Medical

School, Wake Forest University, Knight Cancer k¢ at Oregon Health & Science University (“OHSUBe Sanford Consortium for
Regenerative Medicine (“SCRM"), the National Cerftar
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Advancing Translational Sciences (“NCATS") and Megtional Eye Institute (NEI). We believe that trse=wf our bioprinting platform by
major research institutes will help to advancelthsic capabilities of the platform and generate ard exciting applications for bioprinted
tissues, ultimately creating future opportunitiesdur commercial products and intellectual propécensing.

Research Collaborations

We currently have research collaborations with pteereutical, biotechnology and cosmetic companesjemic and research institutions and
government agencies. These collaborations are édoois a variety of research projects, includingettgping tissue-based drug discovery
assays and tissues, developing more clinicallyiptigd in vitro three dimensional cancer modelglering the use of our 3D liver tissues in
toxicology, and exploring the use of 3D skin fastieg skin care products. Our collaborations witlagmaceutical and biotechnology
companies generally involve the partner providiesgarch funding to cover, in part or in full, tkege of work. This funding is typically
reflected as revenues in our financial statememtsshsolely meant to offset the costs, in patindull, of the collaborative research. Upon
entering into a collaboration, we disclose theriicial details only to the extent that they are makéo our business. Our academic and rese
institute collaborations typically involve both asd the academic partner contributing resourcestlijrto projects, but also may involve
sponsored research agreements where we fund spesifiarch programs. We may also contribute aibigprand technical support or a
bioprinter plus research headcount, depending @pitbject scope.

In October 2011, we entered into a Research Agreewi¢h United Therapeutics CorporationUhither ") to establish and conduct a researct
program to discover treatments for pulmonary hygresion using our NovoGen Bioprinter technology,akhiemains in effect until the later of
30 months from its commencement or our completfathe contracted research. We have progresseddhean this agreement according to
the research plan. We are currently finalizingréseearch results to be presented in a final teahréport, after which we and Unither will
select a path forward on the research plan. Wesntlyranticipate that further research on the mtojéll be conducted; though we can give no
assurance that future agreements will be securtfitediming of any such agreements.

In January 2013, we entered into a collaboratioregent with the Knight Cancer Institute at Orefj@alth & Science University ©OHSU

"), a national leader in translational oncologye@sh, to develop more clinically predictive inrgithree dimensional cancer models with the
goal to advance discovery of novel cancer therdgeutVe and OHSU have subsequently publicly preskrdgsults from ongoing research in
oncology at scientific forums.

In August 2013, we entered into an agreement waghMichael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson’s Rege#r develop tissues for drug
discovery. This research program has proceededdingao plan, and met interim milestones.

In September 2013, we entered into an agreemehnthgffman La Roche (Roche”) exploring the use of 3D liver tissue in toxicgio This
research program has proceeded according to pidnya believe that during this research progranihaxe demonstrated valuable function of
the 3D Liver tissues. We anticipate that reseamai fthis collaboration will be published and beoimfiative to those considering the
commercial use of our 3D Liver tissues in a redeastting, although we can give no assurance higatill be the case. We currently anticig
that an additional agreement or agreements witlrbiged at to utilize our 3D Liver tissues in Ro&huture research efforts, although we can
give no assurance that future agreements will bersd or the timing of any such agreements. Angagent or agreements that are best
classified as contract research services undestaadard 3D Liver commercial business model sul®do commercial launch may result in
us recording and reporting revenue along with dfi@dditional customers in the normal course ofrfess.

In October 2013, we entered into an agreement kdeal exploring the use of 3D skin for testingrskare products. This research program
has proceeded according to plan, and we anticthatean additional agreement or agreements widligpeed, although we can give no assur
that future agreements will be secured or the noihany such agreements.
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Our Product Candidates

We intend to utilize our bioprinting technologydevelop functional human tissues that can be emplay drug discovery and development,
biological research and as therapeutic implantseWect that our first commercial tissue offered b our 3D Human Liver Tissue, which is
designed to be used for the toxicological testihdrag compounds. In April 2014, we announced tiathad begun to sign contracts with
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies forcttyxresearch services using our 3D Human Livesdés We expect to offer 3D Human
Liver services more broadly, and also intend teoéur 3D Human Liver Tissue directly to end usestomers in a kit for toxicological testing,
after our full commercial launch scheduled to odwefiore the end of the calendar 2014.

Competition

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology, and diagnostic comparieademic and research institutions;
and government or other publicly-funded agencias dine pursuing the development of tissue modelsfarapeutic products that otherwise
address the needs of our potential customers. \ievbeur future success will depend, in large pamtour ability to maintain a competitive
position in our field. Biopharmaceutical technolegyhave undergone and are expected to continugltrgo rapid and significant change. We
or our competitors may make rapid technologicakttfgyments which may cause our research tools cabatic products to become obsolete
before we recover the expenses incurred. The inttozh of less expensive or more effective theréipaliscovery and development
technologies, including technologies that may belated to our field, may also make our technologproducts less valuable or obsolete. We
may not be able to make the necessary enhancetoemis technologies or products to compete sucakgstith newly emerging technologie
The failure to maintain a competitive position lire biopharmaceutical field may result in decreasgdnues.

We are a platform technology company dedicatetiealevelopment and production of functional hunisgsues that service the drug discovery
and development, biological research, and cell-testdie-based therapy industries. To our knowletigee are no other companies with a
similar “pure play” focus on a 3D tissue platforethnology or marketed products.

Set forth below is a discussion of competitive dastfor each of the broad markets in which we idtenutilize our technology:

1) Standardized 3D Tissues for in vitro Preclinical Teting: We intend to employ our technology to provide aiayaof broadly
applicable 3D tissue models for use in preclinasdessments of safety and efficacy as an adjumadteonative to animal studies.
Examples of products in this segment of the busimedude ce-based models for ADME/TOX/DMPK marke

We believe that we are the first and only companigterage a bioprinting system in the commeraiatipction of 3D tissue
products. Importantly, our fabrication platform raims highly unique in its ability to fabricate 3i3dues from human cells without
reliance on biomaterial scaffolding. Consequeritig,tissues that we produce have unique featua¢sditate have not been
attainable in 3D tissues generated by alternatiegegjies. Specifically, we believe the dense tailty, compartmentalized 3D
geometry, and microarchitectural features of oopbnted tissues offer unparallelgdvitro modeling of native tissues. Current
competition in this area, and predominant markatesharises mainly from two sources, traditiondlHoasedin vitro culture
approaches and traditionalvivoanimal models and testing. Additional competiticists from non-bioprinted cell-based assays
offered by such companies as InSphero AG, Hepr&peporation, RegeneMed Inc., and Hurel Corporatmme of which have a
three dimensional aspect. Although assays fronethempanies have limited market share today, theeyimprove market share
and competitive position in the future.

2) Specialized Models for Drug Discovery and Developmé This aspect of our business is driven by leveragimgtechnology as a
high-end partnered service that designs and dslivighly complex, custom tissue models of normaliseased tissue for use in
drug discovery and development. Ei
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model enables a customer to discover or optimalisntilate a pharmacologic product that deliversexiie therapeutic effect, or
avoids a particular side effect. In addition toaewe generated from the tissue production workitiadd! revenues are possible in
the form of up-front license fees, milestone paytsgknow-how payments, and royalties. We can pet@ customer access to
tissues as a service or can produce and supptistues to customers; both options are designgdnerate continuing revenue.
Competition in this area arises mainly from tworees, traditional cell-based vitro culture approaches and traditional vivo
animal models and testin

We believe that an important factor distinguishing approach from that of our competitors is oulitglio build models that are
composed of human cells and have a 3D tissue-tikéiguration (i.e., able to generate results tmatreot subject to inherent
limitations of 2D monolayer culture). We acknowlegdfowever, that there are some areas of researgfhfch the existing
methods (2D cell culture and/or animal studies)aalequate and 3D vitro human tissues are not sufficiently advantageous.

3) Implantable 3D Tissues for Clinical UseThis aspect of our business involves applicatioawf3D bioprinting technology to
generate human tissues suitable for implantatiosivio to augment or replace damaged or degenertsisiges. These efforts will |
undertaken by us alone, or as partnered projettsl@ading therapeutic companies seeking to deveeliy@rapeutic tissue product
for a specific application. Near-term revenues wadme from the funding of development work andsdme cases, licensing fees
for access to our platform technologies. We exfmaier-term revenues may arise from shared prafitsroyalties or other forms
of income from successful clinical and commerceelopment of the tissue products. There are mampanies pursuing the
discovery, development, and commercialization sxfute-based products for a variety of applicatimmtduding but not limited to
Organogenesis, Tengion, Aastrom Biosciences andgtaft Tissue Engineering. These companies unigegesent potential
competition for us while also being partner cantidaOur platform has the ability to enable theegation and optimization of
unique, scaffol-free or hybrid tissue prototypes and ultimatelymup production of the tissu

Research and Development

We continuously engage in research and developtaarthance our platform technology and to devekp products and service offerings.
Our research and development efforts include iafanitiatives as well as collaborative developmepportunities with third parties. Our
research and development expenses were $8.0 miiga million and $1.4 million for the fiscal ysagnded March 31, 2014, December 31,
2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. We foousesearch and development activities in areaewve have technological expertise
and where we believe a significant market oppotyuexists for our technology and the products weettp. We intend to continue our focus
on research and development as a key strateghidagrowth of our business.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in large part on our abilibbtain and enforce patents, maintain protectiomasfe secrets, and operate without infrini
the proprietary rights of third parties. We holclesive licenses to five U.S. patents, three UgBemt applications and multiple corresponding
international patent applications. We have filegen.S. patent applications and correspondingnatenal patent applications regarding our
technology and its various uses in areas of tisse@ion and utilization in drug discovery, inclogifilings for specific tissue types.

In March 2009, we obtained a world-wide exclusieemse to a suite of intellectual property ownedhsyUniversity of Missouri-Columbia (
MU ") and the Medical University of South Carolina eowg the following two patents:

» “SelfAssembling Cell Aggregates and Methods of MakingiBeered Tissue Using the S¢” U.S. Pat. No. 8,241,90
8
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» “Self-Assembling Multicellular Bodies and Meti®of Producing a Three-Dimensional Biological Stuwe Using the Same” Int'l App.
No. PCT/US 2009/48530 and U.S. Pat. No. 8,143,

In March 2010, we licensed additional intellectpadperty from MU covering the composition and metlod manufacture of a nerve conduit.
Dr. Gabor Forgacs is one of our Founders and tiguarco-inventor of all of these works (th&6rgacs Intellectual Property”). The Forgacs
Intellectual Property provides us with intellectpabperty rights relating to cellular aggregatesjse cellular aggregates to create engineered
tissue, and to employ cellular aggregates to creagineered tissue with no scaffold present. Ttal@ctual property rights derived from the
Forgacs Intellectual Property also enables usiliaaibur NovoGen BioprinteP to create engineered tissues, and provides usigtits

relating to specific compositions with utility ihé creation of nerve conduit. These patents aremgtfoundational within the field of 3D
Bioprinting, but provide us with a favorable prigrdate.

The Forgacs Intellectual Property is the resultesrs of research by Dr. Gabor Forgacs, the Gedr@neyard Professor of Biophysics at the
University of Missouri-Columbia and his collaborst@nd research teams. Dr. Forgacs is a sougheajbert in biofabrication with a long
record of peer-reviewed publications. The Forgatsllectual Property derives from work performedha labs of Dr. Forgacs and his
collaborators, including the work performed und&5anmillion Frontiers in Biological Research gréimat Dr. Forgacs and his collaborators
received from the National Science Foundation.

Under our agreements we also hold exclusive licetsthe following two patents as well as futurdccpatents derived from the same
applications:

. “Self-Assembling Multicellular Bodies and Mettiemof Producing a Three-Dimensional Biological 8tuwe Using the Same” (U.S.
Pat. No. 8,143,055), which provides us with intll&al property rights in the creation of cellulggeegates, the use of cellular
aggregates to create engineered tissue, and tHeyanent of cellular aggregates to create enginesssde with no scaffold
present

. “Self-Assembling Cell Aggregates and Method#/eaiking Engineered Tissue Using the Same” (U.S. [Rat 8,241,905), which
provides us with intellectual property rights irettreation of engineered tiss

In May 2011, we obtained an exclusive license pat@nt entitled “Ink Jet Printing of Viable Cell@).S. Pat. No. 7,051,654) from the Clem:
University Research FoundationQURF Patent”). The CURF Patent provides us with the intellatforoperty rights relating to methods of
using ink-jet printer technology to dispense cellw] relating to the creation of matrices of binfad cells on gel materials.

We will be required to make pass through paymesttsiblicenses of the Forgacs Intellectual Propanty the CURF Patent based on the
license fees or royalty payments we receive. Intatg following commercialization, we are requiredmake ongoing royalty payments equal
to a low single digit percentage of net sales eflitensed products.

In May 2012, the Intellectual Property Office oétbinited Kingdom issued us a patent (GB24788MgdtiMultilayered Vascular Tubes.”
This is our first issued patent and representsstieance of a patent from our first patent apgbeatwhich was submitted in May 2010. The
original patent application continues to be unéeiaw at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office anlfipfe other jurisdictions.

In November 2012, Hong Kong patent HK1159682 wasdd to us for a similar matter.

In February 2013, another patent, with additiotaihes directed to our vascular tube inventions, isaged in the United Kingdom as patent
GB2489081.

In January 2014, a fourth patent directed to ogcukar tube inventions was issued in Australiasem AU2011227282.
9
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Also in February 2013, we purchased the exclusgtes to a patent titled “Perfusion Bioreactors @uturing Cells” (U.S. Pat. No. 7,767,446
as well as related foreign patents) from BectorkiD®on and Company. This patent represents thasitiqn of bioreactor technology for the
support of our 3D tissues for use in drug discowerg development. No future royalties or milestpagments are owed to Becton Dickinson
and Company for these patents.

We currently have U.S. patent applications pentlingrotect our proprietary methods processes ampositions across the bioprinting
platform, tissue configurations, and specific tessgpes. We have also filed, and intend to fileregponding foreign patent applications. We
believe that protection of the proprietary natufrewr products and technologies is essential taboisiness. Accordingly, we have adopted anc
will continue a vigorous program to secure and ta@nprotection of our intellectual property. Undleis program, we intend to file patent
applications with respect to novel technology, angrovements thereof, that are important to ouirmss. We also will continue to rely upon
trade secret protection of our methods and teclgyolas with other areas of biotechnology, this jdeg a critical adjunct to the protection
offered by patents. As always, we continue to pai@ur internal technological innovation and extelieansing opportunities to develop and
maintain our competitive position. There can beassurance that others will not independently dgwesldstantially equivalent proprietary
technology or that we can meaningfully protect praprietary position.

Regulatory Considerations

We are not aware of any current FDA regulatory inexpients for sales or use of 3D tissue models $erin research applications. All human
cells utilized in our research and, ultimately ur bioprinted tissue products, are collected in pliemce with the FDA'’s guidance for Current
Good Tissue Practices (CGTP). However, pharmacadutidustry corporate customers with whom we willex into collaboration
arrangements will face regulatory review of theesrsh data they generate using our technologyophatind research tools. Good Laboratory
Practice (GLP) data is required in the developnoéainy human therapeutic, and our technology platfoas been designed to support
compliance with GLP, although no independent dedifon has been performed to date to confirmdbimpliance.

Therapeutic tissues and other regenerative medicaucts are subject to an extensive, lengthyueme@rtain regulatory approval process by
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and pamable agencies in other countries. The regulatforew products is extensive, and the
required process of laboratory testing and humadiies is lengthy and expensive. The resource imastnecessary to meet the requirements
of these regulations will fall on our collaboratipgrtners, or may be shared with us, to the etteitwe are developing proprietary products
that are the result of a collaboration effort. Tegource investment of time, staff and expensatisfg these regulations will fall on us to the
extent we are developing proprietary products anomn. We may not be able to obtain FDA approvatdliose products in a timely manner,
or at all. We may encounter significant delays»aressive costs in our efforts to secure necesggmosals or licenses. Even if we obtain FDA
regulatory approvals, the FDA extensively regulatesufacturing, labeling, distributing, marketipgpmotion and advertising after product
approval. Moreover, several of our product develepnareas may involve relatively new technology aade not been the subject of exten:
product testing in humans. The regulatory requir@sgoverning these products and related clinicatgdures remain uncertain and the
products themselves may be subject to substaetiaw by the FDA and/or foreign governmental retpriaauthorities that could prevent or
delay approval of these products and proceduregulR®ry requirements ultimately imposed on oudpiais could limit our ability to test,
manufacture and, ultimately, commercialize our piaid and thereby could adversely affect our fin@inmndition and results of operations.

As constructs move into clinical and commerciatisgs, full compliance with the FDA’s CGTP (Curréabod Tissue Practices) and CGMP
(Current Good Manufacturing Practices) guidelindklve required. Suitable design and documentaforelinical use of the bioprinter will be
a part of future phases of our NovoGen Biopriftdesign programs.
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Raw Materials

We use live human cells to produce our 3D tisswaspurchase human cells from selected suppliersdbais quality assurance, cost
effectiveness and constraints resulting from regnyarequirements. We work closely with our supgdito assure continuity of supply while
maintaining high quality and reliability. Althoughe believe we have adequate available sourceswofaterials, there can be no guarantee
we will be able to access the quantity of raw mak@&reeded to sustain operations as well as asteffective price

Employees

As of May 30, 2014, we have fifty-two employeeswdfom forty-eight are employed full time. We alsmeage consultants and temporary
employees from time to time to provide service$ thkate to our bioprinting business and technolagyvell as for general administrative
services.

Available Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements ofStheurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended felfange Act”). Reports filed with the
SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act, including anandlquarterly reports, and other reports we fi Ise inspected and copied at the public
reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 1®ireet, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Investoryg pi#ain information on the operation of
the public reference room by calling the SEC abD0-8EC-0330. Investors can request copies of tiesements upon payment of a
duplicating fee by writing to the SEC. The repavtsfile with the SEC are also available on the SB@bsite ( http://www.sec.qdv
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investment in our common stock involves a substaaigigree of risk and should be regarded as spéivelaAs a result, the purchase of «
common stock should be considered only by pershosan reasonably afford to lose their entire inweant. Before you elect to purchase our
common stock, you should carefully consider theaisd uncertainties described below in additiotht® other information incorporated here
by reference. Additional risks and uncertaintiesvbich we are unaware or which we currently beliave immaterial could also materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditomesults of operations. In any case, the tradimige of our common stock could decline, anc
you could lose all or part of your investme

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
We have a limited operating history and a historfyaperating losses, and expect to incur significaadditional operating losses.

We were incorporated in 2007, and opened our labiges in San Diego, California in January 200%w.c8iour incorporation, we have focused
primarily on the development of our platform teclogy and the development of our biological reseadehg discovery and therapeutic
products and services based on that technologyptih 2014, we announced that we had begun to saniracts for research services using ou
3D Human Liver Tissue product, with the full commiat launch of our 3D Human Liver Tissue produdiestuled to occur before the end of
the calendar 2014. As a result, as of March 3142@%& had not generated revenues from our planniadipal operation and continue to be
considered a development-stage company. Because tifmited operating history, there is limitedtioiscal financial or other information

upon which to base an evaluation of our performamzkfuture prospects. Our future prospects musbhsidered in light of the uncertainties,
risks, expenses, and difficulties frequently endered by companies in their early stages of oparatand competing in new and rapidly
developing technology areas. We have generatedipgiosses since we began operations, includ2@smillion, $9.3 million and $2.3
million for the years ended March 31, 2014, Decan3ie 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively $dn@ million and $1.3 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2013 and March 312,2@%pectively. As of March 31, 2014, we had inedircumulative operating losses of
$38.3 million and cumulative net losses totalin@.®9million. We expect to incur substantial addiaboperating losses over the next several
years as our research, development, and commauatiaities increase. The amount of future lossesvaimen, if ever, we will achiev

profitability are uncertain. Our ability to genexatvenue and achieve profitability will depend among other things, successfully developing
drug discovery, biological research and therapeatits and products that are more effective thastiex) technologies; entering into
collaborative relationships with strategic partnefstaining any necessary regulatory approval tordyug discovery, biological research and
therapeutic tools and products; entering into ss&ftd manufacturing, sales and marketing arrangésmeith third parties or developing an
effective sales and marketing infrastructure to mmrcialize any future tools and products; and mgisiufficient funds to finance our activities
and business plan. We might not succeed at aresktundertakings. If we are unsuccessful at sorak of these undertakings, our business,
prospects, and results of operations will be mallgradversely affected.

We are an early-stage company with an unproven Inesis strategy, and may never achieve profitability.

We are in the early stages of using our proprigpdatform technology to develop and commercialinectional human tissues that can be
employed in drug discovery and development, biaalgiesearch, and potentially as therapeutic intpléor the treatment of damaged or
degenerating tissues and organs. Our successep#irdl upon the commercial viability of our platfaienhnology, as well as on our ability to
determine which drug discovery, biological reseatl therapeutic tools and products can be suctdlysdéveloped with our platform
technology. Our success will also depend on oditykd obtain any necessary regulatory approvaioir tools and products, to enter into
additional collaboration agreements on favorahieseand to select an appropriate commercializaticategy for the tools and products we or
our collaborators choose to pursue. If we are notessful in implementing our development and coroiakzation strategies, which are new
and unproven, we may never achieve profitabilityif e achieve profitability, be able to maintainincrease our profitability.
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We may not be able to correctly estimate our futuesenues and operating expenses, which could leadash shortfalls, and we may need
to secure additional financing.

We may not correctly predict the amount or timifiguture revenues and our operating expenses raatufite significantly in the future as a
result of a variety of factors, many of which argside of our control. These factors include:

. our expectations regarding revenues from salesiofomls and products and from collaborations hilhd parties:

. the time and resources required to develop our dismpvery, biological research and therapeutitstand products
. the time and cost of obtaining any necessary régylapprovals

. the cost to create effective sales and marketipgluties;

. the expenses we incur to maintain and improve aifggm technology

. the costs to attract and retain personnel witrsKilés required for effective operations; a

. the costs of preparing, filing, prosecutingfetheling and enforcing patent claims and other gatdated costs, including litigation
costs and the results of such litigati

In addition, our budgeted expense levels are biamspdrt on our expectations concerning future reresrfrom sales of our tools and products
and from collaborations with third parties. Howewge may not correctly predict the amount or timariduture revenues. In addition, we may
not be able to adjust our operations in a timelynes to compensate for any unexpected shortfallinrevenues. As a result, a significant
shortfall in our planned revenues could have anédiiate and material adverse effect on our busimedsinancial condition. In such case, we
may be required to issue additional equity or delgurities or enter into other commercial arrangesjéncluding relationships with corporate
and other partners, to secure the additional fihmnesources to support our development effortsfature operations. Depending upon marke
conditions, we may not be successful in raisindigeht additional capital on a timely basis, omdit If we fail to obtain sufficient additional
financing, or enter into relationships with oth#rat provide additional financial resources, wd nilt be able to develop our technology and
products on our planned timeline, or at all, andway be required to delay significantly, reducegsbepe of or eliminate one or more of our
research or development programs, downsize ourgeamed administrative infrastructure, or seekraliive measures to avoid insolvency,
including arrangements with collaborative partr@rsthers that may require us to relinquish rigbtsertain of our technologies, product
candidates or products. In such event, our busipesspects, financial condition and results ofrafiens would be adversely affected.

Our platform technology and our drug discovery, lgical research and therapeutic tools and produet® new and unproven.

Our platform technology, as well as our drug disgy biological research and therapeutic toolspmoducts, involve new and unproven
models and approaches. We have not proven thatlatfiorm technology will enable us or our collakiora to develop effective or competitive
drug discovery and biological research tools amdipets. Nor have we proven that any of our existinglanned tools or products will enable
our customers to conduct drug discovery and bicklgiesearch more effectively than through theaisisting technologies. Our success
depends on commercial acceptance of our drug désg@nd biological research tools and productsnEfe or our collaborators are
successful in our respective efforts, we or oulatmrators may not be able to discover or devetoproercially viable therapeutics or other
products therefrom. To date, no one has developedromercialized any therapeutic or other life sceeproducts based on our drug discover
and biological research tools and products. Ifdrug discovery and biological research productstants do not assist in the discovery and
development of such therapeutic or life sciencelpets, our current and potential collaborators toag confidence in us and our drug
discovery and biological research tools and prasu@ur
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inability to successfully develop effective and quetitive drug discovery, biological research areraipeutic tools and products and achieve
and maintain commercial acceptance for those &mudsproducts would materially adversely affectlousiness, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our technology, tools and products are subjecthe tisks associated with new and rapidly evolvieglinologies and industries.

Our proprietary tissue creation technology anddyug discovery, biological research and therapaatts and products are subject to the risks
associated with new, rapidly evolving technologiad industries. We may experience unforeseen teghromplications, unrecognized defe
and limitations in the development and commercadian of our tools and products. These complicaticould materially delay or limit the use
of those tools and products, substantially incréhsanticipated cost of manufacturing them or pnéwis or our collaborators from
implementing their drug discovery or biologicaleasch projects successfully or at all. In addititwe, process of developing new technologies
tools and products is complex, and if we are unabiéevelop enhancements to, and new featuresdiogxisting tools and products or
acceptable new tools and products that keep pabeeghnological developments or industry standaydstools and products may become
obsolete, less marketable and less competitive.

Our ability to successfully commercialize any drdiscovery, biological research or therapeutic todlsproducts we develop is subject to a
variety of risks.

The commercialization of our drug discovery anddmaal research tools and products are subjegsks and uncertainties, including:
. failing to develop tools or products that are effecand competitive

. failing to demonstrate the commercial and téwdinviability of any tools or products that we sassfully develop or otherwise
failing to achieve market acceptance of such toolsroducts

. failing to be cost effective

. failing to obtain any necessary regulatory appre

. being difficult or impossible to manufacture orasgle scale

. being unable to establish and maintain supply aadufacturing relationships with reliable third pest

. failing to develop our tools and products before shccessful marketing of similar tools and prosliagt competitors
. being unable to hire and retain qualified personard

. infringing the proprietary rights of third parties competing with superior products marketed bydtpiarties

If any of these or any other risks and uncertagnbiecur, our efforts to commercialize our drug digry and biological research tools and
products may be unsuccessful, which would harmbasiness and results of operations.

The near and long-term viability of our products drservices will depend on our ability to succesbfdstablish strategic relationships.

The near and long-term viability of our productsl @ervices will depend in part on our ability tasessfully establish new strategic
collaborations with biotechnology companies, pham®uodical companies, universities, hospitals, insceacompanies and government agen
Establishing strategic collaborations is difficaitd time-consuming. Potential collaborators magategollaborations based upon their
assessment of our technology
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or product offerings or our financial, regulatonyintellectual property position. If we fail to eslish a sufficient number of collaborations on
acceptable terms, we may not be able to commezeialir products or generate sufficient revenuenad further research and development
efforts. Even if we establish new collaboratiomgse relationships may never result in the suagedstelopment or commercialization of any
product or service candidates for several reasotiswithin and outside of our control.

We cannot control our collaborators’ allocation aEsources or the amount of time that our collabooas devote to developing our programs
or potential products, which may have a materiahamise effect on our business.

Our existing research and collaboration agreemntgpisally allow our collaborators to obtain the igpis to license or exclusive rights to
negotiate licenses to our new technologies. Oualofators may have significant discretion in etegtvhether to pursue product developm
regulatory approval, manufacturing and marketinthefproducts they may develop with the help ofteahnology. We cannot control the
amount and timing of resources our collaboratorg devote to our programs or potential productsaAssult, we cannot be certain that our
collaborators will choose to develop and commeimeahese products or that we will realize any fetnilestone payments, royalties and othe
payments provided for in the agreements with ollaborators. In addition, if a collaborator is ifved in a business combination, such as a
merger or acquisition, or if a collaborator chanigesusiness focus, its performance pursuanstagteement with us may suffer. As a result,
we may not generate any revenues from royalty,stule and similar provisions that may be includedur collaborative agreements.

In addition, our collaborative partners or othestomers that utilize our research tools will beuiezg to submit their research for regulatory
review in order to proceed with human testing afgdcandidates. This review by the FDA and otheulegry agencies may result in timeline
setbacks or complete rejection of an applicatiobeigin human studies, such as an Investigative Dieig (IND) application, or the ultimate
failure to receive the regulatory approval requi@dommercialize the drug candidate or productughour collaborative partners or other
customers face such setbacks, we would be at fisgtaarning any future milestone or royalty paytse

Any termination or breach by or conflict with ouratlaborators or licensees could harm our busine

If we or any of our existing or future collaboratar licensees fail to renew or terminate any afamllaboration or license agreements, or if
either party fails to satisfy its obligations un@eiy of our collaboration or license agreementsoonplete them in a timely manner, we could
lose significant sources of revenue, which cousdliitein volatility in our future revenues. In addit, our agreements with our collaborators an
licensees may have provisions that give rise tpules regarding the rights and obligations of tai@s. These and other possible
disagreements could lead to termination of theeagemnt or delays in collaborative research, devetgnsupply or commercialization of
certain products, or could require or result ilgéition or arbitration. Moreover, disagreementsl@@uise with our collaborators over rights to
our intellectual property or our rights to sharairy of the future revenues of products developedur collaborators. These kinds of
disagreements could result in costly and time-conisg litigation. Any such conflicts with our collakators could reduce our ability to obtain
future collaboration agreements and could havegathe impact on our relationship with existinglabbrators, adversely affecting our
business and revenues. Finally, any of our collaans or license agreements may prove to be uassfid.

Our collaborators could develop competing researodgucing the available pool of potential collabdmas and increasing competition,
which may adversely affect our business and revesiue

Our collaborators and potential collaborators calddelop research tools similar to our own, redgicar pool of possible collaborative parties
and increasing competition. Any of these developseauld harm our product and technology develogra#arts, which could seriously ha
our business. In addition, we may pursue

15



Table of Contents

opportunities in fields that could conflict withake of our collaborators. Developing products doepete with our collaborators’ or potential
collaborators’ products could preclude us from gntginto future collaborations with our collabaveg or potential collaborators. Any of these
developments could harm our product developmenttsfand could adversely affect our business anehrtges.

We face intense competition which could result ieduced acceptance and demand for our research taold products.

The biotechnology industry is subject to intensmpetition and rapid and significant technologidadiege. We have many potential
competitors, including major drug companies, sgad biotechnology firms, academic institutionsygrnment agencies and private and
public research institutions. Many of these conipetihave significantly greater financial and tdachhresources, experience and expertise in
the following areas than we do:

. research and technology developm

. product identification and developme

. regulatory processes and approv

. production and manufacturin

. securing government contracts and grants to supipairtresearch and development efforts;

. sales and marketing of products and technolo

Principal competitive factors in our industry indtuthe quality and breadth of technology; manag¢ieueth the execution of strategy; skill and
experience of employees, including the abilitygoruit and retain skilled, experienced employe®s]lectual property portfolio; range of
capabilities, including product identification, @ggepment, manufacturing and marketing; and thelabitity of substantial capital resources to
fund these activities.

In order to effectively compete, we will need tokaaubstantial investments in our research andtdofy development, product identificat
and development, testing and regulatory approvahufacturing and sales and marketing activitiegr&lis no assurance that we will be
successful in commercializing and gaining significanarket share for any products developed inthaough use of our technology. Our
technologies, products and services also may loered obsolete or noncompetitive as a result afysts and services introduced by our
competitors.

We may have product liability exposure from the salf our research tools and therapeutic productstbe services we provide.

We may have exposure to claims for product lighilRroduct liability coverage is expensive and sames difficult to obtain. Given our
operations to date, we currently do not maintaiy @moduct liability insurance coverage. At suchmdhat we determine it is prudent to obtain
this insurance, we may not be able to obtain ontaai insurance at a reasonable cost. There caon bssurance that existing insurance
coverage will extend to other products in the fatukny product liability insurance coverage may betsufficient to satisfy all liabilities
resulting from product liability claims. A succesktlaim may prevent us from obtaining adequatelpeo liability insurance in the future on
commercially desirable items, if at all. Even ilaim is not successful, defending such a claimld/be time-consuming and expensive, may
damage our reputation in the marketplace, and wiikéty divert management’s attention.

We may be dependent on third-party research orgatians to conduct some of our future laboratory teg), animal and human studies.

We may be dependent on third-party research orgaoirs to conduct some of our laboratory testimgmal and human studies with respect to
therapeutic tissues and other life science prodhetswe may develop in the
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future. If we are unable to obtain any necessatyrig services on acceptable terms, we may not enpur product development efforts in a
timely manner. If we rely on third parties for labtory testing and/or animal and human studiesnag lose some control over these activities
and become too dependent upon these parties. THisbparties may not complete testing activitiessshedule or when we so request. We
may not be able to secure and maintain suitabareh organizations to conduct our laboratoryrigsiind/or animal and human studies. We
are responsible for confirming that each of ounichl trials is conducted in accordance with ouragal plan and protocol. Moreover, the FDA
and foreign regulatory agencies require us to cgmjith regulations and standards, commonly refetoesls good clinical practices, for
conducting, recording and reporting the resultslioical trials to assure that data and reportadlte are credible and accurate and that the tri
participants are adequately protected. Our relimmcthird parties does not relieve us of theseaesipilities and requirements. If these third
parties do not successfully carry out their coritralcduties or regulatory obligations or meet expéaeadlines, if the third parties need to be
replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the dhty obtain is compromised due to the failure tioead to our clinical protocols or regulatory
requirements or for other reasons, our pre-clindealelopment activities or clinical trials may baended, delayed, suspended or terminated,
and we may not be able to obtain regulatory apprfovaur future product candidates.

We will require access to a constant, steady, fgiasupply of human cells to successfully commelizia our tools and products.

Commercialization of our tools and products wiju@e that we have access to a constant, steadsetiable supply of human cells. We will
also require access to, or development of, faedlito manufacture a sufficient supply of our t@old products. If we are unable to manufacture
our products in commercial quantities, our busirsesbfuture results will suffer.

We may rely on third-party suppliers for some oframaterials.

We may rely on third-party suppliers and vendorssfame of the materials we require in our drugaliscy and biological research products
and tool businesses as well as for the manufaofuray therapeutic product candidates that we neasgldp in the future. Any significant
problem experienced by one of our suppliers coedalt in a delay or interruption in the supply adterials to us until such supplier resolves
the problem or an alternative source of supplpisited. Any delay or interruption could negativaffect our operations.

A significant portion of our sales will be dependempon our customer capital spending policies and research and deystent budgets,
and government funding of research and developmpridgrams at universities and other organizationshish are each subject to
significant and unexpected decreas

Our prospective customers include pharmaceutichbiotechnology companies, academic institutioosegnment laboratories, and private
research foundations. Fluctuations in the reseamdhdevelopment budgets at these organizations t@awvle a significant effect on the demand
for our products and services. Research and dewelopbudgets fluctuate due to changes in avail@sieurces, patent expirations, mergers of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, spgmutiorities, general economic conditions, andiingbnal and governmental budgetary
policies, including but not limited to reductiomsgrants for research by federal and state ageasiasesult of the current budget crises and
budget reduction measures. In addition, our businesld be seriously damaged by any significantesese in life sciences research and
development expenditures by pharmaceutical an@édfoiology companies, academic institutions, goventriaboratories, or private
foundations.

The timing and amount of revenues from customeasrily on government funding of research may s#gwificantly due to factors that can
difficult to forecast. Research funding for lifdestce research has increased more slowly duringdkeseveral years compared to the previot
years and has declined in some countries, and goanés have been frozen for extended periods & tinotherwise become unavailable
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various institutions, sometimes without advancéceoiGovernment funding of research and developiisesubject to the political process,
which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Otlpeograms, such as homeland security or defenggeraral efforts to reduce the federal
budget deficit could be viewed by the United Stafe@gernment as a higher priority. These budgetagggures may result in reduced allocat
to government agencies that fund research and @awelnt activities. Current steps to reduce therfddridget deficit include reduced
National Institute of Health and other research @exklopment allocations. The prolonged or increéaift away from the funding of lif
sciences research and development or delays sdirmuthe approval of government budget proposalg caase our customers to delay or
forego purchases of our products or services, wtichd seriously damage our business.

An inability to manage our planned growth or expains of our operations could adversely affect ourdiness, financial condition or result
of operations.

Our business has grown rapidly, and we expecigtitgth to continue as we expand our ability to dewyend commercialize functional hum
tissues. The rapid expansion of our business aditi@u of new personnel may place a strain on oanagement and operational systems. To
effectively manage our operations and growth, wetraantinue to expend funds to enhance our opewdtifinancial and management
controls, reporting systems and procedures anttrechand retain sufficient numbers of talentegkayees. In addition, our management will
need to continue to successfully:

. expand and our research and product developmentse
. implement and expand our sales, marketing and mestsupport program
. expand, train and manage our employee base

. effectively address new issues related to our dr@stthey arise

We may not manage our planned growth and expassiocessfully, which could adversely affect our bess, financial condition or results of
operations.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

Violation of government regulations or quality pregms could harm demand for our products or servicaad the evolving nature of
government regulations could have an adverse impattour business

To the extent that our collaborators or customeesaur products in the manufacturing or testing@sses for their drug and medical device
products, such end-products or services may bdateglby the FDA under Quality System RegulatiddSR) or the Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services (CMS) under Clinical Laboratamprovement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA’88) regulatiohise customer is ultimately
responsible for QSR, CLIA’88 and other complianeguirements for their products. However, we magago comply with certain
requirements, and, if we fail to do so, we coulkklgales and our collaborators or customers aedfEsed to product liability claims. In
addition, our platform technology is subject to tequirements of Good Laboratory Practice (GLR)rtwvide suitable data for INDs and other
regulatory filings. No regulatory review of datariin our platform technology has yet been conduatebtiaere is no guarantee that our
technology will be acceptable under GLP. As a teslud violation of government regulations or qtyairograms could harm demand for our
products or services, and the evolving nature eegument regulations could have an adverse impaouo business.

Any therapeutic implants we develop will be subjazextensive, lengthy and uncertain regulatory régements, which could adverse
affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval ia timely manner, or at all.

Any therapeutic and other life science productserelop will be subject to extensive, lengthy andartain regulatory approval process by
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and comparalgereies in other

18



Table of Contents

countries. The regulation of new products is extensand the required process of laboratory tesdimg) clinical studies is lengthy, expensive
and uncertain. We may not be able to obtain FDA@gis for any therapeutic products we developtimaly manner, or at all. We may
encounter significant delays or excessive costaiirefforts to secure necessary approvals or lezrsven if we obtain FDA regulatory
approvals, the FDA extensively regulates manufaagutabeling, distributing, marketing, promotiondaadvertising after product approval.
Moreover, several of our product development aneag involve relatively new technologies and havelre®n the subject of extensive
laboratory testing and clinical studies. The retprlarequirements governing these products andeetleinical procedures remain uncertain
and the products themselves may be subject toantiatreview by the FDA and other foreign governtaéregulatory authorities that could
prevent or delay approval in the United Statesamdother foreign country. Regulatory requiremerttisnately imposed on our products could
limit our ability to test, manufacture and, ultiragt, commercialize our products and thereby codlekssely affect our financial condition and
results of operations.

As we continue to adapt and develop parts of oodyt line in the future, including tissti@sed products in the field of regenerative medi
the manufacture and marketing of our productslvétome subject to government regulation in theddn@tates and other countries. In the
United States and most foreign countries, we vélléquired to complete rigorous preclinical testingl extensive human clinical trials that
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of a produotder to apply for regulatory approval to market product. The steps required by the FDA
before our proposed products may be marketed ibttied States include performance of precliniealifhal and laboratory) tests; submiss
to the FDA of an IDE (Investigational Device Exeiop), NDA (New Drug Application), or BLA (Biologiticense Application) which must
become effective before human clinical trials masnmence; performance of adequate and well-conttdilenan clinical trials to establish the
safety and efficacy of the product in the intentidet population; performance of a consistentrapdoducible manufacturing process
intended for commercial use; Pre-Market Approvaphgation (PMA); and FDA approval of the PMA befary commercial sale or shipment
of the product.

The processes are expensive and can take manytgeansplete, and we may not be able to demonsdtiateafety and efficacy of our prodt
to the satisfaction of such regulatory authoritigse start of clinical trials can be delayed oretédnger than anticipated for many and varied
reasons, many of which are outside of our con8afety concerns may emerge that could lengthenrtgeing trials or require additional trials
to be conducted. Regulatory authorities may algaire additional testing, and we may be requiredemonstrate that our proposed products
represent an improved form of treatment over exgstherapies, which we may be unable to do witltoutucting further clinical studies.
Moreover, if the FDA grants regulatory approvabgfroduct, the approval may be limited to spedifdications or limited with respect to our
distribution. Expanded or additional indications &pproved devices or drugs may not be approveit:hadould limit our revenues. Foreign
regulatory authorities may apply similar limitateoar may refuse to grant any approval. Consequenin if we believe that preclinical and
clinical data are sufficient to support regulatapproval for our product candidates, the FDA andifm regulatory authorities may not
ultimately grant approval for commercial sale ity @risdiction. If our products are not approvedr ability to generate revenues will be
limited and our business will be adversely affected

Even if a product gains regulatory approval, sygpraval is likely to limit the indicated uses fohigh it may be marketed, and the product an
the manufacturer of the product will be subjeatdatinuing regulatory review, including adversemveporting requirements and the FDA'’s
general prohibition against promoting productsunapproved uses. Failure to comply with any pogrr@yal requirements can, among other
things, result in warning letters, product seizuresalls, substantial fines, injunctions, suspemsior revocations of marketing licenses,
operating restrictions and criminal prosecutionsy Af these enforcement actions, any unanticipaleghges in existing regulatory
requirements or the adoption of new requirememtang safety issues that arise with any approvedymts, could adversely affect our ability
to market products and generate revenues and tlvessely affect our ability to continue our busies

We also may be restricted or prohibited from mankebr manufacturing a product, even after obtajrmproduct approval, if previously
unknown problems with the product or our manufaatare subsequently discovered and
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we cannot provide assurance that newly discovere@weloped safety issues will not arise followany regulatory approval. With the use of
any treatment by a wide patient population, seremgerse events may occur from time to time théally do not appear to relate to the
treatment itself, and only if the specific eventwes with some regularity over a period of time gltee treatment become suspect as having a
causal relationship to the adverse event. Any gadsties could cause us to suspend or cease nmgrkétbur approved products, possibly
subject us to substantial liabilities, and adversdiect our ability to generate revenues.

If restrictions on reimbursements and health careform limit our collaborator’ actual or potential financial returns on therapdic
products that they develop based on our platformmhieology, our collaborators may reduce or termindteeir collaborations with us

Our collaborators’ abilities to commercialize thaeatic and other life science products that areeld@ed through the research tools or service
that we provide may depend in part on the extemtttich coverage and adequate payments for theskigiowill be available from
government payers, such as Medicare and Medicaidtp health insurers, including managed carerdrgdéions, and other third-party payers.
These payers are increasingly challenging the pficeedical products and services. Significant utadety exists as to the reimbursement
status of newly approved therapeutic and otheskifence products, and coverage and adequate pts/man not be available for these
products.

In recent years, officials have made numerous @algdo change the health care system in the l&elproposals included measures to limi
or eliminate payments for some medical procedunéesti@atments or subject the pricing of pharmacalgiand other medical products to
government control. Government and other thirdyppayers increasingly attempt to contain healtle casts by limiting both coverage and the
level of payments of newly approved health carepeots. In some cases, they may also refuse togearny coverage of uses of approved
products for disease indications other than thosevhich the FDA has granted marketing approval&oments may adopt future legislative
proposals and federal, state or private payerkdatthcare goods and services may take actiomtbthieir payments for goods and services.
Any of these events could limit our ability to fomollaborations or collaborators’ and our abilibydommercialize therapeutic products
successfully.

We are subject to various environmental, health agafety laws.

We are subject to various laws and regulationgingldo safe working conditions, laboratory and mf@eturing practices, the experimental use
of animals, emissions and wastewater dischargesthenuse and disposal of hazardous or potentiathardous substances used in connectior
with our research, including infectious diseasenégyd/Ve also cannot accurately predict the exterggulations that might result from any
future legislative or administrative action. Anytbese laws or regulations could cause us to iadditional expense or restrict our operations.
Compliance with environmental laws and regulatioras/ be expensive, and current or future environateagulations may impair our
research, development or production efforts.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We will depend on our patent portfolio and our liesed technology in the conduct of our business.

Our commercial success will depend on our abibitphtain patents and maintain adequate proteabioaudr technologies, intellectual property
and potential products in the United States andratbuntries. To do so, we and our collaboratodsli@ensors must prosecute and maintain
existing patents, obtain new patents and pursuer attellectual property protection. Our existiraignts and any future patents we obtain may
not be sufficiently broad to prevent others frormgsur technologies or from developing competingdoicts and technologies. Moreover, the
patent positions of many biotechnology and pharmiéca companies are highly uncertain, involve céerpegal and factual questions and
have in recent years been the subject of muclatitig. As a result, we cannot guarantee that:

. any patent applications filed by us will issue atepts;
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. third parties will not challenge our proprigtaights, and if challenged that a court or an adstiative board of a patent office will
hold that our patents are valid and enforcee

. third parties will not independently develomaar or alternative technologies or duplicate afipur technologies by inventing
around our claims

. any patents issued to us will cover our technolmgy products as ultimately develop
. we will develop additional proprietary technologthat are patentable;

. the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfe our busines:

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights in the United States.

There are numerous recent changes to the patestliasvproposed changes to the rules of the UntdsSPatent and Trademark Office
(“PTO”) which may have a significant impact on @nility to protect our technology and enforce miellectual property rights. For example,
on September 16, 2011, President Obama signedetiigytSmith America Invents Act (“AlA”) which codds several significant changes to
the U.S. patent laws, including, among other thieganging from a “first-to-invent” to a “first-irantor-to-file” system, limiting where a
patentee may file a patent suit, eventually eliftingainterference proceedings while maintaining\d#ion actions, and creating a new set of
procedures to challenge patents in the PTO afégr tlave issued. The effects of these changes enenty uncertain as the PTO has recently
implemented regulations related to these changgshencourts have yet to address many of thesagiwos in the context of a dispute. Furtt
we have not assessed the applicability of thermattn@w regulations to the specific patents disaligs¢his document.

In addition, the PTO, like many foreign governmépttent agencies, requires compliance with a nurabprocedural, documentary, fee
payment and other provisions during the patentgg®and/or post-grant. There are situations intwhén-compliance can result in
abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent applicatsulting in partial or complete loss of pateghts in the relevant jurisdiction. Our pat
protection could be reduced or eliminated for nompliance with these requirements, for example,petitors might be able to enter the
market earlier than would otherwise have been fise.c

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights throughout the world.

Certain foreign jurisdictions have an absolute negent of novelty that renders any public disctesof an invention immediately fatal to
patentability in such jurisdictions. Therefore,réhés a risk that we may not be able to protectesofrour intellectual property in the United
States or abroad due to disclosures, which we roapanaware of, by our collaborators or licens8ane foreign jurisdictions prohibit certain
types of patent claims, such as “method-of-treatfnea-type” claims; thus, the scope of protectieailable to us in such jurisdictions is
limited.

Moreover, filing, prosecuting and defending pateantsll of our potential products and technologiesughout the world would be
prohibitively expensive. Competitors may use ocht®logies in jurisdictions where we have not saugtobtained patent protection to
develop their own products and further, may exptrerwise infringing products to territories where have patent protection, but where
enforcement is not as strong as that in the UrStedes. These products may compete with our fygro@ducts in jurisdictions where we do not
have any issued patents and our patent claimser ottellectual property rights may not be effeetor sufficient to prevent them from so
competing.

Many companies have encountered significant prodlienprotecting and defending intellectual propeigyts in foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of certain countries, particularistaia developing countries, do not favor the endonent of patents and other intellectual
property protection, particularly those relatingotopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficialt us to stop the infringement of our patents
or marketing of
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competing products in violation of our proprietaights generally. Proceedings to enforce our paights in foreign jurisdictions could result
in substantial cost and divert our efforts andrdite from other aspects of our business.

We may be involved in lawsuits or other proceedingprotect or enforce our patents or the patentar licensors, which could be
expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the pateftsur collaborators or licensors. Or, our licerssmay breach or otherwise prematurely
terminate the provisions of our license agreemantscontinue to improperly use our technology. donter infringement or unauthorized use,
we may be required to file infringement claims, @htcan be expensive and tirmeasuming. In addition, in an infringement proceedia cour
may decide that a patent of ours or our collabosato licensors is not valid or is unenforceablemay refuse to stop the other party from u:
the technology at issue on the grounds that o@npstdo not cover the technology in question. Areask result in any litigation or defense
proceedings could put one or more of our patentislabf being invalidated, held unenforceableinterpreted narrowly and could put our
patent applications at risk of not issuing. Addiadly, our licensors may retain certain rights $& technologies licensed by us for research
purposes.

Patent disputes can take years to resolve, capnyecustly and can result in loss of rights, injlimies and substantial penalties. Moreover,
patent disputes and related proceedings can distratagement’s attention and interfere with runrimgbusiness.

Furthermore, because of the potential for substhdiscovery in connection with intellectual profyditigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised bgalibsure during this type of litigation. In additichere could be public announcements of
the results of hearings, motions or other interiocpedings or developments which could harm ouinless.

We cannot assure you that our technology or amupturrent or future product candidates will mdtinge existing or future patents. Because
we have not conducted a formal freedom to opersdéysis for patents related to our technology, ves mot be aware of patents that have
already issued that a third party might assertrdringed by one of our current or future produahdidates. Nevertheless, we are not aware of
any issued patents that will prevent us from usingtechnology or marketing our product candidaBexzause patent applications can take
many years to issue and may be confidential fditegn months or more after filing, there may bdiagfions now pending of which we are
unaware and which may later result in issued patwatt we may infringe by commercializing any of ourrent or future product candidates
addition, third parties may obtain patents in tieife and claim that use of our technology infreigpon these patents. Moreover, we may fac
claims from non-practicing entities, which haveratevant product revenue and against whom our aatenp portfolio may thus have no
deterrent effect.

We must operate without infringing the proprietanghts of third parties and without breaching ourgtent license agreements.

Our current and future research, development andrercialization activities, including any toolspmoducts resulting from these activities,
may infringe or be claimed to infringe patents od/bg third parties and as to which we do not haddrses or other rights. As a result, we |
be subject to third-party claims in the future agaius or our collaborators that would cause uisdor substantial expenses and, if successful
against us, could cause us to pay substantial desnagluding treble damages and attorney’s feeg ifire found to be willfully infringing a
third party’s patents. If a patent infringement sugére brought against us or our collaboratorspmhey could be forced to stop or delay
research, development, manufacturing or saleseoptbduct that is the subject of the suit. As altex patent infringement claims, or in order
to avoid potential claims, we or our collaboratoray choose to seek, or be required to seek, askickom the third party and would most lik
be required to pay license fees or royalties ohbbhese licenses may not be available on
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acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we are sudekissdefending such claims, infringement and otiellectual property litigation can be
expensive and time-consuming to litigate and diweahagement’s attention from our core business. @ rljese events could harm our
business significantly.

Our current and future research, development andrercialization activities also must satisfy théigdtions under our license agreements.
Any disputes arising under our license agreememnikide costly and distract our management fronttmeluct of our business. Moreover,
premature termination of a license agreement coale an adverse impact on our business.

In addition to infringement claims against ushifd parties have prepared and filed patent apjdica in the United States that also claim
technology to which we have rights, we may havpauicipate in interference proceedings in the R3@ @etermine the priority of invention. ;
unfavorable outcome could require us to cease ubmgelated technology or to attempt to licenghts to it from the prevailing party.

Third parties may also attempt to initiate reexaatiomn, post grant review amter partesreview of our patents or those of our collaborators
licensors in the PTO. We may also become involwesirilar opposition proceedings in the Europeate®aDffice or similar offices in other
jurisdictions regarding our intellectual propenghts with respect to our products and technoli

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality olur trade secrets, our business and competitiveitpms would be harmed

In addition to seeking patents for some of our nedbgy and potential products, we also rely ondraecrets, including unpatented know-how,
technology and other proprietary information, taimtein our competitive position. We seek to protbetse trade secrets, in part, by entering
into nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements withiparivho have access to them, such as our employ@g®rate collaborators, outs
scientific collaborators, contract manufacturem)sultants, advisors and other third parties. WWe ahter into confidentiality and invention or
patent assignment agreements with our employeesargliltants that obligate them to assign theiemions to us. Despite these efforts, any
of these parties may breach the agreements arlds#sour proprietary information, including ourdeasecrets, and we may not be able to
obtain adequate remedies for these breaches. Atteety, if a third party alleges that any of ounoyees or consultants has breached
confidentiality obligations to our benefit, we miagve to defend against allegations of trade setisgtppropriation.

Enforcing or defending a claim that a party illdgalisclosed or misappropriated a trade secreiffisult, expensive and time-consuming, and
the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, sometsdaside and outside the United States are ldagvor unwilling to protect trade secrets.
Further, if any of our trade secrets were to bdu#iyvobtained or independently developed by a cetitpr, we would have no right to prevent
that competitor from using that technology or imfi@ation to compete with us. If any of our trade sexwere to be disclosed to or
independently developed by a competitor, our coitipetposition would be harmed.

We rely in part on trademarks to distinguish ourguiucts and services from those of other entitiemdemarks may be opposed or cancelled
and we may be involved in lawsuits or other procegd to protect or enforce our trademarks.

We rely on trademarks, in the United States argkitain foreign jurisdictions, to distinguish oungucts and services in the minds of
consumers and our business partners from thoster entities. Third parties may challenge our pegnérademark applications through
opposition proceedings in the U.S., or comparabdegedings in foreign jurisdictions, in which thegek to prevent registration of a mark. Our
registered trademarks may be subject to cancellatioceedings in the U.S., or comparable procesdmépreign jurisdictions, in which a thi
party seeks to cancel an existing registrationeffiorce our trademark rights, we may be involvethmsuits or other proceedings which could
be expensive, time-consuming and uncertain.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock and Liquidity Ri&s

We have a limited trading history and there is nesarance that an active market in our common staeld continue at present levels or
increase in the future.

There is limited trading history in our common #toand although our common stock is now tradecherNYSE MKT, there is no assurance

that an active market in our common stock will dome at present levels or increase in the futuseaesult, an investor may find it difficult to
dispose of our common stock. This factor limitslilgaidity of our common stock, and may have a matadverse effect on the market price

of our common stock and on our ability to raiseitioldal capital.

Compliance with the reporting requirements of fe@isecurities laws can be expensive.

We are a public reporting company in the Unitede3taand accordingly, subject to the informatiod eeporting requirements of the Exchange
Act and other federal securities laws, including tompliance obligations of the Sarbaf@edey Act. The costs of complying with the repog
requirements of the federal securities laws, inidlggreparing and filing annual and quarterly rép@and other information with the SEC and
furnishing audited reports to stockholders, casudestantial.

If we fail to comply with the rules of Section 4@f the Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 related to accounting controlsdaprocedures, or, if we
discover material weaknesses and deficiencies iniaternal control and accounting procedures, we mae subject to sanctions by
regulatory authorities and our stock price could de.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“the Acgquires that we evaluate and determine the effsoéis's of our internal control over
financial reporting and, beginning with this anntegort for the fiscal year ending March 31, 20hé, Act requires an attestation and report b
our external auditing firm on our internal contosler financial reporting. We believe our system pramtess evaluation and testing comply
the management certification and auditor attesiagguirements of Section 404. We cannot be cetaiwever, that we will be able to satisfy
the requirements in Section 404 in all future pasicespecially as we grow our business. If we atehble to continue to meet the requirement:
of Section 404 in a timely manner or with adequatepliance, we may be subject to sanctions or trgegson by regulatory authorities, such
as the SEC or NYSE MKT. Any such action could adebr affect our financial results or investors’ fidance in us and could cause our stock
price to fall. Moreover, if we are not able to cdynwith the requirements of Section 404 in a timelgnner, or if we or our independent
registered public accounting firm identifies defieties in our internal controls that are deemdbtmaterial weaknesses, we may be requirec
to incur significant additional financial and maeatent resources to achieve compliance.

We may have undisclosed liabilities and any sudibiiities could harm our revenues, business, prosfse financial condition and results of
operations.

Prior to our reverse merger in February 2012, #set and liabilities of the public company shalleventually merged into were transferre
a split-off transaction (the “Split-Off") to a sapée entity (the “Split-Off Entity”) owned by theén outstanding stockholders of the public
company shell (the “Split-Off Stockholders”). Eviirough the pre-merger assets and liabilities wairgsterred to the Split-Off Entity in the
Split-Off, there can be no assurance that we wailllre liable for any or all of such liabilities. Yusuch liabilities that survived our reverse
merger could harm our revenues, business, prosgmeascial condition and results of operationsmpar acceptance of responsibility for si
liabilities. The transfer of the operating asseis Babilities to Split-Off Entity, coupled with éSplit-Off, will result in taxable income to us in
an amount equal to the difference between tharaiket value of the assets transferred and thenerger tax basis of the assets. Any gain
recognized, to the extent not offset by our netraiieg loss carryforward, if any, will be subjeotfederal income tax at regular corporate
income tax rates.
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The price of our common stock may continue to beatite, which could lead to losses by investors arubtly securities litigation.
The trading price of our common stock is likelyb® highly volatile and could fluctuate in respotséactors such as:
. actual or anticipated variations in our operatieguits;
. announcements of developments by us or our corps!
. regulatory actions regarding our produr
. reduced government funding for research and dewsop activities
. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifie@quisitions, strategic partnerships, joint uees or capital commitment
. adoption of new accounting standards affectingiodustry;
. additions or departures of key personi
. introduction of new products by us or our compesit
. sales of our common stock or other securities énafpen marke:
. degree of coverage of securities analysts and t®pad recommendations issued by securities asakygarding our busines
. volume fluctuations in the trading of our commoaockt and
. other events or factors, many of which are beyamdcontrol.
The stock market is subject to significant price anlume fluctuations. In the past, following petsoof volatility in the market price of a
company’s securities, securities class actionditan has often been initiated against such a cagngatigation initiated against us, whether or

not successful, could result in substantial costsdiversion of our management’s attention anduesss, which could harm our business and
financial condition.

Investors may experience dilution of their ownerghinterests because of the future issuance of aiddial shares of our capital stocl

We are authorized to issue 150,000,000 sharesnaoinom stock and 25,000,000 shares of preferred séackf March 31, 2014, there were an
aggregate of 89,515,576 shares of our common $sakd and outstanding on a fully diluted basisrmmdhares of preferred stock
outstanding. That total for our common stock inelsid 0,207,181 shares of our common stock that magshied upon the exercise of
outstanding stock options, and 1,194,756 sharesio€ommon stock that may be issued upon the eseeofioutstanding warrants.

In the future, we may issue additional authorizetigveviously unissued equity securities, resultimthe dilution of the ownership interests of
our present stockholders. We may also issue additshares of our capital stock or other securitias are convertible into or exercisable for
our capital stock in connection with presently tartsling warrants, hiring or retaining employee$yifet acquisitions, future sales of our
securities for capital raising purposes, or foreothusiness purposes. The future issuance of aryagiditional shares of capital stock may
create downward pressure on the trading price o€ommon stock. There can be no assurance thatilweotvbe required to issue additional
shares, warrants or other convertible securitigbérfuture in conjunction with any capital raisiefforts, including at a price (or exercise
prices) below the price at which shares of our camistock is currently traded on the NYSE MKT.

Our common stock is subject to trading risks credtey the influence of third party investor websites

Our common stock is widely traded and held by r@taestors, and these investors are subject tinfheence of information provided by third
party investor websites and independent authotshiising information on the
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internet. This information has become influentiat@use it is widely distributed and links to it appas top company headlines on commonly
used stock quote and finance websites, or throaglices such as Google alerts. These emergingnirfiton distribution models are a
consequence of the emergence of the internet. $dorenation and content distribution is by indivala through platforms that mainly serve
hosts seeking advertising revenue. As such, wevmhn incentive exists for these sites to incradsertising revenue by increasing page
views, and for them to post or allow to be postdthmmatory information to achieve this end. It bagn our experience that a significant
portion of the information on these websites otritigted by independent authors about our Comparfigise or misleading, and occasionally,
we believe, purposefully misleading. These sitasiaternet distribution strategies also create ojymity for individuals to pursue both “pump
and dump” and “short and distort” strategies. Wkele that many of these websites have little oreguirements for authors to have
professional qualifications. While these sites siimes require disclosure of stock positions by artghas far as we are aware these sites do r
audit the accuracy of such conflict of interestltisures. We believe that many of these websites feav or lax editorial standards, and thin ol
non-existent editorial staffs. Despite our besbreéf, we have not and may not be able in the futuabtain corrections to information provided
on these websites about our Company, including posiitive and negative information, and any corosc that are obtained may not be
achieved prior to the majority of audience impressibeing formed for a given article. These coaodgicreate volatility and risk for holders of
our common stock and should be considered by iov@siVe can make no guarantees that regulatorpatigis will take action on these types
of activities, and we cannot guarantee that letpsdawill act responsively, or ever act at allafpropriately restrict the activities of these
websites and authors.

Our common stock is controlled by insiders.

Our current executive officers and directors benally own approximately 14% of our outstanding r&saof common stock, as of March 31,
2014. Although we are not aware of any voting ageaments between our officers and directors, sunberttrated control may adversely affect
the price of our common stock. Investors who a@gairr common stock may have no effective voicd@rhanagement of our operations.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foresedledture.

We have paid no dividends on our common stock te dad it is not anticipated that any dividends kel paid to holders of our common stock
in the foreseeable future. While our future dividgolicy will be based on the operating results eaypital needs of our business, it is currently
anticipated that any earnings will be retainednarice our future expansion and for the implemémaif our business plan. As an investor,
you should take note of the fact that a lack oiveddnd can further affect the market value of stack, and could significantly affect the va

of any investment.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documardnd Delaware law may discourage or prevent a ojpamf control, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholdemshich could affect our stock price adversely apoevent attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpiovisions that could delay or prevent a changeootrol of our company or changes in our
board of directors that our stockholders might aersfavorable. Some of these provisions:

. authorize the issuance of preferred stock whaithbe created and issued by the board of dieetithout prior stockholder
approval, with rights senior to those of the comratotk;

. provide for a classified board of directors, widtth director serving a staggered tlyear term
. prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacéx; calling special stockholder meetings, or tgkintion by written consent; al

. require advance written notice of stockholder psat® and director nominatior
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In addition, we are subject to the provisions oft®® 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Latich may prohibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could makadre difficult for stockholders or potential agepus to obtain control of our board of
directors or initiate actions that are opposed lnytben-current board of directors, including detgyor impeding a merger, tender offer, or
proxy contest involving our company. Any delay oeyention of a change of control transaction omgjes in our board of directors could
cause the market price of our common stock to decli

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

In February 2012, we entered into a lease for ew corporate headquarters at 6275 Nancy Ridge PSuie 110, San Diego, CA 92121. The
leased facility includes approximately 15,539 sgqueet, including approximately 6,400 square fééalmoratory space. The base rent unde
lease is approximately $38,800 per month with 3¥tuahescalators. The lease term is 48 months witbpéion for the Company to extend the
lease at the end of the lease term for an addltRanonths. On December 5, 2013, we entered ifiosh Amendment to that lease agreemen
that expanded the size of our facility by approxiehal5,268 square feet for a total of approxima88,807 square feet. The amended lease
provides for base rent (i) on the Original Premisesontinue at approximately $38,800 per montlthwhnual escalators, until August 1, 2C
at which point the base rent shall be payableeas#ime rate per rentable square foot as the expamsimises and (ii) on the expansion
premises of approximately $38,934 per month, withaéhnual escalators, not to commence until two hoafter the earlier of (A) the date t
the landlord delivers possession of the expansiemises to the Company with the work in the expamb premises substantially complete
and (B) the date the landlord could have delivéhedexpansion premises with the work in the expankib premises substantially complete
but for certain delays of the Company. Additionathe Company has a right of first refusal on agljg@dditional premises of approximately
14,500 square feet. The term of the amended legses on the seven-year anniversary of the easfi¢h) the date that the landlord delivers
possession of the expansion premises to us anithéR)ate the landlord could have delivered the esipa premises but for certain delays we
created. We have the option to terminate the anteledse on the $ear anniversary of the expansion premises commestiedate. We inter
for the expansion premises to contain office, labany, and clean room areas.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

See Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Fiah&tatements contained within this Annual ReparForm 10-K for a further discussion of
our legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.
Market Information for Common Stock

On February 8, 2012, Organovo, Inc., a privateld ielaware corporation, merged with and into OmenAcquisition Corp., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, a publicly trabetaware corporation, with Organovo, Inc. survivthg merger as a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). Organdiadings, Inc. commenced trading on the QB tiethef OTC on February 15, 2012, and
upgraded from the QB to the QX tier of the OTC artdder 8, 2012. On July 11, 2013, the Compsusyiares began trading on the NYSE N
under the symbol “ONVO”.

The following table sets forth, on a per sharedydsi the periods indicated, the high and lowdridales prices of our common stock.

Year Ended March 31, 201 High Low
Fourth Quarter $12.3¢ $7.12
Third Quartel $13.6¢ $5.3¢
Second Quarte $ 8.5C $3.6¢
First Quartel $ 5.1C $3.27
2013 High Low
Three Months Ended March 31, 2013 $ 6.3¢5 $2.3¢
Year Ended December 31, 20 High Low
Fourth Quarter $ 3.3¢ $1.8C
Third Quartel $ 4.45 $1.4¢
Second Quarte $10.9( $2.0C
First Quarter (commencing February 15, 2C $ 2.6 $1.24

As of March 31, 2014, we had 78,113,639 outstandiges of common stock, with a closing price 06&per share. On this date, there were
146 holders of record and approximately 61,161 olojecting beneficial owners of the Company’s comratmtk.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retdifiudure earnings, if any, for use in our
business and do not anticipate paying any cashetis on our common stock in the foreseeable future
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Performance Graph

This performance graph is furnished and shall rtleemed “filed” with the SEC or subject to Secti@wof the Exchange Act, nor shall it be
deemed incorporated by reference in any of ourddiunder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The graph set forth below compares our total stoleldr returns since we commenced trading on Feprl&r2012 through March 31, 2014 to
two indices: the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NDA®) Biotechnology Index. This graph assumes thestment of $100 on

February 15, 2012 in our common stock, the NASDA@n@osite Index and the NASDAQ Biotech Index, arsliases the reinvestment of
dividends. No cash dividends have been declar@aidron our common stock. The comparisons in taplgbelow are required by the SEC

and are not intended to forecast or be indicatfygossible future performance of our common staecid we do not make or endorse any
predictions as to future stockholder returns.

Stock Price Performance Graph
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February 1¢ March 31 March 31 March 31

2012 2012 2013 2014
Organovo Holdings, Inc. — ONVO 100.0( 149.7( 223.0¢ 463.0¢
NASDAQ Composite— IXIC 100.0( 106.0: 112.0¢ 144.0:
NASDAQ Biotechnology— NBI 100.0( 102.2¢ 133.2¢ 197.0¢
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Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes information abow @ompany’s equity compensation plans by type &davth 31, 2014 (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Number of
securities to be
issued upon
exercise/vesting
of outstanding
options, warrant Weighted averag Number of
securities availab
units and rights exercise price
Plan categor (1) (1) for future issuanc
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsld 6,249,75! $ 4.8: 4,271,229
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers — — —

(1) Does not include outstanding restricted stock u
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data (in thousands exceper share data)

You should read the following selected consoliddieancial data in conjunction with our consolidafenancial statements, the notes to the
consolidated financial statements and Item 7—‘Mamagnt’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cdodiand Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this report. The selectedalitiated financial data included in this sectiom mot intended to replace the consolidated
financial statements and the related notes incledeelvhere in this report.

On March 31, 2013, our board of directors appravetiange in our fiscal year end from December ®®1starch 31st. As a result of this
change, we filed a Transition Report on Form 10-&fTthe three-month transition period ended Ma&8th2013. References to any of our pre-
2013 fiscal years mean the fiscal years ending ecehber 31st.

The table below shows selected consolidated fimhdeita. The consolidated statements of operatiatesfor the year ended March 31, 2014,
the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012hangkars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 amdiselidated balance sheet data at
March 31, 2014, March 31, 2013, and December 312 20e derived from our consolidated financialestants included elsewhere in this
report. The consolidated statements of operatiate for the years ended December 31, 2010 and @@¢he consolidated balance sheet dat:
as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are defiigedour consolidated financial statements notudel in this report. The historical rest
presented below are not necessarily indicativénafiicial results to be achieved in future periods.

Three Month

Three Month Year Year Year Year

Year Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
Ended Ended March 31, December 3. December 3: December 3: December 3.

March 31, March 31, 2012
2014 2013 (unaudited 2012 2011 2010 2009
Selected Consolidated Statement «
Operations Data:
Revenue $ 37¢ $ 21t $ 12C $ 1,19 $ 96¢ $ 602 $ 79
Operating los: $ (20649 $ 4,02y $ @32) $ 9,319 $ (2309 $ @179 $ (793
Net loss $ (2584) $ (16,120 $ (37,08) $ (4355) $ (438) $ (133) $ (872)
Loss per share, basic and dilu $ 03y % 0.2¢) $ a1y s 1.0) % 019 $ 0.09 $ (0.0¢)
Weighted average shares outstanding, t
and dilutec 73,139,61 61,750,15 31,591,66 43,149,65 22,925,69 14,620,14 14,426,25
March 31, December 3: December 3: December 3: December 3:
March 31, March 31, 2012
2014 2013 (unaudited 2012 2011 2010 2009
Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet Dai

Working capital (deficit $  47,26¢ $ 7,762 $ 9,72¢ $ (6,169 $ (94€) $ (749 % (217
Total asset $ 50,18¢ $ 17,37¢ $ 11,24 $ 16,74¢ $ 1,40¢ $ 76C $ 49¢
Long-term liabilities $ 9 $ 24 $ 47,51¢ $ 17 $ 1,267 $ 1,88¢ $ 1,09t
Stockholder equity (deficit) $ 4828 % 896¢ $ (37,38) $ (5,309 $ 83 $ (2300 $ (966€)
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following management’s discussion and anabyfsigancial condition and results of operation®ald be read in conjunction with
our historical consolidated financial statementslahe related notes. This management’s discussidraaalysis contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintieshsas statements of our plans, objectives, expentaaind intentions. Any statements that are
not statements of historical fact are forward-laukistatements. These forward-looking statementswvgct to risks and uncertainties that
could cause our actual results or events to diffiaterially from those expressed or implied by thevard-looking statement. Factors that
could cause or contribute to such differences ide|lbut are not limited to, those identified beknvd those discussed in the section entitled
“Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annualf®et. Except as required by applicable law we douttdertake any obligation to update
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstaroccurring after the date of this Annual Report.

The management’s discussion and analysis of fiaaoondition and results of operations is basedan consolidated financial
statements, which we have prepared in accordanteWs. generally accepted accounting principldse Preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and atisasithat affect the reported amounts of assetkliabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date ef¢bnsolidated financial statements, as well agdiperted revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evalisateh estimates and judgments, including thoseritbescin greater detail below. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on waiother factors that we believe are reasonablesutite circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the d¢agyalue of assets and liabilities that are ncaddy apparent from other sources. C
actual results may differ from these estimates udd&rent assumptions or conditions.

Overview

We are a development-stage company focused onaggngland commercializing functional human tisstires can be employed in drug
discovery and development, biological research,amtherapeutic implants for the treatment of dadag degenerating tissues and organs.
We intend to introduce a paradigm shift in the apph to the generation of three-dimensional hunsanés, by utilizing our proprietary
platform technology to create human tissue con&trimc3D that mimic native human tissue compositiod architecture. We believe we will
improve the current industry standard cell-basqad@ches to drug discovery and development, bytingeaD tissues constructed solely of
human cells. We believe our foundational approadhé 3D printing of living tissues, as disclosegeer-reviewed scientific publications, and
the continuous evolution of our core bioengineetawhnology platform combine to provide us with dpgortunity to fill many critical gaps in
commercially available preclinical human tissue elod) and tissue transplantation.

Reverse Merger Transaction

On February 8, 2012 (the “Closing Date”), Organéwgjuisition Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of @rmpvo Holdings, Inc. (“the
Company”), merged (the “Merger”) with and into Ongao, Inc., a privately held Delaware corporatid@rganovo”). Organovo was the
surviving corporation of that Merger, and becanvéhally-owned subsidiary of the Company. As a restithe Merger, the Company acquired
the business of Organovo, and has continued tlgirgibusiness operations of Organovo.

Simultaneously with the Merger, on the Closing Datkof the issued and outstanding shares of Qrgaccommon stock converted, on a
1 for 1 basis, into shares of the Company’s comsiook, par value $0.001 per share (“Common Sto@{%o on the Closing Date, all of the
issued and outstanding options to purchase sha@gyanovo Common Stock, all of the issued andtaoting Bridge Warrants (as defined
below) to purchase shares of Organovo Common Ssoakpther outstanding warrants to purchase Orga@avnmon Stock converted,
respectively, into options (the “New Options”), nbwdge warrants (the “New Bridge Warrants”) anevnvearrants (the “New Warrants”) to
purchase shares of Common Stock on a 1 for 1 bEsésNew Options are being administered under Qrgais 2008 Equity Incentive Plan
(the “2008 Plan”), which the Company assumed amgedi on the Closing Date in connection with thedée.
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Specifically, on the Closing Date, (i) 22,445,25%®s of Common Stock were issued to former Orgastackholders; (i) New Options
to purchase 896,256 shares of Common Stock gramiger the 2008 Plan were issued to optionees mirsnghe assumption of the 2008 P
(iii) New Warrants to purchase 1,309,750 shareSarhmon Stock at $1.00 per share were issued t@folf Organovo warrants; and
(iv) New Bridge Warrants to purchase 1,500,000shaf Common Stock at $1.00 per share were issuBddge Investors (as defined belo

Additionally, New Warrants to purchase 100,000 shaxf Common Stock at $1.00 per share were issuaddrmer note holder of
Organovo in connection with the repayment at thasidg Date of a promissory note in the principabant of $100,000.

The Merger was treated as a recapitalization ofbpany for financial accounting purposes. Theohisal financial statements of
Organovo Holdings, Inc. before the Merger wereaegtl with the historical financial statements of@rovo before the Merger.

In connection with the Merger, Organovo Holdings;.1s Board of Directors and stockholders adopted2012 Equity Incentive Plan
(the “2012 Plan”). The 2012 Plan, as amended, ges/for the issuance of up to 11,553,986 sharegymoximately 15% of our March 31,
2014 outstanding Common Stock, to executive officdirectors, advisory board members, consultardseaployees. In addition, we assumet
and adopted the 2008 Plan, and as described alptioe@ diolders under that plan were granted Newddgtio purchase Common Stock. No
further options will be granted under the 2008 PTeme parties have taken all actions necessarggore that the Merger was treated as a tax
free exchange under Section 368(a) of the IntdReaknue Code of 1986, as amended.

As of May 30, 2014, the Company had 78,276,250 issaed and outstanding shares of Common Stockfiam year warrants for the
opportunity to purchase an additional 1,086,109eshaf Common Stock at exercise prices ranging 8085 to $7.36 per share. The
Company had outstanding stock options to purchasmgregate of 6,126,652 shares of Common Stoekedtise prices ranging from $0.0¢
$11.90 and 573,475 outstanding restricted stodswith each unit representing the right to reeeine share of Common Stock.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements, which appeder Item 8 of Part I, have been prepared im@tamce with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, whichiredbat we make certain assumptions and estinaatgsin connection therewith, adopt
certain accounting policies. Our significant acdaingpolicies are set forth in Note 2 to our coigated financial statements. Of those policies
we believe that the policies discussed below maglie a higher degree of judgment and may be migtiead to an accurate reflection of our
financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Through March 31, 2014, the Company’s revenues haea derived from collaborative research agreesngrants from the National
Institute of Health (“NIH"), U.S. Treasury Departnteand private not-for-profit organizations, as vee the sale of bioprinter related products
and services, and license agreements.

The Company recognizes revenue when the followritgria have been met: (i) persuasive evidencenareangement exists; (ii) servic
have been rendered or product has been delivaiiggrice to the customer is fixed and determirgaland (iv) collection of the underlying
receivable is reasonably assured.

Billings to customers or payments received fromamers are included in deferred revenue on thenbalaheet until all revenue
recognition criteria are met.
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Product Revenue

The Company recognizes product revenue at thedfrshipment to the customer, provided all otheereie recognition criteria have
been met. The Company recognizes product reverp@sshipment to customers, provided that (i) theepis substantially fixed or
determinable at the time of sale; (ii) the custdmebligation to pay the Company is not continggmbn resale of the products; (iii) title and
risk of loss passes to the customer at time ofiséiy; (iv) the customer has economic substance &par that provided by the Company;
(v) the Company has no significant obligation te tustomer to bring about resale of the producid;(ai) future returns can be reasonably
estimated. For any sales that do not meet all@atiove criteria, revenue is deferred until alhsagteria have been met.

Research and Development Revenue Under Collaberativeements

The Company’s collaboration revenue consists efise and collaboration agreements that contairipteutlements, including non-
refundable upfront fees, payments for reimburseroétitird-party research costs, payments for ongjogsearch, payments associated with
achieving specific development milestones and t@gbased on specified percentages of net pradies, if any. The Company considers a
variety of factors in determining the appropriatethod of revenue recognition under these arrangesnsuinch as whether the elements are
separable, whether there are determinable failegamd whether there is a unique earnings prossssiated with each element of a contract.

The Company recognizes revenue from research fgndider collaboration agreements when earned pnog6rtional performance”
basis as research hours are incurred. The Compaforms services as specified in each respectiveeagent on a best-efforts basis, and is
reimbursed based on labor hours incurred on eattnamt. The Company initially defers revenue foy amounts billed, or payments received,
in advance of the services being performed, anagrEzes revenue pursuant to the related patteperddrmance, based on total labor hours
incurred relative to total labor hours estimatedermthe contract.

Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables

The Company occasionally enters into revenue aemegts that contain multiple deliverables. Judgrmeerdgquired to properly identify
the accounting units of the multiple deliverabknsactions and to determine the manner in whickme® should be allocated among the
accounting units. Moreover, judgment is used ieroteting the commercial terms and determining wdlkeriteria of revenue recognition he
been met for each deliverable in order for reveiegegnition to occur in the appropriate accounfiegod. For multiple deliverable
agreements, consideration is allocated at the tiwrepf the agreement to all deliverables basetheir relative selling price. The relative
selling price for each deliverable is determineithgd/endor Specific Objective Evidence (VSOE) dfiag price or third-party evidence of
selling price if VSOE does not exist. If neither @B nor third-party evidence of selling price existe Company uses its best estimate of the
selling price for the deliverable.

The Company recognizes revenue for delivered elesrarly when it determines there are no unceresmegarding customer
acceptance. While changes in the allocation oathengement consideration between the units ofiatoa will not affect the amount of total
revenue recognized for a particular sales arrangeraay material changes in these allocations ciwojhct the timing of revenue recognition,
which could affect the Company’s results of operai

Grant Revenues

Revenues from grants are based upon internal drabstractor costs incurred that are specificallyeced by the grants, and where
applicable, an additional facilities and administarate that provides funding for overhead expen3hese revenues are recognized as gran
related expenses are incurred by the Company sulisontractors.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

When we begin to sell commercial product we expeetstablish a reserve for estimated sales retbaisvill be recorded as a reduction
to revenue. That reserve will be maintained to antfor future return of products sold in the catrperiod. The reserve will be reviewed
quarterly and will be estimated based on an arebfsour historical experience related to prodettms.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company does not use derivative instrumentedye exposures to cash flow, market or foreigrecgy risks.

The Company reviews the terms of convertible dalbtequity instruments it issues to determine whetthere are derivative instruments,
including an embedded conversion option that isiired to be bifurcated and accounted for separat®ely derivative financial instrument. In
circumstances where the convertible instrumentainatmore than one embedded derivative instrunmaitiding the conversion option, that is
required to be bifurcated, the bifurcated derivaiivstruments are accounted for as a single, contpdarivative instrument. Also, in
connection with the sale of convertible debt anditygnstruments, the Company may issue freestandiarrants that may, depending on their
terms, be accounted for as derivative instrumatillties, rather than as equity.

Derivative instruments are initially recorded at falue and are then revalued at each reportitg wéh changes in the fair value
reported as non-operating income or expense. Wieeodnvertible debt or equity instruments contambedded derivative instruments that are
to be bifurcated and accounted for as liabilitths, total proceeds allocated to the convertiblé imssruments are first allocated to the fair ve
of all the bifurcated derivative instruments. Thenaining proceeds, if any, are then allocatedeéactinvertible instruments themselves, usually
resulting in those instruments being recordeddiseount from their face value.

Fair Value Measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are measurediavdtue, which is defined as the exchange prieg¢ would be received for an asset or |
to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the peipal or most advantageous market for the asd@hnlity in an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date. Matutdchniques used to measure fair value mustmagithe use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The follgnis a fair value hierarchy based on three legélaputs, of which the first two are
considered observable and the last unobservalaemntay be used to measure fair value:

» Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

» Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are@bable, either directly or indirectly, such astga prices for similar assets or liabilities;
guoted prices in markets that are not active; beoinputs that are observable or can be corrobdiay observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or lidigi.

e Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are suppbielittle or no market activity and that are sfgrant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities.

The Company has issued warrants, of which somelassified as derivative liabilities as a resulthed terms in the warrants that provide
for down-round protection in the event of a diletigsuance. The Company uses Level 3 inputs fealtsation methodology for the warrant
derivative liabilities. The estimated fair valueeres determined using a Monte Carlo option priciraggel based on various assumptions. The
Company’s derivative liabilities are adjusted thaet estimated fair value at each period end, witli decrease or increase in the estimated fe
value being recorded in other income or expenserdogly, as adjustments to fair value of derivatiiabilities. Various factors are considerec
in the pricing models we use to value the warrantduding the Company’s current stock price, theaining life of the warrants, the volatility
of the Company’s stock price,
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and the risk free interest rate. Future changéisase factors will have a significant impact on ¢benputed fair value of the warrant liability.
such, we expect future changes in the fair valud®fvarrants to continue to vary significantlyrfrquarter to quarter.

Stock-Based Compensation

For purposes of calculating stock-based compensatie estimate the fair value of stock options gsirBlack-Scholes option-pricing
model. The determination of the fair value of sHaased payment awards utilizing the Black-Scholedehis affected by our stock price and a
number of assumptions, including expected volgfiktxpected life, risk-free interest rate and exgeclividends. The expected volatility is
based on the historical volatility of our commoacst over the most recent period commensurate Wwetestimated expected term of the stock
options. The expected life of the stock optionisdased on historical and other economic data treimedhe future. The risk-free interest rate
assumption is based on observed interest ratesage for the expected terms of our stock optidine dividend yield assumption is based
on our history and expectation of no dividend pagoli factors change and we employ different aggions, stock-based compensation
expense may differ significantly from what we hageorded in the past. If there is a difference ketwthe assumptions used in determining
stock-based compensation expense and the acttaisfachich become known over time, specificallyhwiéspect to anticipated forfeitures, we
may change the input factors used in determiniagkdbased compensation costs for future grants. THeseges, if any, may materially imp
our results of operations in the period such chamge made.

Results of Operations
Overview

Organovo was founded in Delaware in April 2007.i¥ities since the Company’s inception through Magdh 2014 were devoted
primarily to developing a platform technology fboetgeneration of functional human tissues thateaemployed in drug discovery and
development, biological research, and as therapeugilants for the treatment of damaged or degeingréissues and organs, raising capital
and building infrastructure. The Company has nalized significant revenues from its planned ppatioperations. Accordingly, the Comps
is considered to be in the development stage.

Change in Fiscal Year End

On March 31, 2013, the Board of Directors of therfpany (the “Board”) approved a change in the Comisdiscal year end from
December 31st to March 31st. As a result of thenge, the Company filed a Transition Report on Fb@aiKT for the three-month transition
period ended March 31, 2013. References to anuiopee-2013 years mean the fiscal years ending iDeee31.

Comparison of the years ended March 31, 2014 anc¢®uber 31, 2012
Revenues

Revenues of $0.4 million for the year ended Marth2014 decreased approximately $0.8 million, &wp@ver revenues of $1.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. This decreéflsets the completion or declining activity undleo previous collaborative research
agreements since 2012, partially offset by increpsévenue contributions from three new collabeeatesearch agreements.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased approximately $10li&mior 100%, from $10.5 million for the year exdilDecember 31, 2012 to $21.0
million for the year ended March 31, 2014. Of tihisrease, $5.9 million is related to increasedrsgligeneral and administrative expense,
while the other $4.6 million relates to increaseebistment in research and development expenseeTihargases are attributed to the
Company’s continued
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implementation of its business plan, includingrigradditional staff to support its research andetigyment initiatives, incremental investment
associated with commercialization project initiaBy expenses related to operating as a publidgdraorporation, expansion to a larger
facility, and increased stock compensation expegisg¢ive to employees and certain consulting sestic

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expense increased $ddhior 135%, from approximately $3.4 million ftve year ended December 31,
2012 to approximately $8.0 million for the year eddvarch 31, 2014 as the Company significantlyeased its research staff to support its
obligations under certain collaborative researdle@gents and grants, and to expand product develapsfforts in preparation for commert
revenues. Full-time research and development stafficreased from nineteen full-time employeesfd3ezember 31, 2012 to thirty-two full-
time employees as of March 31, 2014. In additioth&incremental payroll, benefits and stock-baedpensation resulting from increased
staffing levels, the Company increased its facBiyace to accommodate its growing research staffjrcreased its spending on lab equipmen
and supplies in proportion to its increased reseactivities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses iseapproximately $5.9 million, or 83%, from $7.illion for the year ended
December 31, 2012 to $13.0 million for the yearezhiflarch 31, 2014. Increased staffing expensepmbaimately $1.5 million was due to
the headcount increase from ten full-time employsesesf December 31, 2012 to thirteen full-time esgpks as of March 31, 2014, to provide
strategic infrastructure in developing collaboratielationships and preparing for commercializatbproducts and services, and to addres
additional compliance requirements of operating psblicly traded corporation. In addition, the yeaded March 31, 2014 includes $1.2
million more in payroll taxes related to the vegtof restricted stock units the Company previoggbnted to certain of its executives. Stock-
based compensation costs also increased approkrat® million due to additional grants to emplegeand consultants as well as an overall
increase in the Company’s stock price. The remainfithe increase is primarily due to non-recurrixgernal fees and expenses incurred
during the year ended March 31, 2014 related t&Cthmpany’s up-listing to the NYSE MKT and its comgdn of a secondary public offering
during the year.

Other Income (Expense)

The $29.0 million decrease in other expenses apared to the year ended December 31, 2012 was filsirdae to the inclusion of one-
time non-cash transaction costs associated witM#rger and 2012 Private Placements in other expénsng 2012, including approximately
$19.0 million of expense for the excess of the ¥alue of warrant liabilities over proceeds recdiv@2.1 million of financing costs in excess of
proceeds received and $1.0 million in interest espdrom the accretion of debt discount and anatitin of deferred financing costs related tc
the 2011 Private Placement, the Merger and the B@il2te Placement. In addition, $1.9 million operse was recorded in 2012 for the loss
on inducement to exercise warrants under a terfélara@mpleted during the year. Finally, non-caghense related to the change in fair value
of warrant liabilities decreased by approximatedy8million, due to fewer warrants outstanding &slarch 31, 2014.

Various factors are considered in the pricing medet use to value the warrants, including the Camyjgecurrent stock price, the
remaining life of the warrants, the volatility ¢fe Company’s stock price, and the risk free intenate. Future changes in these factors may
have a significant impact on the computed fair gafithe warrant liability. As such, we expect fetehanges in the fair value of the warrants
to continue to vary significantly from quarter toagter.
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Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2@l 2012
Revenues

Revenues of $0.2 million for the three months erddadch 31, 2013 increased approximately $0.1 mmijlior nearly 100%, over revent
of approximately $0.1 million for the three montheded March 31, 2012. That increase can be atdiot $0.1 million of grant revenue
during the three months ended March 31, 2013, whdeCompany had no active grants or grant revdaoteg the three months ended
March 31, 2012.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased approximately $21®mibr 200%, from $1.4 million for the three mbatended March 31, 2012 to $4.2
million for the three months ended March 31, 20@8Bthis increase, $1.9 million is related to ined selling, general and administrative
expense while the other $0.9 million relates tgéased investment in research and developmenteThe®ases are attributed to the
Company’s continued implementation of its busir@as, including hiring additional staff to suppogsearch and development initiatives,
incremental investment associated with strategievgt and commercialization project initiatives, erpes related to operating as a publicly
traded corporation, relocation to a larger facjland increased stock compensation expense retater@ployees and certain consulting
services.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expense increased $0c¢hiror 180%, from $0.5 million for the three mhatended March 31, 2012 to $1.4
million for the three months ended March 31, 2043h& Company more than doubled its researchtstatipport its obligations under certain
collaborative research agreements and governmantgjrand to expand product development efforpgéparation for research-derived
revenues. Full-time research and development stafficreased from ten full-time employees as ofdaé81, 2012 to twenty-one full-time
employees as of March 31, 2013. In addition toiiceemental payroll, benefits and stock-based caorsaion resulting from increased staffing
levels, the Company relocated its facilities tocamwmodate its growing research staff, and incredsegpending on lab equipment and supplies
in proportion to its increased research activities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses ise&1.9 million, or 211%, from $0.9 million foretithree months ended March 31,
2012 to $2.8 million for the three months ended die81, 2013. Increased staffing expenses of apmabely $0.6 million included full-time
administrative headcount which was increased friemfiill-time employees to nine full-time employeaxluding the addition of two
executives, to provide strategic infrastructurdéveloping collaborative relationships and prepanaior commercialization of research based
product introductions and to address the additicnaipliance requirements of becoming a publiclddchcorporation. In addition, stock-based
compensation costs increased due to approxima®edyriillion in additional grants to employees, apgproximately $0.3 million for the
revaluation of restricted common stock issued twsatiants during the three months ended March @13 2Finally, the Company incurred
approximately $0.3 million more in external expenssated to becoming a publicly traded corporatiocluding SEC financial reporting,
investor relations, corporate governance, and deeg.

Other Income (Expense)

The $23.7 million decrease in other expenses apared to the three months ended March 31, 2012viasrily due to the inclusion of
one-time non-cash transaction costs associatedtgtMerger and 2012 Private Placements in otheerese during the first quarter of 2012,
including approximately $19.0 million of expense floe excess of the fair value of warrant liakktiover proceeds received, $2.1 million of
financing costs in excess of proceeds receivedbar@million in interest expense from the accretibdebt discount and amortization of
deferred financing costs related to the 2011 Reidhicement, the Merger and the 2012 Private
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Placement. The nocash expense related to the change in fair valweaafant liabilities decreased by approximatelys$illion, due in part t
fewer warrants outstanding as of March 31, 201t&rést expense of less than $0.1 million for tmed¢hmonths ended March 31, 2013 is
primarily related to the modification of certain mant agreements during the period.

Various factors are considered in the pricing medet use to value the warrants, including the Campjgecurrent stock price, the
remaining life of the warrants, the volatility dfet Company’s stock price, and the risk free intenae. Future changes in these factors may
have a significant impact on the computed fair gatithe warrant liability. As such, we expect f@ehanges in the fair value of the warrants
to continue to vary significantly from quarter toagter.

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2012201
Revenues

2012 total revenues of $1.2 million increased $filllon, or 20%, over 2011 revenues of $1.0 millidiat increase was due to a $0.3
million increase in collaborative agreement revenaad a $0.1 million increase in grant revenuadjglly offset by a $0.2 million reduction
product revenues.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased approximately $71Bmibr 218%, in 2012 over 2011, from $3.3 million2011 to $10.5 million in
2012. Most significantly, relative to the prior yethe Company invested in infrastructure and detsiervices to support its transition from
private ownership to a publicly owned and tradegbomtion. As expected in such transition, incretakinitiatives were established in inves
outreach, corporate governance, and SEC finarejalrting. Non-payroll related incremental publiengzany expenses incurred in 2012 were
approximately $3.2 million. Moreover, the Companyested in building its executive, research anceligment staff, increasing payroll
related expenses by $2.0 million or 154% over 2&bin $1.3 million to $3.3 million. The increasepayroll-related expenses accounted for
approximately 28% of total year-to-year increaseperating expenses. Stock-based compensation sxjpwreased by approximately
$1.4 million compared to the prior year under tB&2 Equity Incentive Plan with awards granted eglab increased headcount in line with
expanded operations. Additionally, the Company obdated and relocated its facilities to a largesicee to accommodate its growing research
operations staff at an incremental cost over 2GHpproximately $0.3 million.

Research and Development Expenses

2012 research and development expenses of $3iédmiilicreased by approximately $2.0 million, or #l3ver 2011 expenses of
$1.4 million as the Company increased its resestaffito support its obligations under certain @btirative research agreements and to expar
product development efforts in preparation for aesk-derived revenues. Full-time research and dewetnt staffing increased from seven
scientists and engineers as of December 31, 20dibéteen as of December 31, 2012.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses grem 1.7 million in 2011 to $7.1 million in 2012y increase of $5.4 million or 318%.
Expense increases were driven by non-recurringgeisaissociated with the financing, increased plagmal facilities expenses and our
transition from operating in a private company eowinent to operating in a publicly traded corpanatiAs expected in such transition,
incremental initiatives were established in investatreach, corporate governance, and SEC finarepalrting. Nonpayroll related increment
public company expenses incurred in 2012 were apedely $3.2 million including non-recurring chagassociated with the Merger and the
Private Placements completed during the year. diitiad, expanded staff increased payroll and faegdiexpenses in 2012 over 2011 levels
general and administrative staff increasing fromr fiull-time employees as of December 31, 201 Etoftll-time employees as of
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December 31, 2012. This increase was primarilytdube addition of two executive positions and akmumber of accounting and
administrative staff. In addition, existing exeeetofficers received salary increases as approyetebBoard of Directors, reflecting the
increased responsibilities assumed as a resutairbing a publicly traded company and success @nthrinitiatives.

Other Income (Expense)

The $32.2 million increase in other expenses aganed to 2011 was primarily related to the non-c¢eetisaction costs associated with
the Merger, the 2012 Private Placement, and thaetenffer loss on the inducement to exercise wésrae completed in December 2012. We
issued warrants to purchase 6,099,195 shares @ooumon stock to the placement agent and warramqgarchase 15,247,987 of our common
stock to investors in the Private Placement. Theams issued to the placement agent and PrivateRient investors were determined to be
derivative liabilities as a result of the anti-dituin provisions in the warrant agreements that negylt in an adjustment to the warrant exercise
price. We revalue the derivative liability on eatlbsequent balance sheet date until the secuatigkich the derivatives liabilities relate are
exercised or expire. The fair value of warrantiliibs in excess of proceeds received was $191Bomj while the change in fair value of
warrant liabilities was $9.9 million. Financing tisaction costs in excess of proceeds received ftasillion, the loss on inducement to
exercise warrants under the Tender Offer was $1ll®m and our interest expense was $1.1 millid12 interest expense was primarily
comprised of non-cash components including acaretfalebt discounts and amortization of deferredricing costs. The $2.1 million of
interest expense in 2011 was primarily comprisedaof-cash components including $1.2 million in atization of debt discounts, $0.6 million
fair value of warrants issued in connection with #9011 Exchange Agreement (see Note 6) and amtostizaf deferred financing costs of $0.1
million.

Various factors are considered in the pricing meded use to value the warrants, including the Camwgacurrent stock price, the
remaining life of the warrants, the volatility ¢fe Company'’s stock price, and the risk free intenate. Future changes in these factors may
have a significant impact on the computed fair gatithe warrant liability. As such, we expect f@ehanges in the fair value of the warrants
to continue to vary significantly from quarter toagter.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since its inception, the Company has devoted fstsfprimarily to developing a platform technolofyy the generation of functional
human tissues that can be employed in drug disgauat development, biological research, and aspeeitic implants for the treatment of
damaged or degenerating tissues and organs, raapital and building infrastructure. The Compaayg hot realized significant revenues from
its planned principal operations. Accordingly, empany is considered to be in the developmengstag

Since inception, the Company has incurred negatigh flows from operations. As of March 31, 20h&, Company had cash and cash
equivalents of $48.2 million and an accumulatedaitedf $92.2 million. The Company also had negatbash flows from operations of $15.6
million, $2.8 million, $3.6 million, $9.7 millionrad $1.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2(h4, three months ended March 31, 2013
March 31, 2012, and the years ended December 32, &0d December 31, 2011, respectively.

At March 31, 2014, we had total current assetsA8f& million and current liabilities of $1.9 millig resulting in working capital of $47.3
million. At March 31, 2013, we had total currenseis of $16.1 million and current liabilities of.&8nillion, resulting in working capital of
$7.7 million. At December 31, 2012, we had totarent assets of $15.9 million and current liatektiof $22.0 million, resulting in a working
capital deficit of $6.1 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was approtéfyge$0.3 million, $0.2 million, less than $0.1 hiwh, $0.4 million, and $0.1 million fc
the year ended March 31, 2014, the three monthsceltérch 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, and the ymatsed December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively. The majority afoash used in investing activities from inceptiordate has been for the purchases of
equipment for the research lab.
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Net cash provided by financing activities was agpmately $48.4 million, $3.7 million, $13.6 millioi$24.6 million and $2.1 million for
the year ended March 31, 2014, the three monthsdelidrch 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, and the ysvaied December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, we raisegrogteeds of approximately $43.4 million througé #ale of 10,350,000 shares of
common stock in a public offering. In addition, veésed net proceeds of approximately $3.5 milliemmf an at-the-market follow-on offering,
$1.0 million from the exercise of warrants, and4$@illion from stock option exercises during theyended March 31, 2014.

On February 5, 2013, the Company provided a Natid@edemption to affected warrant holders, of aginately 2.4 million warrant
shares, that they would have until March 14, 2@l8xercise their outstanding warrants at $1.0Gpare. Thereafter, any warrants that
remained unexercised would have been automaticadigemed by the Company at a redemption price.60$Q per share of common stock
then issuable upon exercise of the redeemed wakardf March 14, 2013, all redeemable warrantslieeh exercised for net proceeds of
approximately $2.3 million. During the three monémded March 31, 2013, the Company also receivptbapnately $1.4 million of
additional proceeds from the exercise of other arger unrelated to the Redemption Notification.

The increase in cash provided by financing actsitn 2012 was primarily due to proceeds receivex the issuance of common stock
and the exercise of warrants during the year. @QuFiebruary and March 2012, the Company receivessggooceeds of $13.7 million from the
private placement of equity securities. On Febréaryebruary 29, and March 16, 2012, the Compamypteted the first, second and final
closings, respectively, of the private placemeferaig. In these three closings, the Company is€,825,887 Units, 1,806,100 Units, and
6,916,000 Units, respectively, to accredited inmesat a price of $1.00 per Unit, including the wension of $1.5 million of principal and
$25,379 of accrued interest under certain bridgenmsory notes issued in 2011. The first closing e@nducted simultaneously with the
completion of the Company’s merger (the “MergerijhnOrganovo, Inc. Each Unit consisted of one stoiommon stock of the Company,
$0.001 par value per share and a five-year watcgptirchase one share of common stock at $1.08haee. Total net proceeds were $11.6
million (or $12.8 million, including the conversiaf the bridge promissory notes referred to abolvedddition, the Company consummated a
tender offer in December 2012 to the holders o$tamtding warrants to purchase approximately 14lkomshares of the Company’s common
stock. The warrant tender offer, which expired @t@mber 21, 2012, resulted in approximately 9.@anibf the outstanding warrants being
exercised by their holders for aggregate proceédpmroximately $7.7 million.

Cash provided by financing activities for the Compaduring 2011 included raising proceeds of $2.Bianiwhich came from several
transactions including a September 2011, privaaegvhent offering of convertible note securitiesdpraggregate purchase price of $1.5
million. The principal plus accrued interest waswertible into the common stock of the public slvelinpany to be identified upon
consummation of the merger transaction. In addjtitbming October and November 2011, $1.5 milliorCohvertible Notes bearing interest at
6% per annum with a maturity date of March 30, 2@ five-year warrants to purchase 1,500,000eshafrthe Company’s Common stock
were issued to investors under the private placénide Convertible Notes were outstanding at Deaarith, 2011, and were converted into
common stock in connection with the Merger. Theresats are exercisable at $1.00 per share, expfiedryears, and contained down-round
price protection.

Through March 31, 2014, the Company has financedgerations primarily through the sale of conbéetinotes, the private placemen
equity securities, the public offering of commoaclt, and through revenue derived from grants atldlmarative research agreements. Based
on its current operating plan and available casbueces, the Company has sufficient resourcesnih its business for at least the next twelve
months.

The Company will need additional capital to furthemd product development and commercializatioiisofiuman tissues that can be
employed in drug discovery and development, bigalgiesearch, and as therapeutic implants forrdegrhent of damaged or degenerating
tissues and organs. The Company intends to caver it
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future operating expenses through cash on harmljghradditional financing from existing and progpecinvestors, and from revenue derived
from grants, collaborative research agreementsarehue from the commercialization of products services. However, we may not be
successful in obtaining funding from new or exigtaollaborative research agreements. In additiencannot be sure that additional financing
will be available when needed or that, if availaffileancing will be obtained on terms favorablautoor to our stockholders. Further, we canno
assure you that we will receive 100% of the potaritinding under existing grants, and we may nasdmzessful in securing additional grants
in the future.

Having insufficient funds may require us to delsgale back, or eliminate some or all of our develept programs or relinquish rights to
our technology on less favorable terms than we wotherwise choose. Failure to obtain adequatadimg could eventually adversely affect
our ability to operate as a going concern. If wiseadditional funds from the issuance of equityusiéies, substantial dilution to our existing
stockholders would likely result. If we raise adufital funds by incurring debt financing, the terafishe debt may involve significant cash
payment obligations as well as covenants and spdiciéincial ratios that may restrict our ability dperate our business.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

The primary objective of our investment activitisdo preserve our capital for the purpose of fagdiur operations. To achieve these
objectives, our investment policy allows us to ntaiima portfolio of cash, cash equivalents, andtstesm investments in a variety of securit
including commercial paper and money market fuis. primary exposure to market risk is interesbime sensitivity, which is affected by
changes in the general level of U.S. interest rg@icularly because the majority of our investiiseare comprised of cash and cash
equivalents. We currently do not hedge interest exposure. Due to the nature of our shemt investments, we believe that we are not st
to any material market risk exposure. We have éthibreign currency risk exposure as our businpssates primarily in U.S. dollars. We do
not have any foreign currency or other derivativaricial instruments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Organovo Holdings, Inc.
San Diego, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets aDrganovo Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary(the “Company”) as of March 31,
2014 and 2013 and December 31, 2012, and the dadatesolidated statements of operations, stockhsléquity (deficit), and cash flows for
the year ended March 31, 2014, the three monthsceRtdrch 31, 2013, the years ended December 32, &0d 2011, and for the period from
April 19, 2007 (Inception) through March 31, 20T4e Company’s management is responsible for thiraadial statements. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position ©fganovo
Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaryas of March 31, 2014 and 2013 and December 31,, 20fPthe results of their consolidated operatamsthei
cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2014, hiheetmonths ended March 31, 2013, the years endeeniber 31, 2012, and 2011, and for
the period from April 19, 2007 (Inception) throultarch 31, 2014, in conformity with accounting piipples generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited Statesprganovo

Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary’sinternal control over financial reporting as of Miar31, 2014, based on criteria establisheldternal Control
— Integrated Framework (19929sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrice Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report
dated June 10, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinio

/sl Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
San Diego, CA
June 10, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Organovo Holdings, Inc.
San Diego, California

We have audite@rganovo Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary’snternal control over financial reporting as of Mar31, 2014, based on criteria
established imnternal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (COSOYrganovo Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary’smanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéiveness of internal control over financial oejing, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting . Our responsibility is to express an opinion o& ¢bmpany’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditndéinal control over financial reporting includdataining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evatyéte design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qdit also included performing such other proceda®s/e considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provide=sagonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableasmesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion,Organovo Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiarymaintained, in all material respects, effectiveintl control over financial reporting
as of March 31, 2014, based on criteria establiglhétternal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the balance sheets
and the related statements of operations, stockhsildquity (deficit), and cash flows 6frganovo Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary, and our
report dated June 10, 2014 expressed an unquadifiedon.

/sl Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
San Diego, CA
June 10, 2014
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ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.

(A development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands except per share data)

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Grant receivabli
Inventory
Deferred financing cos
Prepaid expenses and other current a

Total current asse

Fixed assets, ni

Restricted cas

Other assets, n

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current Liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu
Current portion of capital lease obligati
Warrant liabilities
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Capital lease obligation, net of current port
Total liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note ¢
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 shares
authorized, 78,113,639, 64,686,919 and 58,535,411
shares issued and outstanding at March 31,

2014, March 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012,
respectively

Additional paic-in capital

Deficit accumulated during the development si

Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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March 31, 201+

$ 48,167

63
4¢

891

49,16

857

79

8¢

$ 50,18

$ 32¢€
1,165

13

1C

371

1,89¢

$ 1,902

78
140,41

(92,219

48,28¢
$ 50,18¢

March 31, 201!

$ 15,62¢

101

88

327
16,14
1,04t
88

98

$ 17,37t

$ 641

78C
52
1C

6,89¢

8,38:

15

$ 8,40¢

65
75,26¢

(66,369

8,96¢

$ 17,37t

December 31, 201

$ 14,81°
16z
36C

527
15,86¢
714

88

81

$ 16,74¢

$ 42~
981

1C
20,61¢
22,03t

17
$ 22,05:

5¢
44,88:
(50,249

(5,309
$ 16,74¢
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Revenues
Product
Collaborations
Grants
Total Revenues
Cost of product revent
Selling, general, and administrative exper
Research and development expet
Loss from Operations
Other Income (Expense’
Fair value of warrant liabilities in exce
of proceeds receive
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Financing transaction costs in excess
proceeds receive
Loss on inducement to exercise warre
Loss on disposal of fixed ass:
Interest expens
Interest incom:
Other expens
Total Other Income (Expense]
Net Loss

Net loss per common she— basic and
diluted

ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.
(A development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands except per share data)

Weighted average shares used in computing

net loss per common share — basic and

diluted

Period from
Three Months Ended April 19, 2007
Year ended March 31, Year ended Year ended Inception
March 31, December 31 December 31 Through
2014 2013 2012 2012 2011 March 31, 201
(Unaudited)
$ — $ — $ — $ — $ 224 $ 224
24¢ 98 12C 1,03¢ 68¢ 2,14¢
131 117 — 162 57 1,074
37¢ 21¢ 12C 1,19 96¢ 3,44:
— — — — 121 134
13,05¢ 2,792 90z 7,08( 1,73: 25,59:¢
7,974 1,44¢ 547 3,43¢ 1,42( 16,05¢
(20,649 (4,025 (1,329 (9,319 (2,305 (38,34))
— — (19,019 (19,019 — (29,019
(5,120 (12,039 (13,50¢) (9,93)) (7) (27,09
— — (2,130 (2,130 — (2,130
— — — (1,909 — (1,909
(84) — — (15¢) — (242
(23 (65) (1,089 (1,089 (2,067 (3,489
18 4 — 5 — 29
— — €) €) (G (30
(5,199 (12,099 (35,757) (34,239 (2,07¢) (53,879
$ (25,849 $ (16,120 $ (37,08) $ (43,559 $ (4,389 $ (92,219
$ (0.3%) $ (0.26) $ (1.19) $ (2.03) $ (0.19)
73,139,61 61,750,15 31,591,66 43,149,65 22,925,69

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofelmmsolidated financial statements.
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ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.
(A development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT) (in thousands)
Period from April 19, 2007 (Inception) through Marg1, 2014

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofér@msolidated financial statemer

Deficit
Accumulated
Additional During the
Common Stock Developmen
Paid-in

Shares Amount Capital Stage Total

Balance at inception (April 19, 2007 — $ — $ — $ — $ —

Issuance of common sto — — — — —

Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — —

Net loss — — — — —

Balance at December 31, 20C — $ — $ = $ — $ —

Issuance of common stock to found 1,73( 2 2 — —

Issuance of restricted common st 12,62¢ 12 (12) — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 2 — 2
Net loss — — — (99) (98)
Balance at December 31, 20C 14,35¢ $ 14 $ (12 $ (98) $  (96)

Issuance of restricted common st 13C — — — —
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 2 — 2
Net loss — — — (872) (872)
Balance at December 31, 20C 14,48¢ $ 14 $ (¢10) $ (970 $ (96€)

Issuance of restricted common st 21¢ — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 4 — 4
Net loss — — — (1,339) (1,339)
Balance at December 31, 201 14,707 $ 14 $ (6) $ (2,309 $ (2,309
Issuance of common stock through conversion ofsypégable 7,67 8 3,48 — 3,49(

Issuance of restricted common st 61 — — — —
Warrants issued with convertible notes and conearsf notes — — 1,111 — 1,111
Beneficial conversion feature of convertible nqtagable — — 23¢ — 23¢
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 9 — 9
Net loss — — — (4,387%) (4,389
Balance at December 31, 201 22,44 $ 22 $ 4,83t $ (6,692 $ (1,83

Issuance of common stock in connection with thegee 6,00( 6 (6) — —
Issuance of common stock through private placemiardsnnection with reverse merg 13,72¢ 14 13,70¢ — 13,72¢
Costs associated with the mer — — (13,729 — (13,72))

Issuance of common stock through conversion ofsypégable and accrued interes

connection with the merg 1,52¢ 2 1,524 — 1,52¢
Issuance of warrat — — 89( — 89C
Issuance of common stock from warrant exercises 13,42« 14 10,977 — 10,99:
Warrant liability removed due to exercise of wats — — 23,32: — 23,32:
Stock option exercise 224 — 18 — 18

Issuance of restricted common st 1,38( 1 Q) — —

Restricted stock forfeiture (186€) — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 1,43t — 1,43¢
Loss on inducement to exercise warrz — — 1,90¢ — 1,904
Net loss — — — (43,559 (43,559
Balance at December 31, 201 58,53t $ 5¢ $ 44,88 $ (50,245 $ (5,309
Issuance of common stock from warrant exercises 6,131 6 3,71¢ — 3,72¢

Issuance of restricted common st 55 — — — —

Restricted stock forfeiture (349) — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 84¢ — 84¢
Expense related to modification of warra — — 6E — 65
Warrant liability removed due to exercises of wats: — — 23,86¢ — 23,86¢
Warrant liability reclassified to equi — — 1,88¢ — 1,88¢
Net loss — — — (16,120) (16,120
Balance at March 31, 201! 64,68 $ 6% $ 75,26¢ $ (66,364 $ 8,96¢
Issuance of common stock from warrant exercises 2,71 3 1,09¢ — 1,101

Issuance of restricted common st 60 — — — —

Restricted stock forfeiture (218) — — — —
Issuance of common stock from public offering, 10,68 1C 46,90 — 46,91t
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 4,60( — 4,60(
Expense related to modification of warra — — 12 — 12
Warrant liability removed due to exercises of wats: — — 10,87 — 10,87
Warrant liability reclassified to equi — — 7617 — 767
Stock option exercise 184 — 40z — 402
Issuance of warrants to consult — 49z — 49z
Net loss — — — (25,84%) (25,84%)
Balance at March 31, 201« 78,11 $ 78 $ 140,41 $ (92,219 $ 48,28
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ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.
(A development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating
activities:
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of warrants issued for servic
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on disposal of fixed ass:
Amortization of debt discout
Interest accrued on convertible notes pay
Fair value of warrant liabilities in excess of peeds
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Loss on inducement to exercise warr:
Expense associated with warrant modifica
Stock-based compensatic
Warrants issued in connection with exchange agret
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from chaing
Grants receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu
Net cash used in operating activitie
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Deposits released from restriction (restricted chegbosits’
Purchases of fixed asst
Purchases of intangible ass
Net cash used in investing activitie
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes pa
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and exest
warrants, ne
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from issuance of related party notes &
Principal payments on capital lease obligati
Repayment of related party notes pay:
Repayment of convertible notes and interest pay
Deferred financing cos
Net cash provided by financing activities

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Perio
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Perio
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Interest

Income Taxe:

Period from
April 19,
Year Three Months ~ Three Months Year Year 2007
Ended Ended Ended (Inception)
March 31, Ended Ended December 31  December 31 Through
March 31, March 31, March 31,
2014 2013 2012 2012 2011 2014
(Unaudited)
$ (25849 $ (16,120 $ (37,08) $ (43,55) $ (4,389 $ (92,219
— — 31¢ 31¢ 11¢ 43¢
32¢ 261 — 55¢€ — 1,14(
387 80 17 19t 68 81¢
84 — — 15¢ — 242
— — 89¢ 89¢ 1,18¢ 2,08¢
— — 12 12 232 49t
— — 19,01¢ 19,01¢ — 19,01¢
5,12( 12,03« 13,50¢ 9,931 7 27,09:
— — — 1,90« — 1,90«
12 65 — — — 77
4,60( 84¢ 4 1,43¢ 9 6,90(
— — — — 52¢ 52¢
101 61 — (262) 6C —
25 — (45) (45¢ (224 (726€)
(392) (61) (65) (202) (69) (647)
(31%) 21¢ (217) (239) 37¢ 32¢
387 (202) (37) 54¢ 132 1,167
(45) 62 11€ (15%) 4€ 17
(15,567) (2,755 (3,556 (9,6979) (1,919 (31,339
9 — (39) (88) — (79)
277 (137 (6) (357 (4€) (1,199
— (19 — — (65) (1149
(26¢) (15€) (44) (445) (11)) (1,397
— — — — 2,54 4,63(
48,01¢ 3,724 13,72% 24,71« — 76,454
40z — — 18 — 42C
— — — — 22t 25C
(10 (@) — () — (19
— — — — (250) (250)
— — (110) (110) — (110)
(40) — — — (43¢) (47¢)
48,36¢ 3,72 13,618 24,61¢ 2,08( 80,89:
32,53¢ 811 10,01 14,47 55 48,167
15,62¢ 14,81, 34C 34C 28¢ —
$ 48,160 $ 15,62¢ $ 10,35! $ 14817 $ 34C $ 48,167
$ — $ — $ 10 $ c 3 — $ 10
$ — $ — $ 1 3 1 3 1 3 3

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and f&ncing Activities ($ in thousands):

During 2010, the Company issued 219,369 sharesstficted common stock to certain employees, adviaod consultants of the
Company.

During 2011, the Company issued certain convertiokes payable that included warrants. The relage@ficial conversion feature,
valued at $823 was classified as an equity instnirard recorded as a discount to the carrying vafltlee related debt. The warrants, value
approximately $1,260, were recorded as a warrabiliy and recorded as a discount to the carryialge related to debt.

During 2011, the Company issued 7,676,828 sharesrofmon stock to note holders for the conversioGadvertible Notes with a
principal balance totaling $3,030 and accrued @sgetotaling $460.

During 2012, the Company issued 1,525,387 sharesrafnon stock to note holders for the conversioBafvertible Notes with a
principal balance totaling $1,500 and accrued égetotaling $25.

During 2012, the Company issued warrants, valueghptoximately $32,743, in connection with the RegeMerger and the Private
Placement. The warrants were recognized as a tigavability.

During 2012, the Company purchased equipment vat&d4 through a capital lease.
During 2012, the Company transferred approxime®891 of bioprinter related inventory to fixed asset

During 2012, the Company issued 650,000 warranggitohase shares of our common stock for consungices. The warrants were
valued at approximately $890.

During 2012, the warrant liability was reduced 28821 as a result of settlements during the year.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, tmagany transferred approximately $272 of bioprinédated inventory to fixed
assets.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, teamt liability was reduced by approximately $B8&s a result of warrant
exercises and $1,886 for warrants reclassifiedjagyeinstruments.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the wartiabtlity was reduced by approximately $10,874 assalt of warrant exercises and
$767 for warrants reclassified as equity instrurment

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Compsseid 75,000 warrants to purchase shares of oumoarstock for consulting
services. The warrants were valued at approxim&ié0y.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofelmmsolidated financial statements.
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Organovo Holdings, Inc.
(A development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Change in Fiscal Year End

On March 31, 2013, the Board of Directors of therfpany (the “Board”) approved a change in the Comisdiscal year end from
December 33'to March 31st. As a result of this change, the Company filedanSition Report on Form 10-KT for the three-momémsition
period ended March 31, 2013. References to anyeo€ompany’s pre-2013 fiscal years mean the figeat ending December 31 of that
calendar year.

2. Description of Business and Summary of Significd Accounting Policies

A summary of significant accounting policies, catsitly applied in the preparation of the accompamgonsolidated financial statements
follows:

Nature of operations and basis of presenta

References in these notes to the consolidateddiakbstatements to “Organovo Holdings, Inc.,” “Ong&o Holdings,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “the
Company” and “our Companyéfer to Organovo Holdings, Inc. and its consokdisubsidiary Organovo, Inc. The Company is dewetppnc
commercializing functional thregimensional (3D) human tissues that can be employddug discovery and development, biological agsk,
and as therapeutic implants for the treatment ofatged or degenerating tissues and organs.

As of March 31, 2014, the Company has devotediitste primarily to developing a platform technojofpr the generation of

functional human tissues that can be employedug discovery and development, biological reseaanl,as therapeutic implants for the
treatment of damaged or degenerating tissues aahsrraising capital and building infrastructdrbe Company has not realized significant
revenues from its planned principal operations.okdimgly, the Company is considered to be in thesttjpment stage.

Reverse merger transacti

On February 8, 2012, Organovo, Inc., a privateld ielaware corporation, merged with and into OmenAcquisition Corp., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Organovo Holdings, Inc., a jiptraded Delaware corporation (“the Company”)thwOrganovo, Inc. surviving the
merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Comp#my “Merger”). As a result of the Merger, the Canp acquired the business of
Organovo, Inc., and has continued the existingrimssi operations of Organovo, Inc.

Simultaneously with the Merger, on February 8, 2Qh2 “Closing Date”), all of the issued and outstiag shares of Organovo, Ine¢ommot
stock converted, on a 1 for 1 basis, into sharéseCompany’s common stock, par value $0.001 Ipares Also, on the closing date, all of the
issued and outstanding options to purchase shaf@syanovo, Inc.’s common stock and other outstagavarrants to purchase Organovo,
Inc.’s common stock, and all of the issued andtanting bridge warrants to purchase shares of @rgarinc.'s common stock, converted o

1 for 1 basis, into options, warrants and new laidgrrants to purchase shares of the Company’s constock.

Immediately following the consummation of the Matg@ the former security holders of Organovo,.lnommon stock had an approximate
75% voting interest in the Company and the Compaogkholders retained an approximate 25% votingr@st, (ii) the former executive
management team of Organovo, Inc. remained asiiyecontinuing executive management team for then@any, and (iii) the Company’s
ongoing operations consisted solely of the ongoipgrations of Organovo, Inc. Based primarily orséhéactors, the Merger was accounted fo
as a reverse merger and a recapitalization in dacce with U.S. generally accepted accounting jplies (“GAAP”). As a result, these
financial statements reflect the historical resaft©rganovo, Inc. prior to the Merger, and the bomad results of the Company following the
Merger. The par value of Organovo, Inc.
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common stock immediately prior to the Merger wa$)801 per share. The par value subsequent to thgevlis $0.001 per share, and there
the historical results of Organovo, Inc. priorhe Merger have been retroactively adjusted to affexchange in par value.

In connection with three separate closings of egpei placement transaction completed in conneetiinthe Merger (the “Private Placement”
the Company received gross proceeds of approxign@fed million, $1.8 million and $6.9 million onadings on February 8,

2012, February 29, 2012 and March 16, 2012, resdetin 2011, the Company received $1.5 millioonfi the purchase of 6% convertible
notes which were automatically converted into 1,800 shares of common stock, plus 25,387 sharezcfoued interest of $25,387 on the
principal, on February 8, 2012.

The cash transaction costs related to the Merges eygproximately $2.1 million.

Before the Merger, the Company’s Board of Directond stockholders adopted the 2012 Equity Incemtlae (the “2012 Plan”). In addition,
the Company assumed and adopted Organovo, In@% Bquity Incentive Plan.

NYSE MKT Listing

On July 9, 2013, the Company announced that itsemmstock had been approved to list on the NYSE MBHares began trading on the N
York Stock Exchange on July 11, 2013 under the syif®NVO”. Prior to that time, the Company’s sharesre quoted on the OTC QX.

Liquidity
As of March 31, 2014, the Company had an accunuiidéficit of approximately $92.2 million. The Conmyaalso had negative cash flows
from operations of approximately $15.6 million dwgithe year ended March 31, 2014.

In August of 2013, the Company raised net proce¢dpproximately $43.4 million through the salel6£350,000 shares of its common stock
in a public offering (see Note 7).

In addition, in November 2013, the Company enténémlan equity distribution agreement with an irtweant banking firm. Under the terms of
the distribution agreement, the Company may offfiel sell up to 4,000,000 shares of its common stivok) time to time, through the
investment bank in “at the market” offerings, afirdsd by the SEC, and pursuant to the Companykcéffe shelf registration statement
previously filed with the SEC. As of March 31, 20i14e Company has raised approximately $3.5 millfioough the sale of 334,412 shares of
its common stock under the distribution agreement.

Through March 31, 2014, the Company has financedgerations primarily through the sale of conbéstnotes, the private placement of
equity securities, the public offering of commoaclt, and through revenue derived from grants dabotative research agreements. Based o
its current operating plan and available cash mes®the Company has sufficient resources to ifisrtalisiness for at least the next twelve
months.

The Company will need additional capital to furthemd product development and commercializatiofisofiuman tissues that can be employe
in drug discovery and development, biological resieaand as therapeutic implants for the treatroédamaged or degenerating tissues and
organs. The Company intends to cover its futurgaip® expenses through cash on hand, throughiadalifinancing from existing and
prospective investors, from revenue derived froamtg and collaborative research agreements, aeduevirom the commercialization of
products and services. However, we may not be ssfidan obtaining funding from new or existing lediorative research agreements. In
addition, we cannot be sure that additional finagawill be available when needed or that, if ava#afinancing will be obtained on terms
favorable to us or to our stockholders. Furthercarenot assure you that we will receive 100% ofpibieential funding under existing grants,
and we may not be successful in securing additigraaits in the future.
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Having insufficient funds may require us to delsgale back, or eliminate some or all of our develept programs or relinquish rights to our
technology on less favorable terms than we wout@mtise choose. Failure to obtain adequate fingnoiuld eventually adversely affect our
ability to operate as a going concern. If we raidditional funds from the issuance of equity sdims; substantial dilution to our existing
stockholders would likely result. If we raise adutial funds by incurring debt financing, the terafishe debt may involve significant cash
payment obligations as well as covenants and spdiciaincial ratios that may restrict our ability éperate our business.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in eonfty with accounting principles generally accebite the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfeénzttaertain reported amounts and disclosuresofdingly, actual results could differ
from those estimates. Significant estimates usgutéparing the consolidated financial statemertkude those assumed in computing the
valuation of warrants and conversion features,megaecognized under the proportional performanaéat the valuation of stock-based
compensation expense, and the valuation allowanakeferred tax assets.

Financial instrument:

For certain of the Company’s financial instrumeiris|uding cash and cash equivalents, grants rabtgy inventory, prepaid expenses and
other assets, accounts payable, accrued experefesed revenue, and capital lease obligationsgading/ing amounts are generally considered
to be representative of their respective fair valoecause of the short-term nature of those instntsn

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith original maturities of 90 days or less todash equivalents.

Derivative financial instrument

The Company does not use derivative instrumernigtige exposures to cash flow, market or foreigreogy.

The Company reviews the terms of convertible dalbtequity instruments it issues to determine whetthere are derivative instruments,
including an embedded conversion option that isired to be bifurcated and accounted for separat®ky derivative financial instrument. In
circumstances where a host instrument contains thareone embedded derivative instrument, includicgnversion option, that is require«
be bifurcated, the bifurcated derivative instrunseare accounted for as a single, compound dergvaistrument. Also, in connection with the
sale of convertible debt and equity instruments,@Glompany may issue freestanding warrants that degpending on their terms, be accountec
for as derivative instrument liabilities, ratheathas equity.

Derivative instruments are initially recorded dt falue and are then revalued at each reportitg wéh changes in the fair value reported as
non-operating income or expense. When the conlerdigbt or equity instruments contain embedded/dtvie instruments that are to be
bifurcated and accounted for as liabilities, thaltproceeds allocated to the convertible hostumsents are first allocated to the fair value ¢
the bifurcated derivative instruments. The remajrproceeds, if any, are then allocated to the atitnle instruments themselves, usually
resulting in those instruments being recordeddiseount from their face value.

The discount from the face value of the convertdabt, together with the stated interest on thunsent, is amortized over the life of the
instrument through periodic charges to intereseasp, using the effective interest method.
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Restricted cas

As of March 31, 2014, March 31, 2013, and Decen3tie2012, the Company had approximately $78,808,3®, and $88,300, respectively,
of restricted cash deposited with a financial sittn. The entire $78,800 as of March 31, 2014 $8®} 300 of the balance as of March 31,
2013 and December 31, 2012 was held in certificateeposit to support a letter of credit agreennelated to the facility lease entered into
during 2012. In December 2013, the lease was andeiodacrease the rented area by 15,268 squareafedias such, the Company was
required to increase the amount held in certifeatedeposit to support the increased letter aditas required by the lease amendment. The
additional $50,000 included in the balance as ofdd&1, 2013 and December 31, 2012 represents helddy a financial institution as a
guarantee for the Company’s commercial credit cartiese funds were released from restriction dutiegyear ended March 31, 2014 as a
result of the Company transferring its credit gardgram to a different financial institution.

Grant receivable

Grant receivable as of March 31, 2013 and Decer®bg?012 represents the amount due from the Natinstitutes of Health (“NIH")under ¢
research grant that concluded in April 2013. ThenBany considers the grants receivable to be faliectible; and accordingly, no allowance
for doubtful amounts has been established. If ansooecome uncollectible, they are charged to ojpersmt

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of the cosharket (first-in, first-out). Inventory consists approximately $63,000, and $88,000 in raw
materials as of March 31, 2014 and 2013, respdgtinet of reserves. Inventory consists of appratety $196,000 in finished goods, $60,00C
work-in-process and $104,000 in raw materials d3exfember 31, 2012.

The Company provides inventory allowances baseeixorss or obsolete inventories determined basedhticipated use in the final product.
The reserve for obsolete inventory at March 314204s approximately $31,000. There was no resemvelfsolete inventory as of March 31,
2013 or December 31, 2012.

Fixed assets and depreciati

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Experadi that extend the life of the asset are capéichland depreciated. Depreciation and
amortization are provided using the straight-linetmod over the estimated useful lives of the rdlatgsets or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, over the lesser of the useful lifthefrelated asset or the lease term. The estiniaefdl lives of the fixed assets range betwee
two and five years.

Impairment of lon-lived assets

In accordance with authoritative guidance the Camgpaviews its long-lived assets, including propemd equipment and other assets, for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurastaimdicate that the carrying amounts of the assay not be fully recoverable. To
determine recoverability of its long-lived asséieg Company evaluates whether future undiscourdedash flows will be less than the
carrying amount of the assets and adjusts theingramount of its assets to fair value. Managerhastdetermined that no impairment of long
lived assets occurred in the period from inceptioough March 31, 2014.

Fair value measureme

Financial assets and liabilities are measurediavdéue, which is defined as the exchange prieg would be received for an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the prinaipor most advantageous market for the assetlalitigin an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. Valuation
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techniques used to measure fair value must maxithzese of observable inputs and minimize theofismobservable inputs. The followinc
a fair value hierarchy based on three levels ofifisypof which the first two are considered obseleand the last unobservable, that may be

used to measure fair value:
» Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

* Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that arsevable, either directly or indirectly, such astga prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are active; or other inputs that are observable ortmanorroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of Hesets or liabilities

* Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are suppbioielittle or no market activity and that are sfgant to the fair value of the assets
or liabilities.

The Company has issued warrants, of which somelassified as derivative liabilities as a resultted terms in the warrants that provide for
down-round protection in the event of a dilutiveuance. The Company uses Level 3 inputs for itsatan methodology for the warrant
derivative liabilities. The estimated fair valuesre determined using a Monte Carlo option priciragiel based on various assumptions (see
Note 5). The Compal's derivative liabilities are adjusted to reflestimated fair value at each period end, with angreese or increase in the
estimated fair value being recorded in other incemexpense accordingly, as adjustments to thevédire of derivative liabilities. Various
factors are considered in the pricing models wetasalue the warrants, including the Company’sexnirstock price, the remaining life of the
warrants, the volatility of the Company’s stockcgriand the risk free interest rate. Future chaimgisese factors will have a significant impact
on the computed fair value of the warrant liabiliys such, we expect future changes in the faue/alf the warrants to continue to vary
significantly from quarter to quarter.

The estimated fair values of the liabilities measuon a recurring basis are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2014, March 312013, and December 31, 2012 (in thousand

Quoted
Prices in Significant Significant
Other Other
Active Observable Unobservable
Balance at Markets
March 31, Inputs Inputs
2014 (Level _(Level2) _(Level3)
Warrant liability $ 377 $ — $ — $ 377
Quoted
Prices in Significant Significant
Other Other
Active Observable Unobservable
Balance at Markets
March 31, Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Warrant liability $ 6,89 $ — $ — $ 6,89
Quoted
Prices in Significant Significant
Other Other
Balance at Active Observable Unobservable
December 31 Markets
Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Warrant liability $ 20,61¢ $ — $ — $ 20,61¢
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The following table presents the activity for liiis measured at estimated fair value using uandable inputs for the year ended December
2012, the three months ended March 31, 2013, angeéar ended March 31, 2014:

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobsendae Inputs (Level 3)

Warrant
Derivative
Liability
(in thousands
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 1,267
Issuance: $ 32,74
Adjustments to estimated fair val $ 9,931
Warrant liability removal due to settlemel $ (23,32)
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 20,61¢
Issuance: $ —
Adjustments to estimated fair val $ 12,03«
Warrant liability removal due to settleme! $ (23,869
Warrant liability reclassified to equi $ (1,880
Balance at March 31, 20: $ 6,89¢
Issuance: $ —
Adjustments to estimated fair val $ 5,12(
Warrant liability removal due to settlemel $ (10,879
Warrant liability reclassified to equi $ (767
Balance at March 31, 20: $ 377

Research and developmt

Research and development expenses, including dinecallocated expenses, consist of independesdinas and development costs, as well a
costs associated with sponsored research and gevefd. Research and development costs are expassecurred.

Income taxe

Deferred income taxes are recognized for the taseguences in future years for differences betweeitax basis of assets and liabilities and
their financial reporting amounts at each year leaged on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rpfgable to the periods in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incoraduation allowances are established when necessaeduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized. Income tax expisrthe combination of the tax payable for the yaad the change during the year in deferre
tax assets and liabilities.

Revenue recognitic

The Company’s revenues are derived from collabegatsearch agreements, grants from the NIH, Ué&astiry Department and private not-
for-profit organizations, as well as the sale afinter related products and services, and licagseements.

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria have been met: (i) persuasive evidencenareangement exists; (ii) services have
been rendered or product has been deliveredp(igk to the customer is fixed and determinablé; @) collection of the underlying receiva
is reasonably assured.

Billings to customers or payments received front@uers are included in deferred revenue on thenbalaheet until all revenue recognition
criteria are met. As of March 31, 2014, March 3112 and December 31, 2012, the Company had appatedy $17,000, $62,000, and $0,
respectively, in deferred revenue related to itborative research programs.
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Product Revenue

The Company recognizes product revenue at thedfrshipment to the customer, provided all otheereie recognition criteria have been r
The Company recognizes product revenues upon shipimeistributors, provided that (i) the pricesigbstantially fixed or determinable at the
time of sale; (ii) the distributor’s obligation pay the Company is not contingent upon resalemptbducts; (iii) title and risk of loss passes to
the distributor at time of shipment; (iv) the distitor has economic substance apart from that deavby the Company; (v) the Company has
no significant obligation to the distributor to gi about resale of the products; and (vi) fututerres can be reasonably estimated. For any
that do not meet all of the above criteria, reveiswdeferred until all such criteria have been met.

Research and Development Revenue Under CollaberAgveements

The Company’s collaboration revenue consists eflse and collaboration agreements that contairipteutlements, including non-refundable
upfront fees, payments for reimbursement of thiadypresearch costs, payments for ongoing resepagiments associated with achieving
specific development milestones and royalties basesbecified percentages of net product salesyif The Company considers a variety of
factors in determining the appropriate method w@é&neie recognition under these arrangements, suchetber the elements are separable,
whether there are determinable fair values andhénghere is a unique earnings process associatie@ach element of a contract.

The Company recognizes revenue from research fgndider collaboration agreements when earned pnogortional performance” basis as
research hours are incurred. The Company perfoemvices as specified in each respective agreenmeatbest-efforts basis, and is reimbursec
based on labor hours incurred on each contractCiimepany initially defers revenue for any amourilled or payments received in advanct
the services being performed, and recognizes r@vpuatsuant to the related pattern of performanasedh on total labor hours incurred relative
to total labor hours estimated under the contract.

In December 2010, the Company entered into a 1Zhresearch contract agreement with a third paryereby the Company was engaged tc
perform research and development services on d-fee basis for approximately $600,000. Based erptioportional performance criteria, the
Company recognized approximately $150,000 and $080n revenue related to the contract during ey ended December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively. Total revenue recognized orctimtract from inception through March 31, 2014 wpproximately $600,000.

In October 2011, the Company entered into a rebeanatract agreement with a third party, whereley@ompany is performing research and
development services on a fixed-fee basis for $8.(B®. The agreement included an initial paymetiiéoCompany of approximately
$239,000 with remaining payments occurring ovewenty-one month period. On November 27, 2012, tteement was amended to include
additional research and development services,fadalitional $135,000, bringing the total contnaaiue to $1,500,000. The third party
ultimately elected to have only $40,000 of thesditawhal research and development services perfoioyethe Company, resulting in a total
contract value of $1,405,000. The amendment extetiteoriginal contract (which ran concurrenthyrfr twenty-one months to twenty-eight
months. The Company recorded approximately $184 $90,000, $120,000, $885,000 and $239,000 foy¢lae ended March 31, 2014, the
three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, angetims ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, resdgctiveevenue related to the researct
contract in recognition of the proportional perfamae achieved. Total revenue recognized on theagirftom inception through March 31,
2014 was $1,405,000.

Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables

The Company occasionally enters into revenue aeraegts that contain multiple deliverables. Judgrigerdquired to properly identify the
accounting units of the multiple deliverable trastgmns and to determine the manner in which revesiogild be allocated among the
accounting units. Moreover, judgment is used in
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interpreting the commercial terms and determinimgmvall criteria of revenue recognition have beet for each deliverable in order for
revenue recognition to occur in the appropriateanting period. For multiple deliverable agreemeotésideration is allocated at the
inception of the agreement to all deliverables dasetheir relative selling price. The relativelisgl price for each deliverable is determined
using VSOE of selling price or third-party eviderafeselling price if VSOE does not exist. If neithéSOE nor third-party evidence of selling
price exists, the Company uses its best estimateeaselling price for the deliverable.

The Company recognizes revenue for delivered elesrany when it determines there are no uncersnegarding customer acceptance.

While changes in the allocation of the arrangensensideration between the units of accounting mall affect the amount of total revenue

recognized for a particular sales arrangementnaatgrial changes in these allocations could imfectiming of revenue recognition, which
could affect the Company’s results of operations.

The Company expects to periodically receive liceess for non-exclusive research licensing assediaith funded research projects. License
fees under these arrangements are recognizedrevegrm of the contract or development period hastbeen determined that such license
not have stand-alone value.

NIH and U.S. Treasury Grant Reveni

During 2010, the U.S. Treasury awarded the Companyone-time grants totaling approximately $397,8@0nvestments in qualifying
therapeutic discovery projects under section 48ihefinternal Revenue Code. The grants coverecorgisement for qualifying expenses
incurred by the Company in 2010 and 2009. The masdérom these grants are classified in “Revenudsrants”for the period from inceptic
through March 31, 2014.

During 2012, 2010 and 2009, the NIH awarded the @om three research grants totaling approximat@s8%00. Revenues from the NIH
grants are based upon internal and subcontracsts owurred that are specifically covered by trents, and where applicable, an additional
facilities and administrative rate that providesding for overhead expenses. These revenues argnieed when expenses have been incurre
by subcontractors and as the Company incurs intexpeenses that are related to the grants. Revemognized under these grants for the yea
ended March 31, 2014, the three months ended MarcA013 and 2012, and the years ended Decemb20382, and 2011 was approximately
$12,000, $117,000, $0, $162,000, and $57,000, c&sply. Total revenue recorded under these grmais inception through March 31, 2014
was approximately $558,000.

During August of 2013, the Company was awardedeareh grant by a private, not-for-profit organmafor up to $251,700, contingent on
go/no-go decisions made by the grantor at the cemmopl of each stage of research as outlined igthet award. Revenues from the grant are
based upon internal costs incurred that are spatiificovered by the grant, plus an additional thét provides funding for overhead expenses
Revenue is recognized when the Company incurs reisable expenses that are related to the grantCohgany recognized revenue from
this grant of approximately $119,000 for the yazdledl March 31, 2014 and from inception to date.

Stock-based compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiaocordance with the Financial Accounting Stansl&oard’s ASC Topic 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensatishich establishes accounting for equity instrumextshanged for employee services. Under such
provisions, stock-based compensation cost is medsirthe grant date, based on the calculategidhie of the award, and is recognized as ar
expense, under the straight-line method, over tngl@/ee’s requisite service period (generally thstwng period of the equity grant).
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The Company accounts for equity instruments, inolgidestricted stock or stock options, issued to-eamployees in accordance with
authoritative guidance for equity based paymenteotoemployees. Stock options issued to non-empkgee accounted for at their estimated
fair value determined using the Black-Scholes appidcing model. The fair value of options grantedion-employees is re-measured as they
vest, and the resulting increase in value, if @yecognized as expense during the period théerbkervices are rendered. Restricted stock
issued to non-employees is accounted for at tiséimated fair value as they vest.

Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity during a period from transactions atitkpevents and circumstances from non
owner sources. The Company is required to recombaiponents of comprehensive income (loss) irfittencial statements in the period in
which they are recognized. Net income (loss) ahdrotomprehensive income (loss), including unredligains and losses on investments, are
reported, net of their related tax effect, to arét comprehensive income (loss). For the yearcehdech 31, 2014, the three months ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012, and the years ended Dexed3ib2012 and 2011, and for the period April2@8)7 (inception) through March 31,
2014, the comprehensive loss was equal to theogst |

Net loss per shar

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been dechpsing the weighted-average number of sharesmamon stock outstanding during the
period. The weighted-average number of sharestasegimpute diluted loss per share excludes anynadexercise of stock options, and the
assumed issuance of common stock under restritiel snits, shares subject to repurchase and warasthe effect would be anti-dilutive.
No dilutive effect was calculated for the year ehtiéarch 31, 2014, the three months ended Marc2@13 or 2012, or the years enc
December 31, 2012 or 2011 as the Company reponted lass for each respective period and the effecid have been anti-dilutive. Total
common stock equivalents that were excluded frompmging diluted net loss per share were approxilnat& million, 8.9 million,

25.8 million, 15.2 million, and 6.4 million for theear ended March 31, 2014, the three months eMdech 31, 2013 and 2012 and the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Reclassification:

Certain reclassifications were made to the 201dniimal statements in order to conform to the priegiem of the financial statements for 2012.
The reclassifications did not have any effect aavjmusly reported net loss or stockholders’ eq(dsficit).

3. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consisted of the following (in thoulsan

March 31 March 31 December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Laboratory equipment $ 1,20 $ 1,16¢ $ 75¢
Computer software and equipm:e 191 114 114
Furniture and fixture 33 33 33
1,431 1,31¢ 90€
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (579 (270 (192
$ 857 $ 1,04F $ 714

Depreciation and amortization expense for the gadrMarch 31, 2014, the three months ended MarcBA@I3 and March 31, 2012, and the
years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31 vz approximately $380,000, $78,000, $15,000, &Band $63,000, respective
Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdrimn&794,000 for the period from April 19, 2007deption) through March 31, 2014.
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4. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (iruznds):

March 31 March 31 December 3:
2014 2013 2012
Accrued compensation $ 50t $ 38¢ $ 72C
Deferred ren 34t 27C 18¢
Accrued legal and professional fe 28¢ 53 —
Other accrued expens 34 71 73
$ 1,167 $ 78C $ 981

5. Derivative Liability

During 2012, in relation to the reverse Merger #rathree offerings under the Private PlacemertCibmpany issued 21,347,182 five-year
warrants to purchase the Company’s common stodRctober and November of 2011, the Company issi&@DI000 five-year warrants in
connection with Convertible Notes. The exercisegunf the warrants is protected against down-rdinmahcing throughout the term of the
warrant, as described below. Pursuant to ASC 81&rtEASC 815-40, the fair value of the warrantamgroximately $32.7 million and $1.3
million in 2012 and 2011, respectively, was recdrds a derivative liability on the issuance dates.

The Company revalued the warrants as of the eeddi reporting period, and the estimated fair vafitbe outstanding warrant liabilities was
$0.4 million, $6.9 million, $20.6 million and $1r8illion as of March 31, 2014, March 31, 2013, aretBmber 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011, respectively. The changes in fair value efdhrivative liabilities for the year ended Mardh 3014, the three months ended March 31,
2013 and 2012, and the years ended December 32,a82@12011 were increases of $5.1 million, $12Manj $13.5 million, $9.9 million and
less than $0.1 million, respectively, and are ideldiin other income (expense) in the statemenp@fations.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the threethsoended March 31, 2013 and the year ended Dece8thb2012, 1,920,874, 6,990,556
and 13,010,237 warrants that were classified asatafe liabilities were exercised. The warrantgeveevalued as of the settlement date, and
the change in fair value was recognized to earnimgaddition, in the year ended March 31, 2014 twedthree months ended March 31, 2013
the Company entered into amendment agreementsaiithin of the warrant holders, which removed themtround pricing protection
provision, resulting in 269,657 and 601,735, reipely, of these warrants being reclassified fraafility instruments to equity instruments.
The Company also recognized a reduction in theamaufrability based on the fair value as of theleatent date for the warrants exercised anc
as of the modification date for the warrants thataxamended, with a corresponding increase iniaddltpaid-in capital.

The derivative liabilities were valued at the clasdates of the Private Placement and the endchf egorting period using a Monte Carlo
valuation model with the following assumptions:

March 31 March 31 December 3:
2014 2013 2012

Closing price per share of common stock $ 7.6 $ 3.6¢ $ 2.6C
Exercise price per sha $ 1.0C $ 1.0C $ 1.0C
Expected volatility 76.5(% 88.8(% 92.9(%
Risk-free interest rat 0.9(% 0.57% 0.54%
Dividend yield — — —
Remaining expected term of underlying securitiesa(g) 2.9¢ 3.8¢ 4.1¢

In addition, as of the valuation dates, managerassgssed the probabilities of future financingaragsions in the Monte Carlo valuation
models. Management also applied a discount for éhckarketability to the valuation of the derivailiabilities based on such trading
restrictions due to certain of the shares not bedggstered.
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In accordance with the terms of the warrant agregsnd, prior to the expiration date of the watsarthe Company issues additional shares of
common stock, as defined below, without considenatir for a consideration per share less thanxbecise price of the warrants in effect
immediately prior to such issue, then the exergigme shall be reduced, concurrently with suchéss$o a price (calculated to the nearest cent)
determined by multiplying such exercise price byaation, (A) the numerator of which shall be (¢ number of shares of common stock
outstanding immediately prior to such issue plygtig number of shares of common stock which tlggeagate consideration received or to be
received by the Company for the total number ofitaalthl shares of common stock so issued wouldlpase at such exercise price; and (B}
denominator of which shall be the number of shafesmmon stock outstanding immediately prior totsissue plus the number of such
additional shares of common stock so issued; peavitiat (i) all shares of common stock issuablenugmmversion or exchange of convertible
securities outstanding immediately prior to suguésshall be deemed to be outstanding, and (iiptingber of shares of common stock deeme
issuable upon conversion or exchange of such malistg convertible securities shall be determinetthauit giving effect to any adjustments to
the conversion or exchange price or conversiorxoh@nge rate of such convertible securities ragyiftiom the issuance of additional share
common stock that is the subject of this calcutatieor purposes of the warrants, “additional shafemmmon stock” shall mean all shares of
common stock issued by the Company after the éffedate (including without limitation any shardscommon stock issuable upon
conversion or exchange of any convertible secwsritieupon exercise of any option or warrant, oasieonverted basis), other than: (i) shares
of common stock (and/or warrants for any classqoiity securities of the Company) issued or issuaplen conversion or exchange of any
convertible securities or exercise of any optiongarrants outstanding on the effective date;stidres of common stock issued or issuable by
reason of a dividend, stock split, split-up or otlistribution on shares of common stock; (iii) ssof common stock (or options with respect
thereto) issued or issuable to employees or diredf or consultants to, the Company or any ofufssidiaries pursuant to a plan, agreeme
arrangement approved by the Board of Directori®@i@ompany; (iv) any securities issued or issubapldhe Company pursuant to (A) the
Private Placement; or (B) the Merger; (v) secwsitgsued pursuant to acquisitions or strategicstations approved by a majority of
disinterested directors of the Company, provided #my such issuance shall only be to a personhvihjétself or through its subsidiaries, an
operating company in a business synergistic wighatlsiness of the Company and in which the Compeaegives benefits in addition to the
investment of funds, but shall not include a tratisa in which the Company is issuing securitiesnarily for the purpose of raising capital or
to an entity whose primary business is investinggaurities and (vi) securities issued to finanicialitutions, institutional investors or lessan
connection with credit arrangements, equipmeniiiirags or similar transactions approved by a mgjaf disinterested directors of the
Company, but shall not include a transaction inclvthe Company is issuing securities primarilytfer purpose of raising capital or to an
entity whose primary business is investing in sitiest

Upon each adjustment of the exercise price purdoahe provisions stated above, the number ofamishares issuable upon exercise of the
warrants shall be adjusted by multiplying a nundwmgral to the exercise price in effect immediatelgnmto such adjustment by the number of
warrant shares issuable upon exercise of the wamanediately prior to such adjustment and dividihg product so obtained by the adjusted
exercise price.

6. Convertible Notes Payable
Convertible notes

From February 9, 2008 through December 31, 20ELCttmpany raised an aggregate of $2,390,000 irsfthrdugh loans consisting of
convertible notes (“Convertible Notes”) to certatnckholders, management, vendors, and investbesndtes bore interest at rates ranging
from 8% to 10% per annum and had maturity dategingrfrom 2011 to 2018. The Convertible Notes waneecured and subordinated to
certain senior indebtedness of the Company, andlf@onvertible Notes the principal plus accruettiest was convertible into the Company’
common stock. During October 2011, in connectiothwhe Exchange Agreement and Release, the Cobleeibtes and accrued interest
converted into the Company’s common stock.

F-19



Table of Contents

Local Bridge

During July and August 2011, $740,000 of Conveetibtes bearing interest at 20% per annum, ancawiarto purchase shares of common
stock were issued to investors. The ConvertibleeBlotere due at the earlier of 1) one year fronishgance date or 2) one week after the
consummation of a Merger transaction. The numberasfants to be issued was equal to the note pahdivided by the exercise price. The
exercise price was the per share or per unit faikat value received in the Merger. The notes werwertible at a price per share equal to
seventy-five percent (75%) of the per share fairketavalue of the total consideration receiveddahare of a public compasytommon stoc
to be determined to be identified upon consummaifcen merger.

The Company determined that the beneficial conwarf#ature and the warrants did not represent eddekederivative instruments.
Additionally, at issuance of the Convertible Notise, Company did not record the discount for theeffieial conversion feature due to the
contingencies surrounding conversion. The benéficiaversion feature was recorded when the conticige were resolved. In accordance
with ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and OtheriGm, the Company recorded a discount of approxm&583,700 for the warrants in
2011. The discount was amortized to interest expensr the term of the Convertible Notes usingettfiective interest method.

The Company calculated the fair value of the wasrasing the Black-Scholes Model using a volatitify109.84%, an interest rate of 1.12%
and a dividend yield of zero. Certain of these Gutile Notes and accrued interest were convertedthe Company’s common stock in
October 2011, in connection with the Exchange Agrea and Release, as discussed below. Upon coondh& Company recognized the
unamortized debt discount related to these notegdoest expense. The Company recognized approsiynd583,700 of interest expense for
the amortization of the note discount during tharyended December 31, 2011.

Exchange Agreement and Rele

In October 2011, the Company’s Board of Directard stockholders approved an Exchange Agreementeabi¢he note holders could
exchange their Convertible Notes and accrued istéoe shares of the Company’s common stock andants to purchase the Company’s
common stock. A total of $3,030,000 of principatl@pproximately $459,800 of accrued interest cdederat prices ranging from $0.27 to
$0.75, into 7,676,828 shares of the Company’s comstack, plus fiverear warrants to purchase 1,309,750 common shhegsexercise pric
of $1.00 per share. For the holders that electgtbtcipate, the Exchange Agreement and Releasdted in the cancellation of the
Convertible Notes and release from the note holfierany claims related to the Convertible Notes.

The Company determined that the warrants issuednnection with the Exchange Agreement and Rele@seot represent derivative
instruments. The warrants, valued at approximéaibRi7,600, were classified as equity instrumentsrandrded as interest expense on the dat
of issuance in 2011. The Company calculated thevédiie of the warrants using the Black-Scholes 8lodsing a volatility of 110.13%, an
interest rate of 1.11% and a dividend yield of zero

At December 31, 2011, an unsecured $100,000 CadblesMote, with interest at 10% and a maturity daftépril 2014, remained outstanding.
In February 2012, at the close of the Merger, threvertible note and accrued interest in the aggeegfaapproximately $110,000 were repaid.

2011 Private placement

On September 18, 2011, Organovo, Inc.’s Board ofé@ors authorized a private placement offeringmfo 30 Units of its securities at a price
of $50,000 per Unit for an aggregate purchase mfickd,500,000. Each Unit consisted of a convegtidte in the principal amount of $50,000
accruing simple interest at the rate of 6% per anfthe “Convertible Notes”), plus five-year warrambd purchase 50,000 shares of the next
Qualified Round of Equity Securities, at an exex@sice of $1.00 per share. The principal plus@ediinterest was convertible into the
Company’s common stock upon consummation of a Mergasaction.
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During October and November 2011, $1,500,000 of«@dible Notes bearing interest at 6% per annurh wiinaturity date of March 30, 20:
and five-year warrants to purchase 1,500,000 sture® Company’s common stock were issued to tovesinder the Private Placement. The
warrants are exercisable at $1.00 per share, expfiee years, and contain down-round price prideec The Convertible Notes were
outstanding at December 31, 2011, and were corvarte 1,525,387 Units during February 2012, inreextion with the Merger.

The Company determined that the warrants represdativative instrument due to the down-round ppicgection, and accordingly, the
Company recorded a derivative liability relatedhe warrants, with a corresponding debt discoumtpgfroximately $1,260,300. See Note 5.
Additionally, upon issuance of the notes during2ahe Company recorded the discount for the beiafionversion feature of $239,700. The
debt discount associated with the warrants andftoéaleconversion feature were amortized to inteeegense over the life of the Convertible
Notes, and fully amortized upon conversion of tlemzrtible Notes in 2012. The Company recorded@pprately $896,200 and $603,800
interest expense for the amortization of the dédstadint during the years ended December 31, 20d2@h1, respectively, and approximately
$1,500,000 for the period from inception throughrthe31, 2014.

As consideration for locating investors to partatin the Private Placement, the placement agened a cash payment of $195,000 in 2011.
Additionally, upon closing of the Merger transaatio 2012, the placement agent earned five-yearamts to purchase 610,155 shares of the
Company’s common stock at $1.00 per share. Thesamia contain down round protection and were dladsas derivative liabilities upon
issuance. See Note 5.

2012 Private placement

During 2012, concurrently with the closing of thelger and in contemplation of the Merger, the Camgpaompleted the initial closing of the
Private Placement of up to 8,000,000 Units ofétsusities, at a price of $1.00 per Unit, with thdigy to increase the offering to an aggregate
of up to 16,000,000 Units. Each Unit consistedrd share of common stock and a warrant to pura@seshare of common stock. The
Company completed three closings under the PrREteement during 2012, and raised total gross pascef $13,722,600 and total net
proceeds of $11,593,066. The Company issued 1%023hares of its common stock and warrants tohasee 15,247,987 shares of its
common stock (including warrants to purchase 1 35shares to former holders of the ConvertibleeNpéxercisable at $1.00 to investors in
the Offering. The placement agent and its seledéaders were paid total cash commissions of $12802and the placement agent was paid al
expense allowance of $411,678 and was issued ptateagent warrants to purchase 6,099,195 shatee @ompany’s common stock at an
exercise price of $1.00 per share.

The warrants issued to the investors and the planeagent, as described above, contain down rowgtdgiion, and accordingly, were
classified as derivative liabilities upon issuaroa.the closing date, the derivative liabilitiesreveecorded at an estimated fair value of
approximately $32,742,000. Given that the fair eadi the derivative liabilities exceeded the tatalceeds of the private placement of
$13,722,600, no net amounts were allocated todhamon stock. The amount by which the recordedlitads exceeded the proceeds of
approximately $19,019,400 was charged to othermesepat the closing dates. The Company has revéheederivative liability as of each
reporting period, and will continue to do so onteaabsequent balance sheet date until the sesunti®hich the derivative liabilities relate are
exercised or expire, with any changes in the falue recognized through earnings in the statenferperations. See Note 5.

Interest expense, including amortization of theerdiscounts and other interest expense was appatedyr$13,000, $65,000, $1,088,000,
$1,088,000, and $2,067,000 for the year ended Mait¢c2014, the three months ended March 31, 20d26862, and the years ended
December 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Intengstnse, including amortization of the note diste@and other interest expense, for the
period from April 19, 2007 (inception) through Marg1, 2014 was approximately $3,484,000.
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Registration rights agreeme

The Company entered into a registration rights emgent (“Registration Rights Agreement”) with thgestors in the Offering. Under the terms
of the Registration Rights Agreement, the Compagrged to file a registration statement coveringrésale of the common stock underlying
the Units and the common stock that is issuablexancise of the Investor Warrants (but not the comstock that is issuable upon exercise o
the warrants issued as compensation to the pladeagent in connection with the Offering) within 88ys from the final closing date of the
Offering (the “Filing Deadline”). The Company filgde registration statement on June 13, 2012. &fistration statement became effective
during July 2012.

The Company agreed to use reasonable efforts totamaithe effectiveness of the registration statartteough the one year anniversary from
the date the registration statement was declafedteie by the Securities and Exchange Commisstoa“SEC”),or until Rule 144 of the 19¢
Act is available to investors in the Offering wittspect to all of their shares, whichever is earlfehe Company had not met the Effectivenes:
Deadline, the Company would have been liable fonetary penalties equal to one-half of one perd@g) of each investor’'s investment in
the offering at the end of every 30 day perioddiwihg such Effectiveness Deadline failure untillstailure was cured. No payments shall be
owed with respect to any period during which althaf investors registrable securities may be sold by such iovestder Rule 144 or pursue

to another exemption from registration.

7. Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock

In October 2011, the Company issued 7,676,828 steireommon stock to note holders for the conversioConvertible Notes with a
principal balance totaling $3,030,000 and accruéereést totaling approximately $459,800.

During February and March 2012, the Company isQ1eP47,987 shares of common stock related to thgéieSee Note 2. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, the Company issued 182R28hares of common stock upon exercise of 13}B32yarrants.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, a totaP4f064 stock options were exercised for 224,064es of common stock.
During the three months ended March 31, 2013, tragany issued 6,131,198 shares of common stock exencise of 7,090,556 warrants.

A shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File B83-189995), or shelf, was filed with the SECJaty 17, 2013 authorizing the offer and
sale in one or more offerings of up to $100,000,@08ggregate of common stock, preferred stockt sleturities, warrants to purchase
common stock, preferred stock or debt securitieang combination of the foregoing, either indivadly or as units comprised of one or more
of the other securities. This shelf was declaréecéfe by the SEC on July 26, 2013.

On August 2, 2013, the Company, entered into aredmdting Agreement (the “Underwriting Agreementi)th Lazard Capital Markets LLC,
acting as representative of the underwriters naiméue Underwriting Agreement (the “Underwritersif)d joint book-runner with
Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., relating to the issuanad sale of 10,350,000 shares of the Company’s constawk, which includes the issuance
and sale of 1,350,000 shares pursuant to an ovtmaht option exercised by the Underwriters on Atdy 2013. JMP Securities LLC and
Maxim Group LLC each acted as omnagers for the offering. The price to the pulniithe Offering was $4.50 per share, and the Und&s
purchased the shares from the Company pursualn¢ tdriderwriting Agreement at a price of $4.23 ers. The net proceeds to the Comg
from the Offering were approximately $43.4 milli@after deducting underwriting discounts and comiissand other offering expenses of
$3.2 million payable by the Company, including trederwriters’ exercise of the overallotment opti®he transactions contemplated by the
Underwriting Agreement closed on August 7, 2013.
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The Underwriting Agreement contained customaryesentations, warranties and agreements by the Gomeastomary conditions to
closing, indemnification obligations of the Compamd the Underwriters, including for liabilitiesder the Securities Act, other obligations of
the parties and termination provisions.

The representations, warranties and covenantsinedtan the Underwriting Agreement were made oplydurposes of the Underwriting
Agreement as of specific dates indicated thereargvgolely for the benefit of the parties to thedBmvriting Agreement, and may be subject to
limitations agreed upon by the parties, includiegng qualified by confidential disclosures exchahfetween the parties in connection with
the execution of the Underwriting Agreement.

In November 2013, the Company entered into an ggiistribution agreement with an investment banKing. Under the terms of the
distribution agreement, the Company may offer aildup to 4,000,000 shares of its common stocknftime to time, through the investment
bank in “at the market” offerings, as defined bg 8EC, and pursuant to the Company'’s effectivef sbgistration statement previously filed
with the SEC. During the year ended March 31, 2@id Company issued 334,412 shares of common Biakthemarket offerings under tt
distribution agreement with net proceeds of $3.Hiani

In addition, during the year ended March 31, 2@4d,Company issued 2,713,207 shares of common sfmak exercise of 3,201,633 warral

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Compssyeid 183,796 shares of common stock upon exafci®8,796 options.

Restricted stock awarc

In February 2008, four founders, including the €Erecutive Officer (“CEQ”) and three directorstbe Company received 11,779,960 share
of restricted common stock, 25% vesting after trst year and the remaining 75% vesting in equaktguly portions over the following three
years. These shares are fully vested as of MarcARHY.

In May of 2008, the Board of Directors of the Compapproved the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (thed@lan”). The 2008 Plan authorized
the issuance of up to 1,521,584 common sharesvfards of incentive stock options, non-statutorgktoptions, restricted stock awards,
restricted stock award units, and stock appreciaights. The 2008 Plan terminates on July 1, 20l8shares were issued under the 2008 Plz
during the year ended December 31, 2012, the thmehs ended March 31, 2013, or the year endedhiV&ikc2014, and the Company does
not intend to issue any additional shares fron20@8 Plan in the future.

From 2008 through December 31, 2011, the Compauedsa total of 1,258,934 shares of restricted comstock to various employees,
advisors, and consultants of the Company. Of tisbsees, 1,086,662 were issued under the 2008 Rththa remaining 172,272 shares were
issued outside the plan.

In January of 2012, the Board of Directors of tlwerpany approved the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan ‘(8842 Plan). The 2012 Plan authori:
the issuance of up to 6,553,986 shares of comnoak $or awards of incentive stock options, nontgtaty stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock unitxsfgrmance units, performance shares, and othek stocash awards. In August 2013, the Boarc
of Directors of the Company approved an amendneetitet 2012 Plan to increase the number of sharesmion stock that may be issued
under the 2012 Plan by 5,000,000 shares, for areggte of 11,553,986 shares issuable under the RRh2 The 2012 Plan terminates ten
years after its adoptio

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynigsaned an aggregate 950,000 of restricted steekds to certain members of senior
management and 130,000 restricted stock awardsnt@xecutive employees. The vesting schedule is @%ach anniversary of the vesting
start date over four years. Additionally, the Compasued 100,000 restricted stock awards to auttams. The vesting schedule is 100% after
6 months.
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynigsaned an aggregate 200,000 restricted stockdswara member of senior
management, the vesting of which is performancedhass of March 31, 2014, the Company believeditiencial targets would be met, and
accordingly is recognizing the related stock bas®dpensation expense over the requisite servideder

During the year ended December 31, 2012, there 98212 restricted stock awards forfeited by stafnbers upon termination of their
employment with the Company. Additionally, 89,6 @étricted stock awards were surrendered relatetiames of common stock returned to
Company, at the option of the holders, to covertdlxdiability related to the vesting of 211,258tricted stock awards. Upon the return of the
common stock, 89,674 stock option grants with imiaedvesting were granted to the individuals atvibsting date market value strike price.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, tragany issued an aggregate of 55,000 restrictelt stwards with immediate vesting to a
consultant.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, tvere 10,000 restricted stock awards forfeited iy staff member upon termination of
their employment with the Company. Additionally, @40 restricted stock awards were surrenderedegktatshares of common stock returned
to the Company, at the option of the holder, toecdhie tax liability related to the vesting of 5@00restricted stock awards. Upon the return of
the common stock, 24,690 stock option grants witmediate vesting were granted to the individuahatvesting date market value strike
price.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, 218,655io¢stf stock awards were surrendered related t@stwrcommon stock returned to the
Company, at the option of the holder, to covertéheliability related to the vesting of 405,000treeted stock awards. Upon the return of the
common stock, 218,655 stock option grants with imigte vesting were granted to the individual atwesting date market value strike price.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Compsswyeid an aggregate of 60,000 restricted stock withdmmediate vesting to a consulte
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A summary of the Company’s restricted stock awatd/iy is as follows:

Number of
Shares

Unvested at December 31, 2007 —
Grantec 12,627,69
Vested (65,217
Canceled / forfeite: —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 12,562,48
Grantec 130,42:
Vested (5,373,00)
Canceled / forfeite: —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 7,319,90:
Grantec 219,36¢
Vested (3,256,19)
Canceled / forfeite: —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 4,283,08:
Grantec 61,40¢
Vested (3,233,19)
Canceled / forfeite: —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 1,111,29!
Grantec 1,380,00!
Vested (1,233,40)
Canceled / forfeite: (95,849
Unvested at December 31, 2C 1,162,04.
Grantec 55,00(
Vested (221,309
Canceled / forfeite: (10,000
Unvested at March 31, 20: 985,74
Grantec 60,00(
Vested (472,24)
Canceled / forfeite: —
Unvested at March 31, 20: 573,49!

The fair value of each restricted common stock avimrecognized as stock-based expense over thiagyésrm of the award. The Company
recorded restricted stock-based compensation egpergperating expenses for employees and non-gegsoof approximately $817,000,
$478,000, $0, $835,000, and $3,000 during the geded March 31, 2014, the three months ended MrcR013 and March 31, 2012, and
years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, resgdgciivee Company recorded restricted s-based compensation expense of approximatel
$2,141,000 for the period from April 19, 2007 (iptien) through March 31, 2014. Expense for eacthefperiods included approximately
$16,000, $4,000, $0, $23,000, and $0 for researdidavelopment during the year ended March 31, 2@0&4three months ended March 31,
2013 and March 31, 2012, and the years ended Dexediib2012, and 2011, respectively. General andrastrative expense for the year
ended March 31, 2014, the three months ended MarcB013 and March 31, 2012, and the years endedritger 31, 2012, and 2011 were
approximately $801,000, $474,000, $0, $812,000,%%d00, respectively.

As of March 31, 2014, total unrecognized restricttk-based compensation expense was approxin&téi;,000, which will be recognized
over a weighted average period of 1.46 years.
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Stock options

Under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, on October2l11, the Company granted an officer incentieelsbptions to purchase 896,256 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $0.08 pares a quarter of which vested on the one yeavarsary of employment, in May 2012, ¢
the remaining options are vesting ratably overémaining 36 month term. Other than this grantGbenpany does not intend to issue any
additional shares under the 2008 Plan.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the threethsoended March 31, 2013, and the year ended Dexediib2012, under the 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan, 2,519,572, 927,981 and 2,023,38dritive stock options were issued, respectivelyadbus exercise prices, a quarter of wi
will vest on either the one year anniversary of Expiment or one year anniversary of the vesting cemrement date. The remaining options
will vest ratably over the remaining 36 month termih the exception of 218,655, 24,690 and 83 88fhe incentive stock option grants
during the year ended March 31, 2014, the threetimperiod ended March 31, 2013, and the year eBegegmber 31, 2012, respectively, that
have immediate vesting at the grant date, 99,580126,000 of the incentive stock option grantdhmyears ended March 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2012, respectively, that vest quarterér three years, and 122,500 and 70,750 ofitentive stock option grants in the years
ended March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2012, régplycthat vest after one full year.

The following table summarizes stock option acyivdr 2010 through March 31, 2014:

Weighted- Aggregate
Options Average Intrinsic
Qutstanding Exercise Pric Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2010 — —
Options grante! 896,25 $ 0.0¢
Options cancele — —
Options exercise — —

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 896,25¢ $ 0.0¢ —

Options grante: 2,023,39. $ 1.9t

Options cancele (5,000 $ 2.2t

Options exercise (224,069 $ 0.0¢ $ 564,64:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,690,58 $ 1.4¢ $ 3,041,47

Options grante: 927,98: $ 3.9¢

Options cancele — —

Options exercise — — —
Outstanding at March 31, 20. 3,618,56' $ 2.11 $ 5,909,15.

Options grante: 2,519,57. $ 8.6:

Options cancele (18,459 3.31

Options exercise (183,790 2.1¢ $ 1,002,41
Outstanding at March 31, 20. 5,935,88 $ 4.8i $20,482,82
Vested and Exercisable at March 31, 2 1,546,37 $ 2.7¢ $ 7,733,04.

The weighted-average remaining contractual terwptibns exercisable and outstanding at March 314 2@as approximately 8.5 years and
8.92 years, respectively.
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation ntodsdiculate the fair value of stock options. Stbeked compensation expense is
recognized over the vesting period using the dttdige method. The fair value of stock options veatimated at the grant date using the
following weighted average assumptions:

Three Months

Year Ended Ended Year Ended
March 31, 201 March 31, 201 December 31, 20:
Dividend yield — — —
Volatility 78.22% 96.8% 96.2:%
Risk-free interest rat 1.32% 1.1% 0.8%
Expected life of option 6.00 year 6.07 year 6.05 year
Weighted average grant date fair va $ 5.92 $ 3.04 $ 1.t

The assumed dividend yield was based on the Con'gpargectation of not paying dividends in the fesble future. Due to the Company’s
limited historical data, the estimated volatilihcorporates the historical and implied volatilifycomparable companies whose share prices al
publicly available. The risk-free interest ratelamption was based on the U.S. Treasury rates. Enghted average expected life of options
was estimated using the average of the contratgtral and the weighted average vesting term of ghiews. Certain options granted to
consultants are subject to variable accountindrireat and are required to be revalued until vested.

The total stock option based compensation recoadezperating expense was approximately $3,783%E¥®,000, $4,000, $600,000, and
$6,000 for the year ended March 31, 2014, the thmeeths ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 20i®ttanyears ended December 31,
2012, and 2011, respectively. The Company recostizk-based compensation expense of approximadei6$,000 for the period from

April 19, 2007 (inception) through March 31, 20Ekpense for each of the periods included approxip&462,000, $58,000 and $81,000 for
research and development during the year endedn\gdrc2014, the three months ended March 31, 28i8the year ended December 31,
2012, respectively. General and administrative egpdor the year ended March 31, 2014, the threghsended March 31, 2013 and

March 31, 2012, and years ended December 31, 2022011 were approximately $3,321,000, $312,00@0, $519,000, and $6,000
respectively.

The total unrecognized compensation cost relateshvested stock option grants as of March 31, 2@d< approximately $16,045,500 and the
weighted average period over which these grantexgrected to vest is 3.5 years.

Warrants

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 208 Company issued warrants to investors to puecBas347,182 and 2,909,750 shares,
respectively, of its common stock.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the threethsoended March 31, 2013 and the year ended Dece8hb2012, 225,000, 3,852,214, ¢
13,259,987 of these warrants were exercised fdr pesceeds of approximately $210,000, $3,850,0@0$411,356,000, respectively, and
2,628,003, 3,138,342, and 272,500 of these warveerts exercised through a cashless exercise foanse of 2,139,577, 2,220,764, and
163,635 shares of common stock, respectively. Nwamgs were exercised during 2011.

In December 2012, the Company consummated a waemaér offer to the holders of outstanding wasaatpurchase approximately

14.5 million shares of the Company’s common stértlaccordance with the tender offer, for those aatrholders that elected to participate,
this resulted in a reduction of the exercise poftthe warrants from $1.00 per share to $0.80 paresof common stock in cash, shortened the
exercise period of the warrants so that they egptancurrently with the tender offer, and removeal price-based anti-dilution provisions
contained in the warrants. The Company completedethder offer on December 21, 2012, resultingppreximately 9.6 million warrants
being exercised for gross proceeds of approxim&eJy00,000. In connection with the
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transaction, the Company recognized an expengbdanducement to exercise the warrants of apprateiy $1,900,000. The Company also
incurred approximately $400,000 in placement afgst, legal costs, and other related fees, whiek haen recognized as an offset to the
proceeds received from the warrant exercises.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, derivatiability warrants of 1,920,874 were exercised af®®,556 of the warrants exercised during
the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 13,01@Rhe warrants exercised in 2012 were derivaiaklities and were valued at the
settlement date. The warrant liability was reduteédquity at the fair value on the settlement date Note 5.

During the twelve months ended March 31, 2014 Aedhree months ended March 31, 2013, the Compaeyesl into amendment agreem
for 269,657 and 601,735, warrants respectivelpui@hase common stock which reduced the exercise pf the warrants from $1.00 to
between $0.85 and $0.90, which removed the downerquice protection provision of the warrant agreatrelated to the adjustment of
exercise price upon issuance of additional sharesramon stock. As a result of the removal of tbevd-round price protection provision, the
warrants were reclassified from liability to equitgtruments at their fair value. The Company deieed the incremental expense associated
with the modification based on the fair value af #twards prior to and subsequent to the modifioafitie fair value of the awards subsequent
to modification was calculated using the Black-Sehanodel. The incremental expense associatedthétinodification of approximately
$12,000 and $65,000 was recognized as interesheggder the twelve months ended March 31, 2014tlaedhree months ended March 31,
2013, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Comgatgyred into four agreements with consultantséovices. In connection with the
agreements, the Company issued a total of 650,@0fants to purchase common stock, at prices rarfging $1.70 to $3.24, with lives
ranging from two to five years, to be earned oeevise periods of up to six months. The fair vabfi¢he warrants was estimated to be
approximately $890,000, which was recognized a®pgid asset and is being amortized over the tétimeaconsulting agreements. These
warrants were classified as equity instruments leethey do not contain any anti-dilution provisiohhe Black-Scholes model, using
volatility rates ranging from 79.8% to 103.8% arskifree interest rate factors ranging from 0.2400.63%, were used to determine the value
The value is being amortized over the term of t@aments. During the year ended March 31, 201de thnonths ended March 31, 2013 and
the year ended December 31, 2012, the Companymizashapproximately $72,000, $261,000, and $556,@8pectively, of expense related
to these services. During the year ended Marcl2@14, 348,630 warrants held by consultants werecesasl resulting in proceeds to the
Company of approximately $891,000. During the thmemths ended March 31, 2013, 58,220 shares of aonmstock were issued through a
cashless exercise of 100,000 of these warrants.

Additionally, during November 2013 the Company eadeinto an agreement with a consultant for sesvibeconnection with the agreement,
the Company issued 75,000 warrants to purchase oonstock, at a price of $7.36, with a life of fiyears, to be earned over a twelve month
service period. The fair value of the warrants estimated to be approximately $404,000, which wasgnized as a prepaid asset and is beir
amortized over the term of the consulting agreenBmése warrants were classified as equity instrisnieecause they do not contain any anti-
dilution provisions. The Black-Scholes model, usingolatility rate of 96.90% and a risk-free int&reate factor of 0.60%, was used to
determine the value. The Company recognized apmabely $163,000 during the year ended March 31420t for the period from April 19,
2007 (inception) through March 31, 2014, relateth&zse services.
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The following table summarizes warrant activity foe year ended March 31, 2014, the three monttisceiarch 31, 2013, and the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010:

WeightedAverage

Warrants Exercise Prict

Balance at December 31, 2010 — —
Granted 2,909,75I $ 1.0C

Expired / Cancele — —

Exercisec — —
Balance at December 31, 20 2,909,75I $ 1.0C
Granted 21,997,18 $ 1.04
Exercisec (13,532,48) $ 0.84
Balance at December 31, 20 11,374,44 $ 1.0¢

Granted — —
Exercisec (7,090,55i) $ 1.01
Balance at March 31, 20: 4,283,88! $ 1.17
Granted 112,50( $ 7.3¢€

Expired / Cancele — —
Exercisec (3,201,63) 1.1€
Balance at March 31, 20: 1,194,75! $ 1.7¢

The warrants outstanding at March 31, 2014 are idiately exercisable at prices between $0.85 ang6fjer share, and have a weighted
average remaining term of approximately 2.55 years.

Common stock reserved for future issuance

Common stock reserved for future issuance considtéue following at March 31, 2014:

Common stock warrants outstand 1,194,75
Common stock options outstanding under the 2008 672,19.
Common stock options outstanding and reserved uhde2012 Plal 9,534,98!
Total 11,401,93

Preferred stocl

The Company is authorized to issue 25,000,000 stidngreferred stock. There are no shares of pexfestock currently outstanding, and the
Company has no present plans to issue sharesfefnga stock.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating leases

The Company leases office and laboratory spacerunden-cancelable operating lease which was ahiete in February 2012 and amended
in December 2013, with the future minimum leasenpats from the lease included below. The Compacgrds rent expense on a straight-
line basis over the life of the lease and recdndseixcess of expense over the amounts paid asetkfent. Deferred rent is included in accruec
expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.

Rent expense was approximately $561,500, $105& 200, $325,600, and $145,200 for the year edbadh 31, 2014, the three months
ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, and the years ddeleeimber 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Rergresgowas approximately $1,317,200
for the period from April 19, 2007 (inception) tugh March 31, 2014.
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On February 27, 2012, the Company entered intailities lease at 6275 Nancy Ridge Drive (the “@Qvaj Lease”), San Diego, CA 92121,
with occupancy as of July 15, 2012. The base medeuthe lease was approximately $38,800 per msitkh3% annual escalators. The lease
term was 48 months with an option for the Compangxtend the lease at the end of the lease term.

On December 5, 2013, the Company entered intosa &A&inendment (the “Amendment”) to the Original Lea®gether with the Amendment,
(the “Amended Lease”). Pursuant to the AmendméetGompany expanded the size of its facility byrapimately 15,268 square feet (the
“Expansion Premises”) from approximately 15,539aqUfeet (the “Original Premises”) for a total ppaoximately 30,807 square feet. The
Amended Lease provides for base rent (i) on thgi@al Premises to continue at approximately $38@80month, with annual escalators, u
August 1, 2016, at which point the base rent dhalbayable at the same rate per rentable squaraddbe Expansion Premises and (ii) on the
Expansion Premises of approximately $38,934 pertimavith 3% annual escalators, not to commence twd months after the earlier of

(A) the date that the landlord delivers possessidhe Expansion Premises to the Company with thew the Expansion Lab Premises (as
defined in the Amendment) substantially completé @) the date the landlord could have deliveredElpansion Premises with the work in
the Expansion Lab Premises (as defined in the Amemd) substantially complete but for certain delafythe Company. Additionally, the
Company has a right of first refusal on adjacewulitamhal premises of approximately 14,500 squaet. fEhe term of the Amended Lease
expires on the seven-year anniversary of the eafliéd) the date that the landlord delivers posgas of the Expansion Premises to the
Company and (B) the date the landlord could haligeted the Expansion Premises but for certainydetd the Company (the “Expansion
Premises Commencement Date”). The target Expafsimmises Commencement Date is September 1, 2024Cdimpany also has the option
to terminate the Amended Lease on the 5-year arg@meof the Expansion Premises Commencement DhgeCompany intends for the
Expansion Premises to contain office, laboratong elean room areas.

Future minimum rental payments required under djperdeases that have initial or remaining non-edalole lease terms in excess of one yea
as of March 31, 2014, are as follows (in thousands)

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2C $ 76€
Fisca year ended March 31, 20 981
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2C 98¢
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2C 1,004
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2C 1,03¢
Thereafte! 2,43¢
Total $7,21(

Capital leases

During 2012, the Company entered into an agreetodetise certain laboratory equipment under a rsorcalable capital lease, which is
included in fixed assets as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 201

Lab equipmen $34
Less accumulated depreciati (11)
Net book value $ 23

Depreciation expense related to the capital lebBgation was approximately $6,800, $1,700 and 82 fr the year ended March 31, 2014
three months ended March 31, 2013 and the yeaddddeember 31, 2012, respectively.
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Future minimum capital lease payments at Marct2814 are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2C $ 11
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2C __ 4
Total minimum lease paymer 15
Amount representing intere —

Present value of minimum lease payme 15
Less current portio (10
Long term portior $ 5

Legal Matters

In addition to commitments and obligations in th@imary course of business, the Company is sulbjecarious claims and pending and
potential legal actions arising out of the normaiduct of its business. The Company assesses gentiies to determine the degree of
probability and range of possible loss for potdrat@rual in its financial statements. An estimdtexs contingency is accrued in its financial
statements if it is probable that a liability h&eb incurred and the amount of the loss can bemaaly estimated. Because litigation is
inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolioould occur, assessing litigation contingenadsdhly subjective and requires judgments
about future events. When evaluating contingendgiesCompany may be unable to provide a meanirggfitnate due to a number of factors,
including the procedural status of the matter iasiion, the presence of complex or novel legalrieepand/or the ongoing discovery and
development of information important to the mattémsaddition, damage amounts claimed in litigataainst it may be unsupported,
exaggerated or unrelated to possible outcomesassdch are not meaningful indicators of its paaéhability. The Company regularly
reviews contingencies to determine the adequadyg afcruals and related disclosures. The amouultiofate loss may differ from these
estimates. It is possible that cash flows or resefioperations could be materially affected in payticular period by the unfavorable resolu
of one or more of these contingencies. Whethel@sses finally determined in any claim, action dstigation or proceeding could reasonably
have a material effect on the Company’s businésantial condition, results of operations or cdsiw$ will depend on a number of variables,
including: the timing and amount of such losses;dtriucture and type of any remedies; the monsignjficance of any such losses, damages
or remedies may have on our consolidated finastéiéments; and the unique facts and circumstaridae particular matter that may give |
to additional factors.

Spencer Trask MatterOn June 28, 2013, the Company filed a lawsuitifalaratory relief in the Supreme Court for that&bf New York
(case # 652305/2013) against Spencer Trask Ventaeq“STV” or “Spencer Trask”) in connection Wit Warrant Solicitation Agency
Agreement (the “WSAA”) that the Company entered with STV in February 2013 (the “New York Action’ln the New York Action, the
Company is seeking a declaration that the WSAA iesna valid and enforceable agreement. Over theseaf several weeks in February
2013, Organovo and STV, through their respectit@iays, negotiated the WSAA pursuant to whichGbenpany engaged STV as the
Company'’s warrant solicitation agent in connectiéth the Company'’s efforts to solicit the exercifeoutstanding Organovo warrants during
the first quarter of 2013. STV’s President sigrieel WSAA on behalf of STV, and the Company’s CECOcexed the agreement on behalf of
Organovo. Spencer Trask provided services to thregany pursuant to the WSAA, and the Company has $aV for those services.

The Company’s dispute with Spencer Trask aroseanckl2013 after the Company approached Spencek abaait exercising its outstanding
warrants to help the Company qualify for up-listitgcommon stock on the NYSE MKT. Previously, SganTrask had not asserted any
claims for additional compensation as a resulhefwarrant tender offer the Company completed ioebeer 2012. In March 2013, the
Company received two demand letters from STV, addraand for arbitration notice in June 2013. Infite demand letter, STV alleges the
is entitled to compensation (including a cash fegw&arrants to purchase common stock) as a
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result of the warrant tender offer the Company detep in December 2012 and as a result of the eofievarrant redemption the Company
completed in March 2013. In the second letter, Sill®ges it is entitled to damages because the Coyngidegedly violated confidentiality
provisions in the Placement Agency Agreement (f&A”") the Company had previously entered into v8tiV in December 2012 in
connection with the private placement financings @ompany completed in February and March 2012“Rhigate Placements”), by
contacting the warrant holders who participatethénwarrant tender offer. In response, on Jun@83, the Company filed a lawsuit for
declaratory relief in the Supreme Court for thet&Stf New York against STV. The Company’s tendéemfvas made to warrant holders of
record relating to warrants already owned by thadhwahose identity was public information via a Retgition Statement on Form S-1 the
Company was required to file to register the reeéilhe shares underlying their warrants. For tlskother reasons, including applicability of
the WSAA, the Company believes STV is not entittdompensation under the PAA and there was natiwoi of confidentiality. The
Company received notice on August 5, 2013 that 8a¥ filed its arbitration demand with the arbitrathe “Arbitration”). In July, 2013, the
Company filed a motion to stay the arbitration gagdietermination of the New York Action. In Janp@014, the New York Court stayed the
New York Action, finding that the arbitrator shouddtermine in the first instance which disputesvieen the Company and Spencer Ti
should proceed in the Arbitration and which dispuietween the Company and Spencer Trask shoulégutoo the New York Court. The
parties are proceeding in the Arbitration and tlken@any has reserved its right to file a summarpasgion motion with regard to the proper
venue for its claims under the WSAA. The Arbitratis scheduled to commence on March 2, 2015.

The Company believes that the assertions madesidgaby STV are without merit and the Company iintg to continue to vigorously defend
against the claims made by STV. The Company hasstablished a loss contingency accrual for thissms because any potential liability is
not probable or estimable. Nonetheless, an unfél®rasolution of these claims could have a mdtadaerse effect on the Company’s
business, liquidity or financial condition in theporting period in which such resolution occurs.

Other Legal MattersIn addition to the matter described above, thmm@any is subject to normal and routine litigatioritie ordinary course of
business. The Company has not accrued any losimgenties for such matters. The Company intendetend itself in any such matters and
does not currently believe that the outcome of sualtters will have a material adverse effect omitsiness, liquidity or financial position.

9. Licensing Agreements and Research Contracts
University of Missouri

On March 24, 2009, the Company entered into a $ieagreement with the Curators of the Universitil@souri to in-license certain
technology and intellectual property relating ti-sssembling cell aggregates and to intermedialielar units. The Company received the
exclusive worldwide rights to commercialize producbmprising this technology for all fields of uS&e Company paid to the University of
Missouri a nonrefundable license fee of $25,000f@slcommitted to reimburse the University of Mig$dor certain prior and future patent
costs. Each year the Company is required to pattieersity of Missouri royalties ranging from 1% 3% of net sales depending on the level
of net sales achieved by the Company each yearinkmam annual royalty of $25,000 is due beginniwg years after the calendar year of the
first commercial sale and is credited to salesltig The license agreement terminates upon eiquiraf the patents licensed and is subject tc
certain conditions as defined in the license agergnwhich are expected to expire after 2029. T2&®O0 license fee is included in Other
Assets in the accompanying balance sheets andhig Amortized over the life of the related patent.

On March 12, 2010, the Company entered into a $ieagreement with the Curators of the Universitiylssouri to in-license certain
technology and intellectual property relating tgieeered biological nerve grafts. The Company rexgbthe exclusive worldwide rights to
commercialize products comprising this technolagydil fields of use. The Company paid to Universit Missouri a nonrefundable license
fee of $5,000 and has

F-32



Table of Contents

committed to reimburse the University of Missouni €ertain prior and future patent costs. In 20d@ 2011, the Company paid the University
of Missouri approximately $193,500 and $23,800peesively, for prior patent costs relating to tleehse agreements with the University of
Missouri. No payments were made during the yeaedmdarch 31, 2014 or the three months ended MatcB@®L3. Each year the Company is
required to pay the University of Missouri royadtienging from 1% to 3% of net sales dependincheridvel of net sales achieved by the
Company each year. A minimum annual royalty of 88,3 due beginning two years after the calendar géthe first commercial sale and is
credited to sales royalties. An additional royaify$12,500 is due if there are no net sales witivimyears from the effective date of the licer
The license agreement terminates upon expiratidheopatents licensed and is subject to certaiditions as defined in the license agreement
The $5,000 license fee is included in Other Asaatsis being amortized over the life of the relgiatent.

Clemson University

On May 2, 2011, the Company entered into a licaggeement with Clemson University Research Fouoddti in-license certain technology
and intellectual property relating to ink-jet piing of viable cells. The Company received the esigtel worldwide rights to commercialize
products comprising this technology for all fielsfsuse. The Company agreed to pay Clemson Uniyeasiionrefundable license fee of
$32,500, as well as an additional $32,500 to reisdClemson University for certain prior and futpegent costs. These fees, totaling $65,
are included in Other Assets and are being amadrtizer the life of the related patent. Each yearGompany is required to pay the University
royalties ranging from 1.5% to 3% of net sales dejggg on the level of net sales reached each yehmanimum annual fees ranging from
$20,000 to $40,000. Specific terms of the royaltgl hcense agreements are confidential. The liceagseement terminates upon expiration of
the patents licensed, which is expected to expitday 2024, and is subject to certain conditiondefined in the license agreement.

No royalty payments have been made under the diz@rese agreements as of March 31, 2014. Approxiyn&4,000 is due to the Univers
of Missouri relating to the first commercial safenual royalty payments of $30,000 and $20,000 belldue to the University of Missouri and
Clemson University, respectively, in calendar 2p#&4the terms of the respective license agreements.

Becton Dickinsol

In February of 2013, the Company purchased theusix@ rights to intellectual property relating ®rfusion bioreactors for culturing cells
from Becton Dickinson and Company for $18,500. Taesis included in Other Assets and is being aizexitover the life of the related patent.
This patent represents the acquisition of bioreaetthnology for the support of our 3D tissuesuse in drug discovery and development. No
future royalties or milestone payments are oweBdgcton Dickinson and Company for this patent.

Capitalized license fees consisted of the followiimghousands):

March 31 March 31 December 3:

2014 2013 2012
License fees $ 114 $ 114 $ 95
Less accumulated amortizati (25) a7 (15)
License fees, ne $ 89 $ 97 $ 80

Amortization expense of licenses was approximek8lp00, $2,000, $1,700, $7,000, $5,200, and $25@0be year ended March 31, 2014,
the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2013 ethwes ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and tioel leom April 19, 2007 (inception)
through March 31, 2014, respectively. At March 3014, the weighted average remaining amortizateiod for all licenses was

approximately 11 years. The annual amortizatioreaezp of licenses for the next five years is estoh&d be approximately $8,500 per year.
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10. Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettermporary differences between the carrying anmohassets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armpurposes. Significant components of the Comisamst deferred tax assets are as
follows as of March 31, 2014, March 31, 2013, armt@&nber 31, 2012 (in thousands):

March 31 March 31 December 3:
2014 2013 2012

Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carry forwar $ — $ — $ —
Research and development cre — — —
Depreciation and amortizatic 22 (@D} 2
Accrued expenses and reser 28C 224 29C
Stock compensatic 1,941 743 562
Other, ne 1 1 —
Total deferred tax asse 2,244 967 85C
Valuation allowanct (2,249 (967 (850

$ — $ — $ —

A full valuation allowance has been establishedffset the deferred tax assets as management cemmcitide that realization of such assets i
more likely than not. Under the Internal Revenue€('IRC”) Sections 382 and 383, annual use ofrmiroperating loss and research tax
credit carryforwards to offset taxable income mayitmited based on cumulative changes in ownersiip have not completed an analysis to
determine whether any such limitations have beggedred as of March 31, 2014. Until this analysisampleted, we have removed the
deferred tax assets related to net operating l@s#sesearch credits from our deferred tax asbetdsile. The valuation allowance increase
approximately $1,277,000 and increased by appraeiyn&117,000 for the year ended March 31, 2014thadhree months ended March 31,
2013, respectively.

The Company had federal and state net operatisgclmsyforwards of approximately $34,838,000 andl, $33,000 at March 31, 2014,
respectively. The federal and state net operating tarryforwards will begin expiring in 2028, wsdgreviously utilized. The net operating |
carryforwards included approximately $3,389,000vofdfall tax benefits related to stock compensattaat will be recorded as an increase to
additional paid in capital.

The Company had federal and state research tait cexdy forwards of approximately $450,000 and 500 at March 31, 2014, respectively.
The federal research tax credit carryforwards begjiring in 2028. The state research tax credityéarwards do not expire.

In 2009 the Company adopted the accounting guidotaencertainty in income taxes pursuant to ASG-I8. The adoption of this guidance
did not have a material impact on the Company’sobdated financial statements. The Company dideatrd any accruals for income tax
accounting uncertainties for the year ended Malfgi2814.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest aadgities that would be assessed in relation teettteement value of unrecognized tax
benefits as a component of income tax expenseCoingpany did not accrue either interest or penalt@s inception through March 31, 201

The Company does not have any unrecognized taXitsetat will significantly decrease or increasihin 12 months of March 31, 2014.

The Company is subject to tax in the United Statesin the state of California. As of March 31, 20the Company’s tax years from inception
are subject to examination by the tax authorifié® Company is not currently under examinationty &d.S. federal or state jurisdictions.
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11. Concentrations
Credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consigtgpally of temporary cash investments.
The Company maintains cash balances at variousdiakinstitutions primarily located in San Diegiccounts at these institutions are secure
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. iAesi, balances may exceed federally insured lifiiis. Company has not experienced losse
in such accounts, and management believes th&dhpany is not exposed to any significant credk with respect to its cash and cash
equivalents.
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ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindaetdisclosed in our reports filed purst

to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amefttied'Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, suriredy and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, thatl such information is accumulated and commuedtg our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financaid accounting officer, as appropriate, to allomety decisions regarding required disclosure

Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Offiaed our Chief Financial Officer, and with the tpzEipation of all members of management,
we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure ctsand procedures, as such term is defined under Ra-15(e) promulgated under the
Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our prisloxecutive officer and our principal financiafiogér concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were designed and operating efédets of the end of the period covered by thisuaif-orm 10-K.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our management’siahreport on internal control over financial refoug is set forth below and the report of
our independent registered public accounting fsrimcluded on page of this Annual RéparForm 10-K.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting. Our system of internal
control over financial reporting is designed tovpde reasonable assurance to our management amd 8o@irectors regarding the preparat
and fair presentation of our consolidated finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally accepted accounting principles.

Our management, under the supervision of our eftutive Officer and the Chief Financial Officagsessed the effectiveness of our inte
control over financial reporting as of March 31120In making this assessment, we used the frankeioluded ininternal Control —
Integrated Framewor(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgiuns of the Treadway Commission. Based on oaluation
under the criteria set forth Internal Control — Integrated Framewo(k992), our management concluded that our interomdrol over
financial reporting was effective as of March 3Q12.

Auditor’s Attestation Report on Internal Control Ov er Financial Reporting

Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C., our independent regestgrublic accounting firm, has audited our consdéd financial statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and has issuedt@station report, included herein, on the effamtiess of our internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in our internal control oveairfcial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)haf Exchange Act) that occurred during the
fiscal quarter to which this report relates thag heaterially affected, or is reasonably likely tatarially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand our Chief Financial Officer, do not expdetttour disclosure controls or our
internal control over financial reporting will premnt or detect all error and all fraud. A contrastgym, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absassirance that the control system’s objectiviso@imet. The design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource caings, and the benefits of controls must be canreid relative to their costs. Further, because c
the inherent limitations in all control systems,ev@luation of controls can provide absolute asmeadhat misstatements due to error or fraud
will not occur or that all control issues and imstes of fraud, if any, have been detected. Thdserémt limitations include the realities that
judgments in decisic-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can ooeaause of simple error or mistake. Controls ¢sm lze

circumvented by the individual acts of some persbysollusion of two or more people, or by managatroverride of the controls. The des

of any system of controls is based in part on aegasumptions about the likelihood of future eseand there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goaldeu all potential future conditions. Projectiorigny evaluation of controls effectiveness to
future periods are subject to risks. Over time tads may become inadequate because of changesidtitions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures.
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ltem 9B.  Other Information.
None.
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PART Il

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Information relating to our directors, executivéicgrs and corporate governance, including our Gafdeusiness Conduct, will be included in
the proxy statement for the 2014 annual meeting®fCompany’s stockholders, expected to be filatiwil20 days of the end of our fiscal
year, which is incorporated herein by references fiitl text of our Code of Business Conduct, whikkthe code of ethics that applies to al
our officers, directors and employees, can be faonte “Investors” section of our website accelesib the public at www.organovo.com

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

Information relating to executive compensation Wwélincluded in the proxy statement for the 201duahmeeting of the Company'’s
stockholders, expected to be filed within 120 dafythe end of our fiscal year, which is incorpodakesrein by reference.

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Information relating to the beneficial ownershipoofr common stock will be included in the proxytstaent for the 2014 annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed wift2@ days of the end of our fiscal year, whicmiorporated herein by reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

Information relating to certain relationships aethted transactions and director independencéwilhcluded in the proxy statement for the
2014 annual meeting of the Company’s stockhold=sected to be filed within 120 days of the endwffiscal year, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

Iltem 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information relating to principal accountant fe@sl @ervices will be included in the proxy statenfenthe 2014 annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders, expected to be filed wift20 days of the end of our fiscal year, whicmiorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule

(a) The following documents have been filed as phttis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements: The informatémuired by this item is included in Item 8 of Puf this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules: Financial statesthedules required under the related instrustésa not applicable for the year
ended March 31, 2014, the three months ended M&rcB013 and 2012 and the years ended Decemb2032,and 2011, and
have therefore been omitte

3.

Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the Exhibit kxattached to this report are filed or incorpattdig reference as part of this Annual
Report.

(b) The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibidex are filed or incorporated by reference as gfthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 135t)1of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thggsteant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /sl Keith Murphy
Keith Murphy,
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: June 10, 201

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anmirggpKeith Murphy
and Barry Michaels, and each of them individuadly the undersigned’s true and lawful attorneysast-ind agents, with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, for the undersibaed in the undersigned’s name, place, and steady and all capacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this Report, and to file the samid, ali exhibits thereto, and other documents innemtion therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfadt and agents, and each of them, full poweraarilority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary twhe th connection therewith, as fully to all inteand purposes as the undersigned might or
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirmthgt all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or@them or their respective substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed éydhowing persons in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Signatur Title Date
/sl Keith Murphy Chief Executive Officer and President (Principal June 10, 2014
Keith Murphy Executive Officer)
/sl Barry Michaels Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary June 10, 2014
Barry Michaels (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Robert Baltera, Jr. Director June 10, 2014
Robert Baltera, Ji
/sl James Glover Director June 10, 2014
James Glove
/s/ Tamar Howson Director June 10, 2014
Tamar Howsor
/s/ Richard Heyman Director June 10, 2014

Richard Heymai
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Exhibit No.
2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1

10.2

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganizatioeddas of February 8, 2012, by and among Organaldifgs, Inc
a Delaware corporation, Organovo Acquisition CogpDdelaware corporation and Organovo, Inc., a Dataw
corporation (incorporated by reference from Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8<Kfjlad with the
SEC on February 13, 201

Certificate of Merger as filed with the Delawarec®gary of State effective February 8, 2012 (inooaped by reference
from Exhibit 2.2 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Articles of Merger as filed with the Nevada Secrgiaf State effective December 28, 2011 (incorpextdiy reference
from Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current ReportFarm 8-K, as filed with the Securities and Excha@pmmission
(the*SEC") on February 3, 2012 (ttFebruary 2012 Form-K")

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Dece2®e2011, by and between Real Estate RestoratidiRantal, Inc.
and Organovo Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by rafessfrom Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Répor Form 8K,
as filed with the SEC on January 4, 20

Certificate of Merger as filed with the Delawarec®gary of State effective January 30, 2012 (inooafed by reference
from Exhibit 2.3 to the February 2012 Fori-K)

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Janugrg®L2, by and between Organovo Holdings, Incv@da) and
Organovo Holdings, Inc. (Delaware) (incorporateddference from Exhibit 2.2 to the February 2012k&-K)

Articles of Merger as filed with the Nevada Secrngiaf State effective January 30, 2012 (incorpatdte reference from
Exhibit 2.4 to the February 2012 Forr-K)

Certificate of Incorporation of Organovo Holdingis¢. (Delaware) (incorporated by reference fromiBit8.1 to the
February 2012 Form-K)

Bylaws of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (Delaware) (inporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Fely@®12 Form 8-
K)

Form of Bridge Warrant of Organovo, Inc. (incorpexaby reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Compar@tsrent Report
on Form K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Form of Warrant of Organovo, Inc. issued to formelders of Organovo, Inc. promissory notes (inceoaped by
reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Comp.’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Form of Warrant of Organovo Holdings, Inc. ($1.0@ise price) issued to Placement Agent (incorjedray referenc
from Exhibit 4.2(i) to the Compar's Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on March 19, 20:

Form of Warrant of Organovo Holdings, Inc. ($1.0@ise price) issued to Placement Agent in exchdagOrganovc
Inc. warrant issued to Selling Agent (incorporadbgdeference from Exhibit 4.2(iii) to the CompangZsirrent Report on
Form &K, as filed with the SEC on March 19, 20:

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement between ©xgaitnc. and the Bridge Investors (incorporateddfgrence
from Exhibit 10.1 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Selling Agent Agreement between Organovo, Inc.thedSelling Agent (incorporated by reference froxhikit 10.3 to
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on March 19, 20:
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Exhibit No.

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10+

10.11+

10.12+

10.13+

10.14+

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

Description

Form of Subscription Agreement, by and between @oga Holdings, Inc. and the investors in the offgr{incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s CuriReport on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on Muai®, 2012 Form 8-
K)

Joinder by Organovo Holdings, Inc. to PlacementiegeAgreement (incorporated by reference from EixHib.4(ii) to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on March 19, 20:

Placement Agent Agreement between Organovo, IrtttlamPlacement Agent (incorporated by refererm fExhibit 10.4
(i) to the Comparn's Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on March 19, 20:

Extension to Placement Agent Agreement (incorpdragereference from Exhibit 10.4(iii) to the ComganCurrent Report
on Form K, as filed with the SEC on March 19, 20:

Split-Off Agreement, by and among Organovo Holdjrgs., Organovo Split Corp., Deborah Lovig and @ar@oker
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 to @@mpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filedwiiie SEC on
February 13, 201z

General Release Agreement by and among Organowdirtds| Inc., Organovo Split Corp., Deborah Lovigldames Coker
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 te @ompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filethwihe SEC on
February 13, 201z

Form of Share Cancellation Agreement and Releaserfporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 to@mmpany’s Current
Report on Form-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Offer Letter between Barry D. Michaels and Organdwo. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit Z0td the Company’s
Current Report on Form-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Offer Letter between Sharon Collins Presnell anga@ovo, Inc. (incorporated by reference from ExHii.13 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Organovo, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (incogied by reference from Exhibit 10.14 to the Compm@urrent Report
on Form K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Organovo Holdings, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive P(encorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 te @ompanys Curren
Report on Form-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under the 2B#fjRity Incentive Plan (incorporated by referermoenf Exhibit 10.16
to the Compar’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporatedrbference from Exhibit 10.17 to the Compan@€urrent Report on Fol
8-K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

Scientific Advisory Board Consulting Agreement, ethiis of March 17, 2008, by and between Organovo aind Glenn
Prestwich, Ph.D. (incorporated by reference frorhikix 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on F8¢, as filed with
the SEC on February 13, 201

Scientific Advisory Board Consulting Agreement,ethis of March 17, 2008, by and between Organowo and David
Mooney, Ph.D. (incorporated by reference from EiHib.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Fori, &s filed with
the SEC on February 13, 201

Scientific Advisory Board Consulting Agreement, ethas of April 14, 2008, by and between Organowo, &and Gordana
Vunjak-Novakovic (incorporated by reference fromhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Current Report on F8¢i, as filed
with the SEC on February 13, 20!
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Exhibit No.

10.19+

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

Description

Scientific Advisory Board Consulting Agreement,ethis of June 30, 2008, by and between Organovoair K. Craig
Kent, M.D. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit22 to the Company’s Current Report on Form &<filed with the
SEC on February 13, 201

License Agreement dated as of March 24, 2009, bybatween Organovo, Inc. and the Curators of theddsity of
Missouri, **** (incorporated by reference from ExXtii 10.23 to the Company’s Current Report on Foriy, &s filed with
the SEC on May 11, 201.

License Agreement dated as of March 12, 2010 bybanseen the Company and the University of Missddtk
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.24 te @ompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filethvilie SEC on
May 11, 2012

License Agreement dated as of May 2, 2011, by atadden the Company and Clemson University Resdavahdation,
**** (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.26 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, afilvith the SEC on
May 11, 2012

Executive Employment Agreement, dated Februan2@&2, by and between Keith Murphy and Organovao, Inc
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to @@mpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filedwiiie SEC on March
1, 2012)

Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Grant Netimder the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan. (incorpemtdty reference from
Exhibit 10.1 to the Compa’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on August 9, 20!

Forms of Performance Based Restricted Stock Gratit®&land Performance Based Restricted Stock Umieément under
the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated byrefice from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Curre@p®t on Form 8-K,
as filed with the SEC on August 9, 20:

Form of Executive Incentive Award Agreement under 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by nexfiee from Exhibi
10.3 to the Compar's Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on August 9, 20:

Amendment to 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, dated Ai@1, 2013. (incorporated by reference from ExHibBil to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, as filed with the SEC on August 23, 20:

Equity Distribution Agreement, dated November 2712, between Organovo Holdings, Inc. and JMP StesifiLC.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to @@mpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filedwiiie SEC on
November 27, 201z

First Amendment to Lease, dated December 4, 201&8nt between Organovo, Inc. and ARE-SD Region28pLLC.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to @@mpany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filéith the SEC on
February 6, 2014

Amendment No. 2 to the 2012 Equity Incentive P&ffective as of February 3, 2014. (incorporateddfgrence from
Exhibit 10.3 to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, as filed with the SEC on February 6, 20

Form of Executive Incentive Award Agreement undier 2012 Equity Incentive Plan. (incorporated bgrefice from
Exhibit 10.4 to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, as filed with the SEC on February 6, 20

Forms of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Grant Netnd Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under tHe2 Zxjuity Incentivi
Plan. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1t@.5he Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-(fjled with the SEC
on February 6, 201

Forms of Performance Based Restricted Stock Gratitc®&land Performance Based Restricted Stock Ugrieément under
the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan. (incorporated Hegmence from Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quayt&éport on Form 10-
Q, as filed with the SEC on February 6, 20
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Exhibit No. Description

21.1 Subsidiaries of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (incorpedaby reference from Exhibit 10.25 to the CompaiBusrent Report
on Form K, as filed with the SEC on February 13, 20

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking*

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page logte

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Requirechtler Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Secuiiiehanges Act of
1934, as amended

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Requirechder Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Secutitiehange Act of
1934, as amended

32.1 Certifications Required Under Rule 13a-14(b) of 8eeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,@at8 U.S.C.
Section 1350.

1017 Interactive Data File

* Filed herewitr
+  Designates management contracts and compensagios.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement Nos. 333-192248 and 333-18b82dorms S-8 and in Registration
Statement No. 333-189995 on Form S-3 of our regated June 10, 2014, relating to the consolidateh€ial statements of Organovo
Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary, appearing in thisxAal Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended M&th2014 and for the period from
Inception (April 19, 2007) through March 31, 2014.

/s/ Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
San Diego, California
June 10, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Keith Murphy, Chief Executive Officer and Presid of Organovo Holdings, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fOrganovo Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated findistédements, and other financial information ied in this report, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tregistrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Dated: June 10, 2014 /sl Keith Murphy
Keith Murphy
Chief Executive Officer and Preside
(Principal Executive Officel




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Barry D. Michaels, Chief Financial Officer of @anovo Holdings, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fOrganovo Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated findistédements, and other financial information ied in this report, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designedsuch internal control over financial reporting,caused such internal control over financial reparto be designed under ¢
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tregistrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Dated: June 10, 2014 /s/ Barry D. Michaels

Barry D. Michaels
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fkOpganovo Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for theay ended March 31, 2014, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisstbr (Report”), Keith Murphy, Chief Executive Officand President of the Company, and
Barry D. Michaels, Chief Financial Officer of th@@pany, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.CtiSe 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; that

» The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

« The information in the Report fairly presentsall material respects, the financial conditiomaesults of operations of the
Company.

Date: June 10, 2014

/sl Keith Murphy

Keith Murphy

Chief Executive Officer and President
(principal executive officer

/s Barry D. Michael:
Barry D. Michaels
Chief Financial Officer (principal financial office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to Organovoikigdd Inc. and will be retained by
Organovo Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the S¢imsriand Exchange Commission or its staff uponesgu

This certification accompanies the FormHK@e which it relates, is not deemed filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission, al
not to be incorporated by reference into any filigdrganovo Holdings, Inc. under the Securitie$ #1933, as amended, or the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madeebefafter the date of the Form KJ-irrespective of any general incorporation laage
contained in such filing



